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Agile  
and  Powerful  
into the  
Future



At the end of the 2015 financial  
year we look back on five demanding 
and successful years.

 
In this period, we pressed ahead with 
Siegfried’s transition to become the 
leading contract manu facturer to the 
pharmaceutical industry. We thereby 
laid the groundwork for continued 
profitable growth. Siegfried’s corporate 
strategy is future-oriented, and  
the company will continue to develop 
consistently.  
 
Siegfried’s about 2200 employees 
(FTE) worldwide are dedicated to our  
promise «expect more» and consider  
it a  commitment.

In 2015, Siegfried successfully completed the five-year «Transform» 
strategy project. The special section starting on page 20 of this financial 
report reflects on the milestones of the past five years. Cover illustra-
tion: Adaptation of the TRANSFORM art installation by Brigitte Kowanz 
(2015) commissioned for the reception area in Siegfried’s new head-
quarters in Zofingen. 
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Siegfried transforms 
Milestones of the 
“Transform” strategy 

715 employees as  
of end 2011

696 employees as  
of end 2010

314.4SALES 
CHF million

328.1SALES 
CHF million

28.1EBITDA 
CHF million

36.5EBITDA 
CHF million

Number of employees  
(FTE) per year

 Malta
Inauguration of a new facility for 
the production of high-potency 
finished oral dosage forms (High 
Containment) in Hal far (Malta).

—  Launch of the  
“Transform” strategy

—  New investors  
and capital increase

—  Implementation of the new 
functional organization
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 2012 2013 2014 2015

2238 employees as  
of end 2015

832 employees as  
of end 2012

917 employees as  
of end 2013

1374 employees as  
of end 2014

 Pennsville
Putting into operation of two 
spray dryers in Pennsville (USA)

367.8
374.9

315.3

 Irvine
Acquisition of Alliance Medical 
Products (AMP) in Irvine (USA)

Hameln
Acquisition of Hameln 
 Pharmaceuticals and Hameln RDS  
in Hameln (Germany)

Zofingen 
& Nantong 
Start of construction of a new 
production facility in Zofingen 
(Switzerland) and Nantong (China)

Nantong
Launch of a new  
production site  
in Nantong (China)

Minden 
Evionnaz 
St. Vulbas 
Successful acquisition of the 
production sites Minden  
(Germany), Evionnaz (Switzerland) 
and St. Vulbas (France) 

SALES 
CHF million

480.6
SALES 
CHF million

SALES 
CHF million

45.5EBITDA 
CHF million

77.1EBITDA 
CHF million

58.5
Siegfried is now  
one of the top 
companies in the 
global CMO market. 

65.6EBITDA 
CHF million

Zofingen
Inauguration of a new facility for the 
development of high-potency finished 
oral dosage forms (High Containment) 
in Zofingen (Switzerland).
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The Siegfried Group is a leading supplier in the global 
CMO market with production facilities in Switzerland, the 
USA, Malta, China, Germany, and France. Siegfried 
today employs a workforce of about 2200 employees (FTE) 
at nine sites in six countries. The Siegfried Holding AG, 
headquartered in Zofingen (Switzerland), is listed on the 
Swiss Exchange (SIX:SFZN).  
 
We offer customized solutions for services in the 
 development and production of active pharmaceutical 
ingredients, intermediates, and complex dosage  
forms (including sterile filling) as well as products  
from our portfolio. 
 

Siegfried in a Nutshell

Global website:  
www.siegfried.ch





Progress Report

Siegfried reported net sales of 480.6 million  
for the year under review, the highest in the 
company’s history. Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA) grew  
by 31.1% compared to the previous year, while 
net profit is stated as 39.1 million. Siegfried today 
employs a workforce of 2238 employees (FTE)  
at nine sites on three continents and is a leading 
supplier in the global CMO market.
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Highlights 2015

Implementation of the “Transform” 
Strategy Completed

The acquisition of the BASF’s pharmaceutical 
supply business in 2015 completed the “Trans-
form” strategy. The company now fulfills  
all preconditions for market leadership in all 
targeted market segments. Today, Siegfried 
maintains around 2 200 jobs (full-time) at nine 
sites on three continents.

Highest Sales in Company History

Siegfried achieved sales of CHF 480.6 million, the 
highest sales in the company’s 140-year history.

Above: production facility  
in Minden, Germany. 481mio
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Progress Report 
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Higher Payout to Shareholders

Thanks to the positive results,  
the Board of Directors requests that 
the General Meeting increase the 
payout from CHF 1.50 to CHF 1.80 
which is tax-free in many countries.

Production facility in Nantong, China.

Production Starts in Nantong

The new Nantong production facility in China 
was inaugurated in August 2015; the first 
 commercial production run was successful. 
Various key Siegfried clients have shown  
great interest and already visited the facility 
several times. The market recognizes the 
 importance of a Western supplier with a pro-
duction facility in China. The Nantong site  
allows Siegfried to reduce costs – and improve 
profitability – thanks also to having previously 
externally manufactured precursors and inter-
mediates now done in-house.

Chemical lab in St. Vulbas, France.

New Members Nominated for 
the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors nominates  
Ulla Schmidt (Member of the German 
Bundestag) and Councilor of State, 
Dr. Martin Schmid, for election at the 
General Meeting.

CHF1.80

Production facility in Evionnaz, Switzerland.
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Dear Shareholders 

The 2015 financial year represents a special year 
for Siegfried: the company reports the highest 
sales in its history owing to the integration  
of the companies in Hameln, the contribution  
of the BASF sites acquired at the start of the 
fourth quarter, and the good results in our original 
business. Moreover, in the year under review 
Siegfried successfully completed the “Transform” 
strategy. The company thus possesses all of  
the prerequisites to be a leading supplier in its 
market segments. 

Siegfried reports sales of CHF 480.6 million for the 2015 financial year, a growth of 52.4%  
in CHF, resp. 57,9% in LC. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization 
(EBITDA) grew by CHF 18.3 million, or 33.1%, to CHF 77.1 million, corresponding to an EBITDA 
margin of 16.0%. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) are stated as CHF 43.4 million,  
an increase of 27.6%. Net profit grew moderately by 1.4% to CHF 39.1 million owing to lower 
tax credits and higher interest expenses. 

In 2015, foreign currencies had a negative impact on sales, but none on operating results.  
It is a very gratifying result considering the difficult situation concerning foreign currencies 
following the abolishment of the euro minimum level at the beginning of the year. The result 
was possible only owing to the unchanged high natural hedge.

Siegfried reports operating cash flow for the year under review excluding the change in net 
current assets of CHF 65.0 million (2014: CHF 58.1 million), representing a growth of  
12.0%. Including the change in net current assets, operating cash flow is reported slightly 
lower at CHF 23.1 million (2014: CHF 24.6 million). 

Please find the CEO’s statement of the  
financial year 2015 in a video at 
www.siegfried.ch/ceo-statement-2015-en
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Pennsville
USA

Irvine
USA

Nantong

Zofingen

Saint-Vulbas

Evionnaz

Germany
Minden

France
ChinaHal Far

Malta

Switzerland Switzerland

Hameln
Germany

2238 employees  
at nine sites in  
six countries around 
the world.

Net sales for 2015  
were CHF 480.6 million. 

In 2015, headcount grew to  
2238 full-time employees, a 62.9%  
increase over the previous year.

481mio

Sales grew by 52.4% over the previous year.

52.4%

Siegfried Global

Sales

Net Sales

Employees

Siegfried is one  
of the top  companies 
in the  global  
CMO market.

Siegfried is active at nine sites around the world.
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EBITDA EBITDA

EBITDA for  
2015 grew by 
31.2%.

EBITDA for 2015 was CHF 77.1 million.

77.1
EBIT

Operating income (EBIT) was CHF 43.4 million.

43.4
EBIT

EBIT grew  
by 27.6%.
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Based on these gratifying results, the Board of Directors will recommend to the General 
Meeting a higher payout from the capital contribution reserve of CHF 1.80 (2014: CHF 1.50), 
which is tax-free in many countries. 

Positive Development of the Pipeline and Order Situation

The Siegfried Group’s pipeline grew substantially following the integration of Hameln and 
BASF’s active pharmaceutical ingredients business. Under these circumstances, a comparison 
with previous years will not yield the required result. 

Siegfried has already fully integrated the sales teams of the acquired companies and adjusted 
the management structure of Business Development & Sales to the new circumstances. 

The customer structure and the portfolio of API products of Siegfried and that of the newly 
acquired BASF units are complementary to a large degree, which is of significance with regard 
to the future. The same is true for the geographic focus. Before the acquisition, Siegfried 
reported higher sales in Europe while the sites acquired from BASF enjoyed higher sales in 
the USA. The new constellation, therefore, shows great potential for the company. 

The same applies to the focus of the individual sites. The Minden plant essentially concentrates 
on the production of portfolio products and ideally complements the ranges produced in 
Pennsville and Zofingen. The production of synthetic caffeine in Minden signifies an attractive 
new pillar of the Siegfried Group, and the company is now global market leader in this pro- 
duct. Evionnaz and St. Vulbas, similar to Zofingen, are deeply rooted in exclusive synthesis. Each 
customer relationship in exclusive synthesis embraces a certain patent-protected pharma-
ceutical ingredient developed and industrially produced by Siegfried. Exclusive synthesis remains 
Siegfried‘s most significant business segment. 

The order situation in contract manufacturing is influenced by various parameters. On an 
annual basis, the volume of an order can therefore not be gauged with the necessary precision 
as sales development of the compound in the consumer market is not yet sufficiently known. 
The value of the projects gained in the year under review – without the new sites acquired in 
2015 – and adjusted to risk grew by 25% and thus remains at a high level. Accordingly, the 
number of offers worked on rose distinctly. 

“Transform” Strategy: Main Goal “Critical Size” Achieved 

Siegfried set the course for a successful future by means of implementing the “Transform” 
strategy launched in 2010 and underpinned by a capital increase that year. Today, the company 
is significantly larger, offers a broader range of products and services and, therefore, is  
more robust. It is market leader in the field of exclusive synthesis and controlled substances 
as well as an important supplier in sterile filling and of dossiers used for generic companies, 
inclusive manufacture of solid dosage forms. Siegfried’s USP, the combination of chemical and 
pharmaceutical capabilities, represents a big advantage for customers in their close daily 
cooperation with Siegfried. Our employees therefore enjoy a better insight into the needs of 
our customers.
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The acquisition of BASF’s API business and the three connected sites signifies the last piece  
in implementing the “Transform” strategy: Siegfried has reached necessary critical size, which 
we consider to be clearly in excess of CHF 500 million in sales. The company, therefore, 
continues to play a significant role as a broadly based market player. In 2014, BASF reported 
about EUR 270 million from sales generated by the three sites. 

The three new sites fit extremely well into Siegfried’s production network and are, as men- 
tioned above, complementary to a significant degree in terms of customers and products. 
This now resulted in a closer cooperation with customers that we were unable to work with 
to the desired degree before. We can now present ourselves to them with everything that 
Siegfried offers in the areas of drug substances and drug products and submit additional 
proposals. This will show an additional positive effect. 

It will be important to achieve the targeted synergies with regard to cost in due course.  
We make every possible effort to standardize our global procedures and rapidly eliminate 
redundancies in several central services, such as IT, Administration, and Business Develop-
ment & Sales. In procurement, negotiating power will increase owing to nearly double the 
purchasing volume. In the year under review we have started to implement negotiating 
power in order to achieve better purchasing conditions. 

Other significant strategic projects were also advanced. For instance, the new production 
facility in Nantong (China) was inaugurated in August 2015. Initial commercial product batches 
have been successfully produced. Several important Siegfried customers are showing great 
interest and have visited the site several times. The fact that a Western company is integrating 
backwards to China enjoys positive recognition in the market. Moreover, thanks to Nantong, 
we are in a position to improve our cost item and, therefore, profitability, partly because we 
are now producing precursors and intermediates before procured ourselves. In addition, we 
are shifting price-sensitive products to more cost-efficient capacity in China. 

In Zofingen, Siegfried put into operation a new production plant constructed in vertical flow 
technology in accordance with the latest technology. Its operation will be significantly more 
efficient than the plant it is replacing. In this way, Siegfried makes an active contribution toward 
maintaining industrial jobs in Switzerland. Without this investment, profitable production in 
Zofingen would sooner or later have become economically unviable. 

In August 2015, Siegfried moved to the first of two new office buildings, which was erected 
at the same time as a parking garage in Phase I of the Forum complex. The so-called Building 
150 provides modern office space that facilitates procedures and promotes teamwork and 
cooperation. It replaces Building 141 that began showing age and will be demolished soon. 
Shortly before the end of the year under review, agreements concerning construction of 
Phase II were signed. The additional building will allow Siegfried to secure the space required 
by Group functions following the rapid operational growth of the past years. Office space 
exceeding Siegfried’s requirements will be made available to the other companies in Pharma-
park Siegfried. 

 
Further details concerning our strategy  
are referred to in the special section on page 20.
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Future Strategic Focus 

In the coming years, consolidation in the Custom Manufacturing (CMO) industry will continue 
unabated. This development is supported by the fact that research-based pharmaceutical 
companies are increasingly reluctant to invest in production capacity. To the same degree, 
strategic CMO partners, such as Siegfried, will gain significance. The Board of Directors and 
the Executive Committee are determined to continue playing an active role in these processes. 

Robust Finances

Siegfried’s financial situation is robust, even after the acquisition activity experienced in  
the last two years. While the acquisitions in 2012 and 2014 and the construction in Zofingen  
and Nantong were financed with our own means and with the help of credit lines available 
from a syndicated bond, Siegfried placed two hybrid bonds amounting to CHF 160 million in 
total to finance the acquisition of BASF’s active pharmaceutical ingredients business. 

The one hybrid bond represents a non-transferrable hybrid convertible bond of nominal 
CHF 60 million provided by RAG-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH in Germany, the other one  
a public hybrid bond of CHF 100 million. The public bond generated great interest and was 
rapidly subscribed to. 

Financial stability is not only important to us, but also to our customers and shareholders.  
A certain level of volatility is unavoidable in our industry, and each attractive order can turn 
into a concentration risk. A concentration risk is represented by a dependency on only one 
product or only one customer. The larger the business activity and the number of different pro- 
ducts and customers, the better will risk be diversified in Siegfried’s product portfolio and  

Dr. Rudolf Hanko, Chief Executive Officer Dr. Andreas Casutt, Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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the less volatile the business development. In this sense, the successful implementation of the 
“Transform” strategy decisively affects the company’s financial stability. Today, Siegfried 
would suffer much less from the loss of a large order than would have been the case in 2010. 

Risk Assessment 

The Board of Directors and Executive Committee periodically perform a comprehensive risk 
assessment. The process is based on institutionalized risk management, a risk map and  
the Internal Control System (ICS). In terms of the assessment, the various risks are individually 
analyzed and assessed. Concrete measures subject to modifications and amendments are 
formulated for each risk category. 

In the pharmaceutical industry, the largest risks, without a doubt, are to be expected in  
the field of compliance. Owing to Siegfried’s outstanding compliance track record, which the 
company enjoys for many years, our risks in this regard are small. Other risks that are con-
stantly being assessed and underpinned with concrete measures pertain to customer acquisi-
tion/pipeline and to Human Resources and the long-term agreements with employees. 
Special attention is given to risks connected with integration. Moreover, in the past years and 
at different locations, Siegfried has been strongly committed to cleaning up contaminated 
sites and will continue to do so. 

Human Resources Development and Corporate Culture 

Following the acquisition of the three BASF sites, the number of full-time positions increased 
by 850. Siegfried today provides some 2200 positions (full-time equivalents) at nine sites on 
three continents. 

Owing to the fast staff expansion and within the parameters of post merger integration,  
the Executive Committee gives high priority to the cultural integration of the new sites, 
including Hameln. The Executive Committee and the higher levels of corporate management 
intensively discussed and largely confirmed Siegfried’s corporate values, namely compliance, 
respect, loyalty, credibility, and sustainability. Within the parameters of a Leadership Conven-
tion carried out in November 2015, Siegfried’s Executive Committee met with the company’s 
top management in Zofingen. The Convention explored and verified the corporate values, and 
they will be rolled out in the current year at all sites.

So far, no fundamental cultural differences between the original sites and the new sites have 
been revealed. This is due, on the one hand, to the globalization of custom manufacturing 
and, on the other, to the fact that all newly acquired sites are former family-owned business-
es (Orgamol in Evionnaz and St. Vulbas, Knoll in Minden, and Hameln Pharma in Hameln).

Owing to its increased size, Siegfried today is a clearly more attractive employer because it 
offers a larger number and more varied career opportunities in a global network. In the 
future, we will be even more successful in taking on talented employees and keeping them  
in the company long term. 
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Staff News

Felix K. Meyer declared his withdrawal from the Board of Directors with effect from the 2015 
Annual General Meeting. At the 2016 Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors  
will recommend the election of Ulla Schmidt, Member of the Bundestag, and Martin Schmid, 
Councilor of State. 

Ulla Schmidt has been a member of the German Bundestag since 1990 and its vice-president 
since 2013. She held the position of Federal Minister of Health in Germany from 2001 to 
2009. Ulla Schmidt holds a school teaching degree from the University of Aachen. Prior to her 
election to the Bundestag, Ulla Schmidt served in several public office functions, amongst 
others as city councilor in Aachen. 

Martin Schmid was elected Councilor of State for the Canton of Grisons in 2011. Prior, he 
served as member of the Canton of Grisons government from 2003 to 2011, where he 
directed the Department of Justice, Security, and Health and subsequently the Department  
of Finance. Martin Schmid is an attorney at law and serves on several corporate boards in  
the fields of energy and construction. He graduated from the University of St. Gallen where 
he was awarded a Ph. D. in 2005. 

Membership on the Executive Board remained unchanged in the year under review. 

As mentioned above, RAG-Stiftung Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH in Essen (Germany) sub-
scribed to a hybrid non-transferrable hybrid convertible bond placed by Siegfried Holding AG 
for CHF 60 million used to partly finance the acquisition of essential parts of BASF’s custom 
manufacturing business. The bond authorizes RAG-Stiftung to convert the amount within 
a period of five years into Siegfried Holding AG shares, which represents an investment  
of about 7% in Siegfried. 

We would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to the Board of Directors, the 
Executive Committee and all members of staff of the Siegfried Group at all sites. The year 
under review was characterized by fundamental change, which in one way or another affected 
nearly all employees. We do not take for granted the enormous commitment, flexibility,  
and loyalty we have experienced. We do, however, consider it extremely encouraging for the 
future of our company. 

Outlook

In 2016, Siegfried anticipates an increase in sales of over 40% compared to 2015. In addition, 
the company foresees earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA) 
in the range of CHF 100 million (before integration costs) and net profit to develop positively. 
As a result, the dividend is expected to increase further. 

 
Dr. Andreas Casutt Dr. Rudolf Hanko 
Chairman of the Board of Directors  Chief Executive Officer
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Board of Directors  
and Executive Committee

Dr. Andreas Casutt
Chairman

Dr. Thomas Villiger
Vice-Chairman

Prof. Dr. Wolfram Carius
Member of the Board

Colin Bond
Member of the Board

Reto A. Garzetti
Member of the Board

Please find the detailed profiles of  
the Board of Directors in the 
Corporate Governance chapter,  
page 31 and 32.
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Dr. Rudolf Hanko
Chief Executive Officer

Arnoud Middel
Head Human Resources

Marianne Späne
Head Business Development, 
Marketing & Sales

Dr. Walter Kittl
Head Technical Operations

Michael Hüsler
Chief Financial Officer

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand
Head Strategy and M &A

Dr. René Imwinkelried
Head Research & Development

Please find the detailed profiles  
of the Executive Committee in the 
Corporate Governance chapter,  
page 36 and 37.
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As a result of the “Transform” strategy, Siegfried 
has in the course of the past five years advanced  
to market leader in custom manufacturing (CMO). 
The main strategic goal consists in securing 
 Siegfried’s long-term growth and success.  
 
In the past five years we consistently worked  
at implementing our strategy which focuses on 
four streams: forward integration, backward 
 integration, special technologies, and critical size.  
 
In the meantime we have reached all our goals  
in the designated period of time and laid the 
foundation for continued prosperity. As the leading 
CMO supplier, Siegfried is ready for growth of its 
added value through strategic partnerships with 
significant companies in the pharmaceutical 
industry.



Agile and  
Powerful into 
the Future

The Future Has Begun

Technology

Critical Size

Forward Integration

Backward Integration

Number of worldwide Siegfried production 
sites, growth from 2010 to 2015.

3 9



iegfried launched the “Transform“ strategy in 2010, a year that represents  
a milestone in the history of the Siegfried Group. The strategy’s main goal is to 
secure the company’s long-term future and, especially, to reach critical size with 
annual sales clearly in excess of 500 million Swiss francs. In custom manufacturing, 
a segment in which Siegfried is active, this amount represents a yardstick of 

performance in the long run. Other decisive components are innovative key technologies and 
expedient geographic diversification in Asia, Europe, and North America. At the end of 2015, 
Siegfried successfully completed implementation of the “Transform“ strategy and created the 
preconditions for continued long-term and profitable growth. 

Consistent and Step-by-Step Implementation 

Following its decision five years ago to turn a new page in its corporate history  
by launching the “Transform“ strategy, Siegfried year by year progressed toward 
its successful implementation. In 2015, consistent, deliberately chosen and 
implemented development steps translated into the successful completion of the 
“Transform“ strategy. 

The path toward today’s success involved various steps that have now merged to form a unity. 
The implementation steps in this relatively short period of time resulted in a proud list consisting 
of many concrete measures: the establishment of a unique facility for the production of high- 
potency active pharmaceutical ingredients in Zofingen and an efficient spray dryer in Pennsville 
(USA), the transition to China with a new facility in Nantong, the construction of a new pro- 
duction facility in Zofingen, the acquisition of Alliance Medical products in Irvine (USA), the 
acquisition of Hameln Pharmaceuticals (Germany), and – right at the end – the inclusion of 
BASF production facilities in Germany, France, and Switzerland. Some measures connected with 
the implementation of “Transform“ remain unfinished, mainly concerning the integration  
of the BASF units acquired in 2015 and the careful implementation of new structures and 
operational procedures as the result of fast growth.

Siegfried completed implementation of  
its “Transform“ strategy to a large degree  
in the year under review. As a result,  
the company has in the past five years 
developed into a leading global supplier. 
 Expectations for continued profitable growth 
are therefore high. 

S

Agile and Powerful into the Future



Four Strategic Streams Deduced from “Transform“ 

Equipped with the financial means from a capital increase, Siegfried in 2010 launched  
the “Transform“ strategy consisting of four streams and scored solid implementation success 
in all aspects.

Our first strategic stream, backward integration, focused on chemical production 
with the aim to clearly lower factor costs in order to maintain Siegfried’s competi-
tiveness in the market. The construction of a new production facility in Nantong 
(China) represented the heart of this stream. In order to ensure synergies, the  
new facility in Zofingen was built in an identical technical design.

Siegfried reinforced forward integration as the second strategic stream in the area of finished 
dosage forms. In 2010 we identified sterile filling as an especially attractive business segment. 
Siegfried today commands a very efficient network in this field as the result of two acquisitions: 
Alliance Medical Products in Irvine (USA) in 2012 and Hameln Pharmaceuticals in Hameln 
(Germany) in 2014. 

The third strategic stream aimed at efficiently complementing Siegfried’s 
tech nology in key segments. This includes the facility installed in 2012 for the 
production of high-potency drugs in Zofingen, a production plant for such 
products installed in Malta at the same time, and the putting into operation of  
a high-performance spray dryer in Pennsville (USA).

In terms of the fourth stream, Siegfried aimed at achieving critical size. The decisive contribu-
tion toward achieving this goal was made by the acquisition of three BASF business units  
in 2015. As a result, Siegfried today is a leading supplier in the custom manufacturing market. 

Corporate Culture as a Strategic Factor

In the past five years, Siegfried has grown from a Swiss company with international 
activities to a global corporation. This calls for the constant development of 
Siegfried’s corporate culture in order to achieve long-term effects from implement-
ing the “Transform“ strategy. While people grow accustomed to new structures 
and processes fast, it is more demanding to achieve mutual understanding, trust, 
solidarity, and expectations of the future – not only at individual sites but beyond 
cultural boundaries. In the course of implementing the “Transform“ strategy, 
Siegfried identified these issues as significant. Initial and promising implementation 
measures at management level were carried out in 2015, and they confirmed  
the significance of cultivating corporate culture. Further steps are to follow in the 
years to come.
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The proven Siegfried formula represents the  
integration of chemistry and pharmaceutics in one  
single business model shown in a 360° matrix.

Agile and Powerful into the Future

Exclusive Synthesis 
APIs and Intermediates 
Controlled Substances

Solid Dosage Forms 
Liquid Dosage Forms 

Sterile Filling

Chemical 
production

Chemical
process development

Pharmaceutical 
production

Pharmaceutical
development 

services

Chemistry

Pharmacy



Leading Reinsurer  
for the Pharmaceutical 
Industry 

ased on 140 years of experience and expertise in chemistry and pharmaceutics, 
Siegfried, the globally leading independent custom manufacturing partner,  
is in a position to offer its customers in the pharmaceutical industry active pharma-
ceutical ingredients, intermediates, and various finished dosage forms from  
a single source.

Siegfried‘s proficiency lies in the integration of complementary capabilities along 
the value chain in one single business model. The appeal of this integrated 
approach lies in high value-added depth and efficiency. Customers benefit from 
synergies in quality management and the technical production process, ensur-
ing higher reliability of delivery at lower cost. Siegfried is not in competition with 
its customers but focuses on providing services. 

Similar to a reinsurer, Siegfried takes on development and production risks for its customers, 
and thus it permits them to completely or partly avoid investments in production facilities. 
Moreover, Siegfried is in a position to absorb production bottlenecks and help customers 
guarantee their delivery capacity toward their own customers. A worldwide presence  
with development and production sites in Europe, North America, and Asia ensures highest 
flexibility, best synergies, top quality, and low costs true to Siegfried’s brand promise  
“expect more”. Thanks to its sound balance sheet, Siegfried warrants security and depend-
ability and implements larger investments in the interest of its customers. 

As the worldwide leading outsourcing 
partner in custom manufacturing, Siegfried 
develops and produces active pharmaceutical 
ingredients, intermediates, and finished 
dosage forms for the pharmaceutical industry. 
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Why did Siegfried decide on the  
“Transform” strategy? 
“Transform” was the result of a comprehen-
sive reviewing process. It addressed oppor-
tunities available to Siegfried in the CMO field, 
such as attractive technologies, but also 
weaknesses, like absent backward integration 
and high costs at the Zofingen site, which 
called into question the company’s competi-
tiveness. The strategy, therefore, included 
offensive and defensive elements. 

Which goals did you pursue  
with the strategy?
The aim was to lead Siegfried out of the stra- 
tegic trap in which the company stuck at  
the end of the last decade. Let’s take a brief 
look back: At the time, management had 

restructured the company and considerably 
lowered costs. However, means to reposi-
tion the company were lacking. Following a 
capital increase at the beginning of 2010, all  
of the preconditions were met to implement 
the “Transform” strategy. In addition to the 
goals mentioned above – improved competi-
tiveness and additional attractive technolo-
gies – we aimed at fast yet sustained growth 
to reach critical size, which is so significant  
in this business, and to become market leader 
in the CMO market. 

Have you achieved your goals?
I believe that, essentially, we have reached 
the goals we set ourselves for this phase  
of corporate development, and also within 
the projected time period. 

CEO Rudolf Hanko about the Strategy Implementation

Market Leader  
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What does “critical size” mean, and why  
is it of such significance to Siegfried?
This issue involves two significant aspects:  
On the one hand, it is essential that we have 
available a certain amount of capacity for 
short-term orders. This requires a specific size. 
On the other hand, the same is true for the 
range of products offered. We had to decide 
whether we aimed to increasingly become  
a provider of niche products, or a comprehen-
sive player in the CMO market. We chose  
the second option: our USP is the combination 
of chemical and pharmaceutical capabilities 
and, in order to remain successful in the market 
in the long run, a certain size is necessary. 

Which were the biggest highlights?
It is not easy to define highlights from the 
many aspects that represent implementation. 
Several small intermediate steps were just as 
important for success as were the large ones. 
Three successfully implemented strategic 
projects gave me great satisfaction, namely 
the entry into sterile filling as a new key 
technology; backward integration as the 
basis of an entirely new situation in terms of 
marketing; and, of course, securing critical 
size. Thanks to these aspects it is absolutely 
clear to me that Siegfried will survive as an 
independent company.

Did you have any setbacks –  
and how did you overcome them? 
I do not think that “setbacks” is the right 
word, but we did go through demanding 
phases. I’m thinking of the evaluation of  
our model for backward integration in Asia. 
We reviewed numerous versions, but not  
one was really satisfactory. In the end, we 
decided to set up a production facility in 
China ourselves with the disadvantage of 
not acquiring a going concern. The lively 
customer interest we are experiencing today 
proves that we took the right decision. 

In this period, how has the economy  
developed in your markets? 
The life-science industry is not particularly 
cyclical. That is well-known. In the CMO 
market, the wave of consolidation expected 
for a long time actually gained momentum.  
As early as 2010, our Board of Directors and 
Executive Management decided to play an 
active role in the consolidation phase. Further-
more, within the parameters of restructur-
ing, large pharmaceutical companies showed, 
as expected, increasing interest in outsourc-
ing, and they continue to do so today. This 
development represents good news for all 
participants in the CMO market. 

How did Siegfried adjust to that?
What was decisive was that we regained  
our capacity to act thanks to the positive 
operating cash flows from active business 
and the capital increase implemented in 
2010. Without the necessary financial means 
you cannot take on a decisive role. More-
over, thanks to the connection between 
chemistry and pharma, we developed a USP 
as an integrated supplier. Following several 
restructuring efforts, this clear profile played 
an important role. The fact that other com- 
panies in the CMO market now also focus on 
chemistry and pharma proves that we are  
on the right path. 

When taking stock of the five years  
of implementing the “Transform” strategy,  
what is your evaluation? 
We managed to resuscitate the company 
following a difficult period and make it  
the market leader in our segment. In short, 
“where there is a will, there is a way”.

How did you finance the various acquisitions? 
We financed the first two acquisitions from 
our own means resulting from operational 
cash flow and a capital increase. The acquisi-
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tion of BASF’s CMO business was financed  
by two hybrid bonds, which were very 
positively welcomed by the financial market. 
We consider this a sign of trust. 

Which strategic initiatives powered  
Siegfried‘s organic growth? 
It is important to point out that our growth  
is not only due to acquisitions. Without the 
Swiss franc crisis, for instance, in 2015 we 
would have experienced double-digit growth 
in our original market segment. Investment  
in technologies, such as required for the pro- 
duction of high potency drugs, or a state-of-
the-art spray dryer were essential and position 
us favorably in the market. The new produc-
tion building in Zofingen represents an invest- 
ment in the existing structure. Without this 
investment we today would have had to make 
painful cuts in Zofingen. 

What is the significance to Siegfried  
of technological and product-related  
innovations? 
It is important for Siegfried as market leader 
to offer a broad range of products, also from 
a technological point of view, in contrast to 
niche players of which there are many in our 
market segment. Consequently, we shall 
continue to attach great importance to meet 
as many customer requirements as possible 
ourselves. This includes our declared intention 
to invest in technology or product innovation 
should it be required by the customer. 

Which challenges in terms of market, 
competition, and the general environment  
will Siegfried have to cope with within  
the next five years? 
We are only at the beginning of a consoli-
dation process in our market, and we expect 
the process to continue. 

Consequently, what are your strategic 
priorities and targets?
It is too soon after “Transform” to demon-
strate the full scope of our strategy. We shall 
do so in the course of this year. 

Which next steps can we expect in  
Siegfried’s development? 
Mainly, we are currently busy with the post 
merger integration of our new sites. It should 
be remembered that in the past 18 months 
Siegfried practically doubled in size. 

What are you doing in terms of cultural 
integration? 
That is an important aspect of any integra-
tion activity. Siegfried has changed from  
a Swiss company with global activities to a 
global company headquartered in Switzer-
land. We are working very hard at bringing 
together our sites, also from a cultural point  
of view, and to make visible and utilizable the 
opportunities inherent in the new globalism. 
For our young management staff, especially, 
the BASF transaction provides entirely new 
possibilities concerning personal development 
and career opportunities. 

What are your expectations concerning 
management and employees in the future?
The past two to three years at Siegfried were 
characterized by impressive and ongoing 
change, and I feel that the company’s manage-
ment and the entire staff have shown  
high resilience and a level of loyalty which 
impressed me tremendously and fills me  
with great respect. It also shows that Siegfried  
is in a position to remain strategically active.

CEO Rudolf Hanko about the Strategy Implementation



Cost-Efficient 
API Production 
of the Highest 
Quality

Number of employees (FTE) in Nantong at the time  
of construction start in 2013 and on December 31, 2015.
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A Presence  
in China Is Vital
Backward integration to China focuses on 
the chemical production of active pharma-
ceutical ingredients and intermediates with 
the aim to significantly lower factor costs  
in order to keep Siegfried competitive in this 
segment.

Backward Integration

S iegfried not only offers a wide range of finished dosage forms but also develops 
and produces active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates. Within the 
parameters of backward integration, we invest specifically in our chemical develop-
ment and production capacity. During implementation of the „Transform“ 
strategy, we significantly invested in the early part of our value chain. As a result, 

we substantially increased efficiency and competitiveness. Our focus regarding strategy 
implementation was on the construction of a modern production facility, which was put into 
operation in 2015 in a new industrial park in Nantong, near Shanghai. 

Nantong makes Siegfried an even more attractive partner for the entire life  
cycle of a drug or active pharmaceutical ingredient during the patent-protected 
phase and the subsequent period. The  strategic significance of our site in China  
is characterized by its attractive cost structure in combination with the high level 
of our compliance and quality standards. Nantong provides work for some 
160 staff members. The facility conforms completely to cGMP and the latest SHE 
standards. In order to facilitate product transfers from and to Nantong, the  
new production plant in Zofingen (Building 425) was designed to meet identical 
technical standards, providing a high level of flexibility concerning production 
capacity. 

Today, at the end of the “Transform“ strategy, Siegfried‘s network of chemical development 
and production comprises sites in Europe, North America, and Asia with different capa-
bilities and capacities in order to provide our customers with the highest level of synergies. 
Siegfried Nantong, in addition to the BASF units acquired in 2015, is one of the company’s 
youngest production sites.



 

Nantong 

Shanghai / China
Start of operation: 2015 
With Siegfried since: 2013 
Production capacity: 350 m3  
Number of FTE: 163

Competencies:

Intermediates 
and APIs

Nantong is our cGMP manufacturing site  
in China supplying all Western countries  
and China. The service includes R&D, pilot,  
clinical trial and commercial APIs.
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Please find the detailed profile  
of Walter Kittl in the Corporate 
Governance chapter, page 37. 

3 Questions to: 
 Walter Kittl,  
 Head Technical  

  Operations

1 Which were the biggest  
challenges concerning  
the expansion to China?

As we did not have a production facility in  
China at the time we decided to build a plant in 
 Nantong, we were unable to fall back on local 
assistance. The investment did not only exist in 
one single building, but in an integrated facil-
ity comprising many parts. In China, production 
facilities are usually built for one product only; 
Siegfried Nantong, however, is a highly flexible 
multi-purpose plant. I must add that we were 
challenged by the drawn-out approval procedures. 
We mastered these challenges by investing in  
one of the best chemical parks in China. The park 
management supported us to obtain all the ap- 
provals we required, and it ensured smooth con- 
nections to the energy systems. With the help  
of Zofingen, we were able to prepare the local site 
management to work in accordance with our 
requirements. 

2How would you define future 
added value obtained from  
our investment in Nantong? 

Many of our customers reacted very positively to 
the potential of producing raw materials, inter-
mediates, and APIs in China. Nantong helps them 

to cost-efficiently produce new APIs and those  
at the end of their life-cycle without having to 
make concessions concerning quality and security. 
Furthermore, drug companies can obtain new  
APIs developed in China from clinical tests through 
to market introduction from the same source, 
which in turn reduces complexity and speeds up 
approval procedures. 

3 How has Siegfried been able  
to use the new production site  
in Nantong so far? 

In the meantime, we have developed several new 
procedures for development and pilot plants, and 
raw material is already being produced there for 
API production in Zofingen. Moreover, the first API 
batch produced in Zofingen has been validated  
in Nantong. The new site draws great interest, and 
many of our existing customers, as well as  
new ones, have paid a visit to Nantong. They are 
enthusiastic about our local management, the 
competence of our employees, and the technical 
possibilities. Initial customer audits have con-
firmed the high GMP and HSE standards. We have 
orders on hand for the validation of new active 
pharmaceutical ingredients and the assurance of 
other customers to choose Nantong in the future  
as a real alternative. 

Backward Integration



Market value of Siegfried’s registered stock 
2010 and 2015 (all-time high).

90.5
2010

2015

206.2

Sterile Filling as  
a Door Opener  
for New Customer  
Relationships
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Reinforcement in the Field 
of Finished Dosage Forms

s an integrated supplier to the pharmaceutical industry, Siegfried produces not  
only active pharmaceutical ingredients, but also offers a broad range in the 
development of galenic formulations and the production of finished dosage forms. 
This unique capability provides many advantages to Siegfried‘s customers in  
terms of quality assurance, production cost, and process efficiency. Consequently, 

investments in the area of forward integration enjoy a high strategic significance. During  
the implementation phase of the “Transform“ strategy, Siegfried implemented significant 
enhancements aimed at increasing competitiveness and raising the company’s profitability. 
Following the acquisition of Alliance Medical Product in Irvine (USA) in 2012 and Hameln 
Pharmaceuticals in Hameln (Germany) in 2014, Siegfried now commands a highly capable 
network that supplements the existing production site for solid dosage forms in Malta with 
sterile filling.

Sterile Filling with a Promising Future 

Owing to its great appeal, the sterile filling segment enjoys high strategic sig-
nificance for Siegfried. It offers outstanding opportunities for differentiation  
and, therefore, for obtaining good margins, not only from a technological point  
of view, but also owing to the high demands on quality. Thanks to many years  
of experience and its positioning as an integrated supplier, Siegfried is increasingly 
in a position to take advantage of this value driver, and deeper added value is 
therefore consistent. Siegfried’s acquisition of Alliance Medical products in 2012 
represented a first step in terms of forward integration, and the acquisition  
of Hameln Pharmaceuticals in 2014 complemented our presence. Siegfried now 
commands two promising pillars in this future-oriented segment in the two  
most important markets, Europe and the USA. This makes us a leading supplier  
of sterile dosage forms.

Siegfried strengthened its position in  
the  development and production of finished 
dosage forms by means of targeted 
 measures in the field of forward integration. 
The business segment of sterile filling is 
 especially attractive.

A

Forward Integration



Irvine

California / USA 
Start of operation: 2002 
With Siegfried since: 2012 
Production capacity:  
5 automated filling lines
Number of FTE: 87

Irvine is one of our sterile drug product 
 manufacturing sites, providing contract 
 development, tech transfer, and manu- 
facturing services specializing in difficult- 
to-manufacture pharmaceuticals,  
ophthalmics, and drug delivery systems.

Competencies:

Sterile and 
aseptic filling
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Hameln is our high volume sterile filled and terminally sterilized  
vial and ampoule drug product manufacturing site, providing  
tech transfer and manufacturing services, including controlled  
substance filling. In addition to our manufacturing services,  
our Hameln facility offers liquid drug product contract develop- 
ment and regulatory services ranging from injectable to  
topical formulations.

Hameln

Niedersachsen / Germany 
Start of operation: 1950 
With Siegfried since: 2014 
Production capacity:  
8 sterile filling lines, 4 lines  
for ampoules and vials covering  
format sizes from 1 mL to 100 mL 
Number of FTE: 416

Forward Integration

Competencies:

Sterile and 
aseptic filling



AMP, Portal of Entry to Sterile Filling 

By acquiring Alliance Medical Products, Siegfried gained a foothold in the high-value sterile 
and aseptic service market. Moreover, the acquisition represents an entrance to the  
North-American market. AMP focuses on ampoules, vials, and syringes, produces emulsions, 
ointments, and gels and is specialized in demanding application devices. The acquisition  
of the Californian subsidiary confirms Siegfried’s positioning as an integrated development 
and production partner to the pharmaceutical industry. 

Hameln, a Custom-Fit Strategic Enhancement 

By means of acquiring Hameln Pharmaceuticals in 2014, Siegfried implemented  
the second step of forward integration as defined by the “Transform“ strategy. As 
one of the largest European suppliers, Hameln Pharmaceuticals fills sterile liquid 
pharmaceutical products, mainly vials and ampoules. Employees in Hameln provide 
a wide range of services along the pharmaceutical value chain, such as product 
development, laboratory services, and clinical studies, a comprehensive approval 
service and the supply of active pharmaceutical ingredients and finished dosage 
forms. One of the company’s focuses is on the development and production of 
analgesics and hospital products – competences that significantly round out 
Siegfried’s range. 

A state-of-the-art sterile facility was put into service in Hameln in 2008, which only 
one year later was bestowed the renowned “Facility of the Year Award”. As the 
Hameln site with its approximately 400 full-time positions and 8 production lines is 
considerably larger than the plant in Irvine, the acquisition remarkably increased 
Siegfried’s capacity to cope with demanding, large orders. 

The strategic acquisition of the Hameln facility represents a further stepping stone 
in positioning Siegfried as an integrated supplier of active pharmaceutical 
 ingredients and finished dosage forms. Customers all over the world will therefore 
obtain products from a single source at the highest standards of quality. Other 
advantages are a simplified supply chain and lower costs. The Hameln acquisition 
has made a valuable earnings contribution in the year under review.
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Please find the detailed profile  
of Marianne Späne in the 
Corporate Governance chapter, 
page 37. 

3 Questions to:  
 Marianne Späne,  
 Head Business  

  Development  
  & Sales

Forward Integration

* Custom Development and Manufacturing

1 How does forward integration 
change the awareness  
of Siegfried in the market?

The CDMO* market is fragmented, highly con- 
tested, and constantly in the process of consolida-
tion. By strengthening our production of finished 
dosage forms in addition to the acquisition in API 
production Siegfried has become the leading 
integrated full-range supplier of services required 
along our customers’ entire value chain. “expect 
more” is not just a promise, it is reality. Owing to 
our expertise in both chemistry and pharmaceutics,  
we are in a position to offer bridging technologies, 
such as spray drying and micronizing. A growing 
number of companies consider this comprehensive 
service to be the key to enter into or expand a 
strategic partnership. 

2Did Siegfried gain additional 
customers from the acquisitions  
of Irvine and Hameln?

Yes, customers with needs in the sterile filling 
segment, which we were unable to supply before. 
Today, in the field of finished dosage forms, we 
are in a position to offer a complete package that 
doesn’t consist only of oral dosage forms but 
includes parenterals such as injections, infusions, 
and implantations, if necessary in large volumes 
produced in Hameln. 

3How would you describe the 
future development in the field  
of drug production? 

I expect to see more strategic partnerships between 
pharmaceutical companies and custom manufac-
turers. Today, price is no longer the only criterion; 
customer focus is on such aspects as continuity  
of supply and quality, and on the sustainability of 
the services offered. Furthermore, we are recog-
nizing continued individualization in medicine with 
applications tailored to individual patients. Our 
range covers various dosage forms, and we can 
satisfy both the large-volume and the individu-
alized demand for drugs. We produce parenterals 
in Irvine and Hameln, in small and large volumes, 
and oral dosage forms in Malta. We supply our 
customers with tailor-made solutions, which is of 
growing importance when deciding on an out- 
sourcing partner. 



Technology and 
Innovation as  
Pivotal Factors  
of Success 

Drying gas in cubic meters per hour.  
 Expansion of the pharmaceutical spray drying offer during “Transform” 
 Spray drying capacity available prior to “Transform”
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Zofingen is our hub and head-quartered   
manufacturing site exemplifying Swiss quality  
to our global customers. The site contributes  
to the community by not only being a good  
employer but by also investing in the education  
of 35 apprentices.

Zofingen

Aargau / Switzerland 
Start of operation: 1873 
With Siegfried since: 1873 
Production capacity: 350 m3

Number of FTE: 485

Competencies:

APIs,  
inter mediates, 
finished oral 
dosage forms, 
and controlled 
 substances

Technology



Technological Innovation  
as a Value Driver
As an integrated quality supplier, Siegfried 
builds on technological innovation in  
order to offer its customers a high level of 
added value. Through the implementation  
of “Transform“, further areas of success were 
identified in this field. 

T he Siegfried Group‘s proficiency lies in integrating complementary capabilities 
along the value chain in one single business model. The appeal of this integrated 
approach is in high value-added depth and efficiency. Customers benefit from 
synergies in quality management and in technical production processes. At Siegfried, 
continuing technological innovation represents one of the keys to lastingly 
provide peak performance.

State-of-the-Art, Efficient Spray Dryer

In 2014, Siegfried put into operation a further high-performance spray dryer at  
its Pennsville (USA) site. This technology is very popular with our customers.  
The expansion of spray drying capacity represents a milestone, not only for our 
Pennsville site, but for the entire Siegfried organization. Thanks to the added 
capacity, Siegfried now belongs to the small circle of suppliers that conform to 
cGMP and offer spray drying across the entire range from pilot through to 
commercial production. Thanks to the ability to perform spray drying at produc-
tion scale, Siegfried has expanded its integrated offer to combine ingredient 
synthesis and the devel opment of finished dosage forms. As early as the year of 
introduction, Siegfried received six new orders in this field, three of them from 
new customers. 

High Tech for High-Potency APIs and Finished Dosage Forms

In 2012, we inaugurated the new facility in Zofingen for the development of high-potency  
APIs. The plant permits us to develop both high-potency active pharmaceutical ingredients 
and finished dosage forms for this segment. These modern drugs do not only increase 
efficiency but also limit undesirable side effects on the patient side. This makes Siegfried 
unique in the supplier market to the worldwide pharmaceutical industry. The market for 
high-potency drugs has been growing in the past five years. Large-scale production of  high- 
potency finished dosage forms is carried out in our own production facility in Malta. 

The Future Has Begun
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Technology

Basic Sceme of a Spray Dryer

Spray drying transforms a product from a liquid  
to a solid state in one single step. It replaces  
up to three unit operations, namely crystallization, 
drying and milling. Spray drying is therefore 
especially suitable to isolate and dry APIs that  
are thermo-labile or hard to crystallize, such  
as biomolecules or large molecules with complex 
structures. However, there’s more to spray dry- 
ing than just drying: spray drying in coordination 
with excipients, such as polymers, improves the 
bioavailability of a drug, and it makes available to 
patients active pharmaceutical ingredients that 
they previously were unable to benefit from. More- 
over, in spray drying, particles are influenced in 
such a way as to meet the quality requirements for 
advanced dosage forms. This future-oriented 
bridging technology puts Siegfried in a position to 
continue expanding its integrated offer of active 

pharmaceutical ingredients and the development 
and production of finished dosage forms. Today, 
in the field of spray drying, Siegfried covers the 
entire range from laboratory to pilot and commer-
cial production featuring a production facility 
counting to the worldwide largest spray dryers.  

Pilot and commercial production plants are  
run in the USA in a clean room and under 100% 
cGMP conditions. They accommodate both 
 chemical and pharmaceutical processes. A closed 
circuit under nitrogen atmosphere permits 
especially the application of flammable solvents. 
The production facilities are complemented  
by a laboratory dryer at our research location in 
Zofingen, securing the support of combined 
chemical and pharmaceutical development activ- 
ities at all Siegfried sites. 

* Atomizing to small droplets for spray drying:  
 – Gas / liquid two fluid nozzle   
 – high-pressure nozzle

Polish filter

Drying Gas (N2)

Heater

Condenser

Dry 
Product
“Fines”

Dry 
Product

Pump

Feed

Drying  
chamber*

Cyclone Filter tower



Pennsville

New Jersey / USA 
Start of operation: 1928 (Carlstadt),  
1970 (Pennsville) 
With Siegfried since: 1928 
Production capacity: 200 m3

Number of FTE: 178

Competencies:

APIs,  
intermediates, 
 and controlled 
substances
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Pennsville is our drug substance manu- 
facturing site for the US market and provides 
spray drying operations globally.

Siegfried’s PSD4 pharmaceutical 
spray dryer is one of the largest 
worldwide and is operated under 
cGMP conditions. The PSD4 
extends across several floors at 
the Pennsville, USA, production 
facility and requires 1250 m3 of 
drying gas (N2) per hour. 



Hier steht ein Einleitungstext in den Strategieteil, 
der die drei Streams benennt. Quam vel ium 
faccabo reribea tisque velicium eictaquam, odi 
acepe volupturias quiaecte molupit exeraep erfer-
ferumet volupta voluptatur magniet hicid molor 
modi res mo consernam quidunt audipsam la.

Tem reperatiisim et liae esserorest, qui nam qui as 
paribust, volor aut exerum facestio cus, vel imaxi-
molor audae dit, tem rem inus, tem que nus, 
simus. Rumquos aut labo. Et pero dolorio rehendi 
officil in cupid molo optate lam nis doluptate pore 
nullor as aut ressimo ipsa sapicabo. Et dollatiam 
custi de peri ra venitat umquis expeles eos sit, 
volorro iusandia sum liquis everior.

Malta is our oral solid dosage drug product 
manufacturing site, with a dedicated high 
potency manufacturing area, providing contract 
services from bulk manufacturing through  
full packaged products.

Hal Far

Malta 
Start of operation: 2007 
With Siegfried since: 2007 
Production capacity: 7 GMP suites, 
segregated cGMP production areas  
for high potency 
Number of FTE: 123 

Technology

Competencies:

Finished  
oral dosage 
forms



Simple Definition  
of Terms

Sterile Filling

Aseptic (sterile) production of drugs is one of  
the most demanding methods in the production 
of pharmaceuticals. The aim of production  
under aseptic conditions is to preserve the sterility 
of a preparation made up of sterile components. 
The aseptic production process makes the highest 
demands on production area, air quality, staff, 
chemical precursors, and surface areas.

API

API (Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient) refers  
to a substance or substance combination used in 
manufacturing a drug product. API also refers  
to the active or central ingredient in the product 
which causes the direct effect on the disease 
diagnosis, prevention, treatment, or cure. API 
manufacturing, storage, and packaging is  
subject to current Good Manufacturing Process 
(cGMP) regulations.

As an integrated supplier to the pharmaceutical 
industry Siegfried is active in the chemical produc-
tion of active pharmaceutical ingredients and 
intermediates as well as in the development and 
production of various finished dosage forms. 
Naturally, this complex business model combines 
numerous products, applications, and technolo-
gies. The following list defines the most important 
products referred to in this annual report. 

Intermediate

An intermediate is a substance created in the 
course of a multistage chemical reaction. An inter- 
mediate is not a final product, but an intermediate 
stage. It is understood to be the product of the 
preceding reaction and the starting material of the 
subsequent stage. 

Controlled Substance 

Controlled substances are generally drugs or 
chemicals whose manufacture, possession, or use  
is regulated by international conventions and 
national laws of the signatory states. The overall 
goal is to allow its medical and scientific use, 
reduce and prevent abuse and illicit trade. Their 
main applications are the treatment of moder-
ate to severe pain and addiction. In a medical con- 
text, one typically refers to them as narcotics.

Orale Dosage Forms

Oral dosage forms are drugs taken via the 
patient's mouth. They include tablets, capsules, 
liquids, and pastes.

The Future Has Begun

Critical Size



Technology

Please find the detailed profile  
of René Imwinkelried in the 
Corporate Governance chapter, 
page 36.1 What is the significance of research 

and development in the CMO 
market and, specifically, for Siegfried?

In our industry, research & development is especially 
significant particularly with regard to renewing and 
expanding the product portfolio. We constantly 
adjust to the market situation; the product portfolio 
is subject to steady change and is renewed on an 
ongoing basis. This is impossible without a strong 
R & D organization in the company. Our customers 
wish to work with a partner that helps them bring  
to market their own products faster and more cost- 
efficiently. Today, Siegfried offers a broad range, 
both in terms of production and R & D. Our process 
development capabilities are synchronized with 
our global production sites. We consider research 
& development and production to be a single  
unit with shared objectives. This, however, is no 
longer sufficient. Our scientific expertise comprises 
laboratory development and the industrialization 
of processes to produce APIs and finished dosage 
forms including sterile liquid dosage forms. We 
cooperate very closely with our customers to achieve 
their individual development projects. 

2  What is Siegfried’s  
technological  
focus?

Siegfried’s technological focus is on the breadth  
of the solutions we offer our customers. Today, we 
are in a position to offer nearly the entire breadth 
of technologies in the field of chemically produced 
APIs. Thanks to the acquisition of the sites in Hameln 
in 2014 and the three BASF sites in 2015 we were 
able to strengthen our process R&D in terms of 
technology. This is true especially for low-tempera- 
ture reactions, enzyme-catalyzed reactions, and 
sterile formulations. Our process development work 

increasingly aims at understanding the rel evant 
process parameters. To achieve this, we have in- 
vested in various latest generation devices. With 
the additional help of new process-analytical tools 
(PAT) we are able, at the laboratory level, to gather 
and evaluate increasingly relevant process data  
and thereby ensure that the developed production 
processes will function on an industrial scale at 
first go. As Siegfried is one of the few suppliers that 
offer both APIs and finished dosage forms, one of 
our strengths is so-called particle technology which 
enables us to produce APIs dimensionally accurate 
in the chosen solid state (size and state of the in- 
dividual API crystals). This is a scientifically very 
demanding task and reflects the good cooperation 
of our chemistry and formulation experts. 

 

3  Which major innovation  
do you expect  
for the future?

I expect innovation in the field of analytical tech- 
nologies, which will give us a much better under- 
standing of chemical processes. This will result  
in faster process development and fewer quality 
problems connected with industrial scale. Con-
cerning solid drugs, the often unsatisfactory solubil- 
ity and connected insufficient bioavailability of 
new APIs represents a big challenge. Innovative 
solutions are under way at various companies. We 
also run projects in this field in cooperation with 
external companies and universities. And in particle 
technology we can fall back on our internal exper- 
tise. I expect innovation not only in terms of tech- 
nology, but increasingly in business procedures 
and in our cooperation with customers.

3 Questions to: 
 René Imwinkelried, 
 Head Research  

  & Development



Critical Size as  
Precondition for  
a Comprehensive 
Market Offer

Net sales CHF million as  
at 31.12.2010 and 31.12.2015.

The Future Has Begun

Critical Size

2010

314.4

2015

480.6



Critical Size

Competencies:

APIs, custom 
synthesis, 
 intermediates, 
and controlled 
 substancesMinden is our new manufacturing site with special 

know-how in different APIs, providing flexible 
production structures with world scale plants and 
streamlined multi-purpose production facilities  
for high throughput. All processes are according  
to cGMP guidelines.

Minden

Nordrhein-Westfalen / Germany 
Start of operation: 1935 
With Siegfried since: 2015 
Production capacity: 1458 m3  
Number of FTE: 333



The New Siegfried

ocused and acquisition-based reinforcement represented a central element of the 
“Transform“ strategy. In a strongly fragmented yet increasingly consolidating  
CMO market, it is essential that an integrated supplier such as Siegfried possesses 
critical size to ensure continued success in the future. We consider this critical  
size to represent annual sales in excess of 500 million Swiss francs. It permits the 

best possible economic utilization of production facilities and short-term availability of pro- 
duction capacity for new orders, which serve as the basis for continued profitable growth. 
This, in turn, is the challenge that dominates the near future. 

The acquisitions made in 2012 and 2014, namely Alliance Medical Products and Hameln 
Pharmaceuticals – both active in sterile filling – put Siegfried in an excellent position in view  
of its strategic goals. The decisive step was taken in fall 2015 with the acquisition of BASF’s 
contract manufacturing and supply business with active pharmaceutical ingredients at the 
three sites in Minden (Germany), Evionnaz (Switzerland), and St. Vulbas (France). Through this 
strategically tailored growth, Siegfried’s workforce grew by approximately 800 employees 
and annual sales increased by 280 million Swiss francs. The company now enjoys the targeted 
size required to play a leading role as a broadly diversified participant in the global supply 
market in the pharmaceutical industry. Integration of the BASF units will be completed end  
of 2016.

Thanks to implementing the “Transform“ 
strategy, Siegfried developed into a leading 
company in the global industry. Siegfried 
took the last step toward reaching necessary 
critical size in the year under review by 
acquiring three BASF units.

F

By means of critical size, the best possible economic 
balance between utilization of production facilities and 
availability of capacity for new orders can be obtained. 
The main goal of the strategy is to achieve annual sales 
in excess of 500 million Swiss francs and to secure 
Siegfried’s long-term future. 

The Future Has Begun



Critical Size

St. Vulbas is our new French production site  
with a wide portfolio of technologies like  
cryo or phosgene reactions and state-of-the  
art plants to produce different APIs. 

Competencies:

APIs and 
 intermediates

St.Vulbas

Département Ain / France 
Start of operation: 1994 
With Siegfried since: 2015 
Production capacity: 141 m3  
Number of FTE: 132
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Evionnaz is our new chemical develop- 
ment and chemical production site capable  
of producing from grams to multi-tons  
of intermediates and active pharmaceutical 
ingredients (APIs) for our customers. 

Competencies:

APIs and 
 intermediates

Evionnaz 

Valais / Switzerland 
Start of operation: 1952 
With Siegfried since: 2015 
Production capacity: 315 m3  
Number of FTE: 321



Critical Size

3 Questions to: 
 Michael Hüsler,  
 Chief Financial  

  Officer

1 What influence  
does critical size have  
on profitability?

In the CMO industry it is essential that a company  
is in a position to provide free capacity. When acquir- 
ing a new customer order, time is often of the 
essence because the customer expects his order to 
be delivered promptly. This is connected with costs 
that a CMO company can afford to carry only once it 
has reached a certain size. Today, Siegfried enjoys 
this necessary critical size owing to the acquisition of 
BASF’s API and custom manufacturing business.  
In this way Siegfried has obtained access to additional 
interesting customer orders, which in the medium 
term will show a positive impact on operating profit 
and profitability. Another aspect is that a company 
of the new Siegfried’s size enjoys more awareness 
among customers than smaller market participants. 
This will also have a positive effect on business 
development. 

2How were the  
recent acquisitions  
financed?

In past years, Siegfried reported strong operating 
cash flow which, however, was insufficient to finance 
the various acquisitions and expansion measures 
taken. Once the original credit facility of 150 million 
in 2013 was increased to 250 million, we completely 
reconfigured the financing of the BASF acquisition. 
We arranged a credit line of 400 million francs  
with two Swiss banks, which covered the existing 
financial requirements and the purchasing price.  
In a second step, we placed a public hybrid bond of 
100 million francs and a private hybrid convertible 
bond of 60 million francs with RAG-Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft mbH. The contribution from the two 
hybrid bonds amounting to 160 million francs was 
used to partly repay the new credit facility. The 
remaining credit facility of 240 million francs was 
provided by a consortium of Swiss banks. 

3How did the financial  
markets react to  
this development?

The financial markets received the strategic  
focus and the consistent implementation of the 
“Transform” strategy very well. The price of 
Siegfried stock rose by a factor of 2.5 since the 
launch of the “Transform” strategy. The last  
and largest step concerning strategy implementa-
tion, namely the acquisition of BASF’s API and  
CMO business, was rated very positively. We suc- 
cessfully presented to investors and analysts the 
significance of this step to Siegfried‘s continued 
development. Now, we aim to rapidly introduce  
the planned integration measures and achieve the 
expected synergy effects. 

The 2015 financial results consolidated only one 
quarter of BASF’s annual API and CMO busi- 
ness acquired by Siegfried with effect from end 
 September 2015. For the first time in company 
history do annual sales, namely 480 million francs, 
exceed the 400 million francs threshold. Siegfried’s 
2016 financial statement will consolidate a full  
year of the acquired units’ business, and Siegfried’s 
new size will then be recognized in its financial 
results.

Please find the detailed profile  
of Michael Hüsler in the Corporate 
Governance chapter, page 36. 



The Future  
Has Begun:  
Market, Goals  
and Outlook 

The number of our employees more  
than tripled since 2010. 

2238
696

The Future Has Begun
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The Future Has Begun

Nine Sites  
in Six Countries:  
Well Positioned
In the five years of implementing the 
“Transform” strategy, the number of 
Siegfried sites worldwide has grown from 
three to nine. Today, we operate in six 
countries on three continents and offer a 
global network covering many areas of 
chemical and pharmaceutical development 
and production. 

Caption:

  APIs 
  Drug Substance Intermediates 
  Controlled substances 
  Oral dosage forms 
  Sterile and aseptic filling
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Corporate  
Culture as a Strategic 
Dimension

n the past five years Siegfried has grown from a Swiss company with international 
activities to a global company with nine production sites in Europe, North America, 
and Asia. This calls for the continuous development of corporate culture to create  
a future that does justice to the daily demands made by the new, far larger and 
more global conditions. Our task is to integrate values such as mutual understanding, 

trust and solidarity at all Siegfried sites, and thus beyond cultural boundaries, in order to 
generate shared ambitions and perspectives. 

A significant part of the work connected with cultivating corporate culture is 
performed by the post merger integration team that has been active since October 
2015. Initial and promising implementation measures at management level have 
been carried out in the year under review within the parameters of a Leadership 
Convention attended by the members of senior management of all sites. The 
significance of continuing attention given to corporate culture was recognized and 
confirmed by all participants. Priority was assigned to the close integration – also 
on a personal level – of those Siegfried sites with a long shared history with the four 
units in Europe that joined the Siegfried Group in 2014 and 2015 and the new 
production facility in Nantong. On the day after conclusion of transaction at the 
beginning of October 2015, Siegfried CEO Rudolf Hanko pointed the way by 
paying inaugural visits to the three sites acquired from BASF, and further steps will 
follow in the months and years to come.

Success of strategy implementation depends, not 
least, on how consistent and credible corporate 
culture is being put into practice at all levels. This 
is true, especially, for the Siegfried Group with  
its strong growth by acquisition. 

I

The Future Has Begun

Siegfried employs a workforce of about  
2200 employees at nine sites in six countries.

Around one quarter of all employees  
are women. 

2.2thsd 25.7%



Please find the detailed profile  
of Arnoud Middel in the Corporate 
Governance chapter, page 37. 

1 How is Siegfried’s corporate  
culture changing as a result of  
the additional sites?

Despite growth to three times our size with regard  
to the number of sites and employees, we aim to 
uphold the attributes and success factors we cultivated 
before the recent acquisitions. I consider these factors  
to be customer orientation, flexibility, entrepreneurship, 
and dynamics. At the same time, we are implement-
ing the necessary structures required by a company  
of our new size. Following the acquisition of BASF’s 
active pharmaceutical ingredients business, Siegfried is 
changing from a Swiss company with international 
activities to a global organization headquartered in 
Switzerland. In addition to greater language diver-
sity, the global orientation will change the thinking 
and acting of everyone in the company. 

2   
What does Siegfried  
do to promote integration? 

As early as one month following closing of the 
 acquisitions, senior management members of all sites 
participated in a two-day leadership convention.  
This was the framework in which we jointly discussed 
our corporate values and leadership principles. We 
defined the priorities that will be put into practice in 
2016 at all sites. 

3How do the employees  
feel about the  
changed situation?

The tenor at all sites is positive. At a closer look, 
however, we recognize distinctions connected with 
various changes resulting from the acquisitions.  
There are many questions concerning the ongoing 
integration at the new sites and in Zofingen, which  
is understandable, but can also generate insecurity.  
Yet, in this regard there is strong faith that we can 
jointly accomplish much and reach a positive result. 
And at the sites that are not directly affected, the 
acquisitions are looked upon positively. The resonance 
that I get from all over is that Siegfried is on track and  
has catapulted itself to the top of the CMO industry.

3 Questions to: 
 Arnoud Middel, 
 Head Human  

  Resources Global
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3 Questions to: 
 Wolfgang Wienand,  
 Head Strategy and  

  Mergers & Acquisitions

1These days one frequently hears that 
Siegfried has reached “critical size”. 
What does that mean, and why is it of 

so much importance for a CMO company 
such as Siegfried?

To start off with, we shouldn’t be misguided by the word 
“critical”. Critical size is a very gratifying situation to  
be in. We included the term in our strategy because we 
took the perspective of Siegfried’s relevant stake-
holders. A certain size of an outsourcing partner such as 
Siegfried goes along with adequate financial stability  
so that unavoidable business cycles can be mastered. 
In the end, critical size is measured in terms of sales 
volume and the resulting cash flow. We consider this 
minimum size to be clearly above 500 million francs. 
Another positive effect is of a technical nature: Siegfried 
now has available a sufficiently large production ca- 
pacity of which it can afford to reserve a small part for 
short-term orders. Our new size is positive also from  
the perspective of our investors: the larger the business, 
the more diversified the risks. Today, the loss of a  
large product would hit Siegfried clearly less hard than 
would have been the case in 2010. 

2  What type of synergies  
do you expect  
from the acquisitions?

Right from the start, all measures taken within the 
parameters of our strategy were based on two guiding 
principles: improvement and expansion of our pro- 
duct range, which implies higher sales by means of more 
business, and improvement of our cost position. We 
expect sales growth, for instance, from the customer 

portfolio gained from the BASF acquisition. As a result, 
today we do business with customers we previously  
did not cooperate with to the desired degree. We expect 
further positive effects from standardizing our global 
processes and making redundant several central services. 
And lastly, thanks to nearly double the size of our 
procurement volume, we now enjoy more negotiating 
power, and we have started implementing it to obtain 
better purchasing conditions. Not to forget the positive 
contribution made by our new site in China: owing to 
Nantong we are now in a position to improve our cost 
situation and, therefore, profitability by producing 
precursors and intermediates, previously bought from 
outside companies, in China ourselves. 

3Do you have other  
strategic steps  
in the pipeline? 

Siegfried will continue to grow. We are recognizing 
scope for strategic growth which we will implement by 
means of acquisitions when suitable possibilities arise. 
Further steps are conceivable in terms of development 
capability and new technologies, especially at the 
interface between API and finished dosage forms, and 
in specialized technologies. In the future, we will con- 
tinue to expand our global production network and grow 
by acquiring attractive business opportunities. You can 
see, our journey is continuing!

Please find the detailed profile  
of Wolfgang Wienand in the 
Corporate Governance chapter, 
page 37. 



Systematic Risk  
Evaluation as a  
Basic Principle 

cquisitions as well as the other measures and investments Siegfried implemented 
within the parameters of the “Transform” strategy are all connected with risk.  
It is essential that corporate structures and the organization are constantly being 
adjusted to the new circumstances and the company’s growth. Consequently,  
for each of our acquisitions we carried out a comprehensive post merger integra-
tion process. In terms of integration, all divisions play an active role.

The institutionalized processes used to systematically assess risks include risk management,  
a risk map, and an Internal Control System (ICS). Concrete measures and results are deduced 
from the results. 

In the pharmaceutical field, the largest risks are to be expected in compliance. 
Siegfried’s position in this regard is solid thanks to a good compliance track  
record across many years. Other risks that are constantly being assessed and 
underpinned with concrete measures pertain to customer acquisition / pipeline  
and to Human Resources and the long-term agreements with employees. Special 
attention is given to risks connected with integration. 

Michael Hüsler, CFO: “In terms of acquisitions it is decisive that the new staff members feel 
right from the beginning that they can make an important contribution toward Siegfried’s 
success while not forgetting the existing employees. With all acquisitions we fortunately 
managed to communicate this right from the beginning.”

Siegfried attaches great importance to  
the continual evaluation of risks by using  
institutionalized processes.

A

higher net sales in Swiss francs compared  
to the previous year.

EBITDA in million Swiss francs in 2015.  
This represents an increase of  
31.1% compared to the previous year.

52.4% 77.1



 

Dr. Rudolf Hanko 
CEO Siegfried AG 
December 2015

“ Today, Siegfried is  
a trendsetter in  
the CMO industry, 
driven by very  
loyal people.” 

The Future Has Begun
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expect more, our brand promise, is a reality for 
our employees across the world – day after day.  
 
Based on our comprehensive, tailor-made range of 
products and know-how, customers in the pharma-
ceutical industry benefit from our production 
capacity and service which caters to all needs: 
efficient, flexible and of the highest quality. Siegfried 
has advanced to become the worldwide trendsetter 
in the custom manufacturing industry.  
 
Siegfried‘s core expertise, its focus on quality and its 
140-year Swiss tradition stand for continued 
long-term growth. Only the best is good enough – 
today and in the future.





Corporate Governance

Transparency creates trust. That is why the 
Siegfried Group’s corporate governance reflects 
the demands made on modern corporate 
 management. It is based on the Swiss Code  
of Obligations, the directive on corporate 
 governance of the Swiss Exchange (SIX) and the 
Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate 
 Governance.



Corporate Governance 
General Framework
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General Framework 

Corporate governance of the Siegfried Group is focused on ensuring a sound and long-term 
relationship with all stakeholders and providing the necessary transparency. It is based on the 
Swiss Code of Obligations (article 663bbis and article 663c OR), the directive on corporate 
governance of the Swiss Exchange (SIX) and the “Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate 
Governance.” Remuneration for the Board of Directors and Executive Management is 
reported in the separate Remuneration Report on page 45ff.

Corporate governance of Siegfried is  
focused on ensuring a sound and long- 
term relationship with all stakeholders  
and providing the necessary transparency.

Corporate Governance
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1. Corporate Structure and Shareholders

1.1 Management Structure of the Siegfried Group

Board of Directors
Dr. Andreas Casutt

Chairman of the  
Board of Directors

 
Dr. Rudolf Hanko
Chief Executive Officer

Human Resources

Arnoud M. Middel
Head Human Resources

Strategy and M &A 

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand
Head Strategy and M &A

Finance

Michael Hüsler
Chief Financial Officer

Research & Development

Dr. René Imwinkelried
Head Research & Development

Business Development & Sales

Marianne Späne
Head Business Development,  

Marketing & Sales

Technical Operations

Dr. Walter Kittl
Head Technical Operations
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1.2 Corporate Structure 

Siegfried Holding AG, with its registered office located in Zofingen (Switzerland), is the parent 
company of the Siegfried Group, which, as at December 31, 2015, comprises 20 consolidated 
operating and holding companies worldwide. Siegfried Holding AG is listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange (valor symbol: SFZN, ISIN: CH0014284498). As at December 31, 2015, the market 
capitalization of Siegfried Holding AG amounts to approx. CHF 812 million. 

The Siegfried Group includes the following major group companies: 

Currency Capital in LC Holding

1. Switzerland

Siegfried Holding AG, Zofingen CHF 8 300 000 100.00%

Siegfried AG, Zofingen CHF 20 000 000 100.00%

Siegfried International AG, Zofingen CHF 2 000 000 100.00%

Siegfried Finance AG, Zofingen CHF 14 000 000 100.00%

Siegfried Evionnaz SA, Evionnaz CHF 1 000 000 100.00%

2. Europe

hameln pharmaceuticals gmbh, Hameln EUR 750 000 100.00%

hameln rds gmbh, Hameln EUR 30 000 100.00% 

hameln real estate gmbh & co. kg, Hameln EUR 25 000 100.00%

Siegfried PharmaChemikalien Minden GmbH, Minden EUR 50 000 100.00%

Siegfried St. Vulbas SAS, St. Vulbas EUR 15 200 000 100.00%

Siegfried Malta Ltd, Valletta EUR 100 000 100.00%

3. USA

Siegfried USA, LLC, Pennsville USD 10 100.00%

Alliance Medical Products, Inc., Irvine USD 116 521 100.00%

4. Asia

Siegfried (Nantong) Pharmaceuticals Co., Nantong CNY 346 925 622 100.00%

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd, Huangyang, Gansu Province CNY 10 542 708 49.00%

1.3 Shareholders

The shareholders listed in the following table have reported holdings of 3% or more of the 
voting rights of Siegfried Holding AG as of December 31, 2015, based on the shareholder 
disclosure notifications pursuant to Article 120 of the Swiss Financial Market Infrastructure 
Act (FMIA). The detailed reports pursuant to Article 120 FMIA can be found under:  
https://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/publications/significant-shareholders.
html?companyId=SIEGFRIED.



27Siegfried Annual Report 2015
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Corporate Structure and Shareholders

Shares as 
of Dec. 31, 

2015

Holding % 
as of Dec. 31, 

2015 1

Shares as 
of Dec. 31, 

2014

Holding % 
as of Dec. 31, 

2014 2

Shareholding >3%

Tweedy Browne Company LLC, New York, USA 374 7673 9.03 374 767 9.03

Rainer Marc Frey, Freienbach 359 4314 8.67 359 431 8.67

EOP Participants (blocked until 2016) 199 3325 4.80 199 332 4.80

Kreissparkasse Biberach, Biberach, Germany  
(BayernInvest Kapitalgesellschaft mbH, Munich, Germany) 137 1786 3.31 137 178 3.31

Siegfried Holding AG (own shares) 210 5287 5.07 131 407 3.17

Total 1 281 236 30.88 1 401 539 33.78

1  Based on 4 150 000 issued shares as of December 31, 2015.
2  Based on 4 150 000 issued shares as of December 31, 2014. 
3  According to the disclosure notification of May 27, 2011.
4  According to the disclosure notification of September 3, 2013. 
5  According to the disclosure notification of March 26, 2014. The “EOP Participants” are the participants in Siegfried Group’s Equity 

 Ownership Plans of 2010 and of 2012 (collectively “EOP”) that were allocated Siegfried shares on March 14, 2014, subject to  
a two-year blocking period in accordance with the provisions of the EOP. The disclosed shareholding includes shares held by members  
of the Board or the Executive Management (for further information, see Remuneration Report, page 65). 

6  According to the disclosure notification of April 28, 2012.
7  According to the disclosure notification of September 16, 2015. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, 2738 shareholders were registered in the share registry of  
Siegfried Holding AG, representing a shareholding of 68.35% of the total share capital.  
The distribution of the shares among the shareholders was as follows:

Distribution of shares as of December 31, 2015 Shareholders
No. of shares  
per category %

1 –10 342 1 926 0.05

11 –100 1 201 63 509 1.53

101 –1 000 972 314 825 7.59

1 001 –10 000 173 536 165 12.92

10 001 –100 000 45 990 734 23.87

100 001 –1 000 000 51 929 553 22.40

2 738 2 836 712 68.35

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a. 1 313 288 31.65

Total shares 4 150 000 100.00

Shareholdings by segment as of December 31, 2015, was as follows:

Holdings by segment as of December 31, 2015 Shareholders
No. of shares  
per category %

Significant shareholders (> 3%) 32 711 945 17.16

Individuals 2 503 1 047 531 25.24

Institutional investors 232 1 077 236 25.96

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a. 1 313 288 31.65

Total shares n. a. 4 150 000 100.00

1  Including one custodian holding over 3% of the share capital for the account of third parties that has been registered as nominee. 
2 Without EOP participants and own shares.
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1.4 Crossholdings

The Siegfried Group has not entered into any capital- or share-based crossholdings with other 
companies.

2. Capital Structure

2.1 Share Capital

The share capital of Siegfried Holding AG recorded in the commercial registry as of Decem-
ber 31, 2015, amounts to CHF 8 300 000, divided into 4 150 000 fully paid-up registered 
shares with a par value of CHF 2 per share. Each registered share authorizes the holder to 
exercise one vote at the General Meeting of Shareholders, and grants the right to receive 
dividends (subject to the dividend resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders). There 
are no preferred rights attached to any Siegfried shares. The Articles of Incorporation of 
Siegfried Holding AG provide for conditional share capital and do not provide for authorized 
share capital.

2.2 Conditional Share Capital

The General Meeting of Shareholders of Siegfried Holding AG held on March 26, 2014, 
approved an amendment of the Articles of Incorporation to create a conditional share capital 
of CHF 420 000 in total, divided into 210 000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 2 
each. The conditional share capital is reserved for the issuance of Siegfried shares to members 
of the Board of Directors and / or the employees of Siegfried Holding AG and / or its group 
companies. 

Pre-emptive rights as well as advances subscription rights of company shareholders are 
excluded. The issuing of shares or related pre-emptive rights to members of the Board of 
Directors and / or employees of Siegfried Holding AG and / or its group companies shall  
take place in accordance with one or more regulations to be issued by the Board of Directors, 
taking into account such criteria as performance, functions, responsibility levels, and profit-
ability. Shares or pre-emptive rights may be issued to members of the Board of Directors and /  
or employees of Siegfried Holding AG and / or its group companies at a price below the 
market price. 
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2.3 Changes in Share Capital

In the business year 2015, the share capital of Siegfried Holding AG remained unchanged.

In 2014, the issued share capital of Siegfried Holding AG increased from CHF 7 600 000 to 
CHF 8 300 000 by way of issuance of 350 000 registered shares to members of the Board of 
Directors and employees of Siegfried Holding AG and its group companies in accordance  
with Art. 3bis paragraph 4 of the former Articles of Incorporation of May 24, 2011. Thereby, 
the conditional share capital reserved for such purposes was used up. By resolution of the 
General Shareholder’s Meeting of March 26, 2014, the new conditional share capital as per 
section 2.2 above was created. Concurrently, it was resolved to delete the remaining condi-
tional share capital of CHF 100 000 which was originally created for use in connection with 
the issuance of bonds / notes or other financial instruments by Siegfried Holding AG or any  
of its group companies. As a result, as per December 31, 2014, Siegfried Holding AG disposed 
of a conditional share capital in the total amount of CHF 420 000, divided in 210 000 
registered shares with a par value of CHF 2 each. 

In the business years 2013 and 2012, the share capital of Siegfried Holding remained 
 unchanged. 

2.4 Limitations on Transferability and Registration of Nominees

Only persons recorded in the share registry as shareholder with voting right are entitled to 
exercise voting and related rights. Registration in the share registry is subject to the following 
statutory restrictions:

—  Registration requests are considered granted if Siegfried has not denied them within 
20 days after receipt.

—  Petitioners must expressly declare that they have acquired the shares in their own name 
and for their own account.

Individual persons who refrain from explicitly declaring in the registration application that 
they hold the shares for their own account (“nominees”) may be entered into the share 
register with voting rights, provided the nominee enters into a corresponding agreement with 
the Board of Directors, and is subject to a recognized bank or financial market supervision.
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2.5 Convertible Bonds and Warrants

During the fiscal year 2015, Siegfried Holding AG issued a privately placed hybrid bond in the 
amount of CHF 60 million. According to the disclosure notification to Disclosure Office of  
the SIX Swiss Exchange of May 13, 2015, the holder of the convertible bond has the right to 
convert the nominal amount of the bond into shares of Siegfried Holding AG for an initial 
conversion price of CHF 217.93 per share. Based on the 4 150 000 issued shares of Siegfried 
Holding AG, this would represent a stake of 6.63%. The conversion price may be subject  
to changes in accordance with the terms of the convertible bond, in particular in the case of 
payment of dividend by the Company. The exercise period lasts until September 28, 2020. 
The convertible bond qualifies as hybrid capital.

Siegfried Holding AG has also issued a public hybrid bond during the 2015 fiscal year, see 
page 120 Financial Report. Siegfried Holding has not issued any warrants.

3. Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of Siegfried Holding AG comprises five persons. During the previous 
three years, none of the members of the Board held a position in the Executive Management 
of Siegfried Holding AG or a Siegfried Group company, nor have they had any significant 
business relationship with Siegfried Holding AG or a Siegfried Group company. The following 
table sets forth the name, position, age, year of election and term in office of each member  
of the Board of Directors:

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors

Name Birth year Position
Member 
since

End 
of term

Andreas Casutt 1963 Chairman, non-executive 2010 2016

Thomas Villiger 1951 Vice Chairman, non-executive 2011 2016

Colin Bond 1961 Non-executive member 2013 2016

Wolfram Carius 1961 Non-executive member 2014 2016

Reto Garzetti 1960 Non-executive member 2011 2016

Honorary Chairman

Bernard A. Siegfried 1934
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3.2 Profiles

Dr. Andreas Casutt 
Chairman

Andreas Casutt (1963) joined the Board of 
Siegfried Holding AG in 2010 and was elected 
Chairman in 2014. He has been a partner of  
the Niederer Kraft & Frey law firm in Zurich since 
2002, and held office as managing partner  
from 2006 to 2014. Andreas Casutt specializes  
in corporate law, contract law, mergers &  
acquisitions, and stock exchange law. In addition, 
he is a board member of Mikron Holding AG  
and various privately held companies, incuding 
Maxon Motor AG. Andreas Casutt studied law  
and received his Ph.D. in Zurich (Switzerland) and 
completed an LL.M. program at the University  
of Michigan, Ann Arbor (USA). Andreas Casutt  
is a Swiss citizen.

Dr. Thomas Villiger 
Vice-Chairman

Thomas Villiger (1951) joined the Board of 
Siegfried Holding AG in 2011 and was appointed 
Vice-Chairman in 2015. He founded his own 
management consultancy in 2010. From 1986  
to 2010, he was employed by Mepha Group,  
from 1997 onward he led the Mepha Group as  
a CEO. From 1980 to 1986 he worked in various 
functions for Sandoz in Basel, partly in Japan.  
He is a member of the Boards of Dolder AG and 
Sigvaris Holding AG, as well as the President  
of the Foundation Board of the Haiku Foundation. 
Thomas Villiger studied pharmacy in Bern and 
Zurich and holds a Ph. D. degree in chemistry from 
the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in  
Zurich (1979). Thomas Villiger is a Swiss citizen.

Colin Bond 
Member of the Board

Colin Bond (1961) joined the Board of Siegfried 
Holding AG in 2013. Since 2010, he has been 
Group Chief Financial Officer of the Hamburg- based 
Evotec AG and member of the management 
board. The company is listed on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange as part of TecDax and provides a wide 
range of research and development services in the 
field of active pharmaceutical ingredients. Fol-
lowing career stations as a pharmacist, chartered 
accountant and management consultant, he 
worked for 25 years as Chief Financial Officer for 
several international companies in various indus-
tries, of which 11 years for Great Lakes Chemical 
Corporation, today Chemtura, a US-based global 
specialty chemicals company. Colin Bond holds a 
university degree in pharmacy from the Universi-
ty of Aston, Birmingham, and a MBA degree from 
London Business School. He is a citizen of Great 
Britain and Switzerland.

Please find a photographic  
portrait of the Board  
of Directors on page 18.
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Prof. Dr. Wolfram Carius 
Member of the Board

Wolfram Carius (1961) was elected member  
of the Board of Siegfried Holding AG in 2014. He 
joined Sanofi, a French healthcare company,  
at the beginning of 2014 as Senior Vice President 
Biopharma Strategy. Today, he holds the position  
of Vice President Biologics and is a member of the 
Global Leadership Team. Prior to Sanofi, he 
worked for Boehringer Ingelheim from 1987 until 
the end of 2013. In 2009 he was appointed to  
the company’s Board of Managing Directors, initially 
with responsibility for Human Resources and 
Technical Operations, and from 2012 for Biopharma 
and Operations. At Boehringer Ingelheim he was 
responsible for the company’s worldwide chemical, 
pharmaceutical and biopharma production net- 
work. Before that, he was decisively responsible for 
the development and expansion of the biopharma 
unit. He managed the company’s production site  
in Japan and later Brazil before being appointed 
member of Boehringer Ingelheim’s Board of 
Managing Directors in Germany. Wolfram Carius 
holds a PhD in pharmaceutical biology and 
analytical phytochemistry from the University of 
Saarland, Germany. In 2009, the Biberach Univer-
sity of Applied Sciences awarded him the title  
of honorary professor in recognition for his long 
and exceptional service. Wolfram Carius is a 
German citizen.

Reto A. Garzetti 
Member of the Board

Reto A. Garzetti (1960) joined the Board of 
Siegfried Holding AG in 2011. He is a partner and 
Vice President of the Board of SE Swiss Equities.  
He additionally serves on the Board of SKW Stahl 
Metallurgie Holding AG, listed on the German 
stock exchange, the Board of Peach Properties AG, 
listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, as well as on  
the Board of the privately held companies AGI AG, 
HFS Helvetic Financial Services AG, Occlutech AG 
and other privately held companies in Switzerland 
and abroad. Previously, he served for many years 
on the Board of multinational US companies. Reto 
Garzetti graduated from the University of Zurich  
in business administration (lic. oec. publ. / MBA) with 
the main emphasis on banking, trade and securi-
ties law. He is a Swiss and Italian citizen.



33Siegfried Annual Report 2015

Corporate Governance 
Board of Directors

3.3 Permitted Activities in the Supreme Managing or Administrative Body  
of Other Companies

Members of the Board of Directors of Siegfried Holding AG may not assume more than twenty 
additional mandates, of which no more than five may be for publicly listed companies. This 
applies to any mandate in the supreme managing or administrative body of a legal entity that is 
subject to the obligation to be entered in the Swiss commercial register or a corresponding 
 register abroad. Mandates in different legal entities under common control or owned by the 
same beneficial owner shall be deemed to constitute a single mandate.

Not subject to these limitations are (i) mandates in companies that are controlled by, or which 
control, Siegfried Holding AG; (ii) mandates that a member of the Board of Directors assumes at 
the direction of Siegfried Holding AG or a group company, provided that no member of the 
Board of Directors may assume more than ten such mandates at companies that are not controlled 
by, or do not control, Siegfried Holding AG; (iii) mandates in associations, non-profit founda-
tions, and pension benefit foundations, provided that no member of the Board of Directors may 
assume more than ten such mandates.

3.4 Election and Terms in Office

The members of the Board of Directors as well as, since 2014, the Chairman of the Board and 
the members of the Remuneration Committee of Siegfried Holding AG are elected by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. Subject to the foregoing, the Board of Directors constitutes 
itself. 

The Board members are elected for a term of one year that expires at the end of the next 
Annual General Meeting. Reelection is allowed. The revised Board Regulations specify that 
members must retire from the Board at the General Meeting of Shareholders after reaching  
the age of 72 (until now after reaching the age of 68). Certain exceptions may be made for  
the Chairman or the Honorary Chairman.

3.5 Internal Organization

The Board of Directors is responsible for the supervision of the Siegfried Group and its business 
units. The Board determines the Group strategy, the allocation of resources, and the manage-
ment structure of the Siegfried Group. It is also responsible for setting the organizational struc- 
ture, accounting, financial control, and financial planning. To the extent it does neither exercise 
these duties itself nor delegate them to the Chairman of the Board, the Board of Directors has 
delegated the management of the business to the CEO of the Siegfried Group. Decisions are 
taken by the entire Board of Directors. The Board Regulations setting forth the Board’s powers, 
duties, and internal organization may be found under http://www.siegfried.ch/about-siegfried/
about-us/company-structure. 

During the business year 2015, the Board of Directors met for two one-day ordinary meetings,  
two half-day ordinary meetings and a strategy meeting of two days. In addition, numerous 
 teleconferences were held. With the exception of two meetings to which one Board member 
was unable to attend, all Board members were present at all meetings.
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The following three Board Committees assist the Board of Directors:

  — Audit Committee
— Remuneration Committee
— Strategy Committee

The responsibilities and competencies of the committees are set forth in more detail in 
article 16 paragraph 4 of the Articles of Incorporation (Remuneration Committee) and 
Section 3.3.3 of the Board Regulations (see http://www.siegfried.ch/about-siegfried/about-us/
company-structure). The Board Committees review and discuss important matters in their 
relevant field of responsibility prior to Board meetings. The Chairman of the Board, the CEO 
and the CFO, and the responsible members of the Executive Management regularly attend 
these meetings. The Board Committees submit recommendations to the Board. 

During the business year 2015, the Audit Committee met four times, the Remuneration 
Committee twice, and the Strategy Committee once for half-day meetings. The following 
table shows the composition of the Board Committees for the term of office 2015 until  
2016:

Committee Chairperson Members

Audit Colin Bond Reto Garzetti, Thomas Villiger

Remuneration Thomas Villiger Reto Garzetti

Strategy Wolfram Carius Colin Bond, Reto Garzetti

3.6 Information and Control Instruments

The internal information and control system of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management is based on the following monthly reporting instruments: Revenues and  
other financial results of the Siegfried Group are presented in detail and compared with the 
budget and the previous year’s results – including a financial forecast for the entire year. 
Quarterly reports focus on budget deviations, important business incidents, and the most 
important key performance indicators. A five-year plan outlines the financial planning  
for the next five business years. The Internal Control System (ICS) and a comprehensive risk 
management procedure (described in detail on pages 110ff of the Financial Report) further 
add to the Board’s information and control instruments. 

The results are discussed and evaluated with the CEO and CFO at the meetings of the Board 
of Directors. Furthermore, the Chairman of the Board discusses the course of business  
and other important topics with members of the Executive Management on a regular basis.
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4. Executive Management

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the operative and results-oriented 
management of the Siegfried Group and its divisions. Subject to the competencies and 
directives of the Board of Directors and its Chairman, the CEO is responsible for the 
 formulation and achievement of the corporate goals as well as the management of the 
subordinate Group companies (results and balance sheet responsibilities). The detailed 
capacities and functions of the CEO are described in the Siegfried Group Board Regulations 
(see http://www.siegfried.ch/about-siegfried/about-us/company-structure).

4.1 Members of the Executive Management

Name Birth year Position
Member
since

In current 
function 
since

Rudolf Hanko 1955 Chief Executive Officer 2009 2009

Michael Hüsler 1972 Chief Financial Officer 2009 2009

René Imwinkelried 1957 Head Research & Development 2012 2012

Walter Kittl 1956 Head Technical Operations 2008 2011

Arnoud M. Middel 1971 Head Human Resources 2011 2011

Marianne Späne 1962
Head Business Development,  
Marketing & Sales 2004 2010

Wolfgang Wienand 1972 Head Strategy and M &A 2010 2011

4.2 Management Contracts

Siegfried Holding AG and its group companies have not entered into any management 
contracts with third parties.

4.3 Permitted Activities in the Supreme Managing or Administrative Body 
of Other Companies

Members of the Executive Management of Siegfried Holding AG may not assume more than 
five additional mandates, of which no more than one may be for a publicly listed company. 
This applies to any mandate in the supreme managing or administrative body of a legal entity 
that is subject to the obligation to be entered in the Swiss commercial register or a corre-
sponding register abroad. Mandates in different legal entities under common control or owned 
by the same beneficial owner shall be deemed to constitute a single mandate.

Not subject to these limitations are (i) mandates in companies that are controlled by, or which 
control, Siegfried Holding AG; (ii) mandates that a member of the Executive Management 
assumes at the direction of Siegfried Holding AG or a group company, provided that no member 
of the Executive Management may assume more than ten such mandates at companies that 
are not controlled by, or do not control, Siegfried Holding AG; (iii) mandates in associations, 
non-profit foundations, and pension benefit foundations, provided that no member of the 
Executive Management may assume more than ten such mandates.
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4.4 Profiles

Dr. Rudolf Hanko  
Chief Executive Officer

Rudolf Hanko (1955) was appointed CEO of 
Siegfried in May 2009. Prior to joining Siegfried, 
he worked in the chemical-pharmaceutical 
industry in various management positions, at 
Evonik Industries AG (Germany) as head of 
Exclusive Synthesis & Amino Acids. Rudolf Hanko 
also headed the pharmaceutical division of 
Bayer AG as head of Chemical Research and as 
General Manager of the fine chemicals division. 
Rudolf Hanko received his Ph. D. in chemistry  
from the University of Göttingen (Germany) and 
completed post-doctoral studies at the Max  
Planck Institute (Germany). Rudolf Hanko is a 
German citizen.

Michael Hüsler  
Chief Financial Officer

Michael Hüsler (1972) joined Siegfried as Chief 
Financial Officer in 2009. He completed his  
studies in economics in 1997 at the University of 
Basel (Switzerland) and worked at Pricewater-
houseCoopers as an economic planner until 2000. 
From 2000 to 2005 he was corporate controller 
and ultimately, head of corporate controlling at 
Straumann Holding AG. In addition, he com- 
pleted his studies as a Certified IFRS Accountant  
in 2004. Michael Hüsler was CFO and member  
of the Executive Management at Bachem Hold- 
ing AG from 2005 to 2009. Michael Hüsler is  
a Swiss citizen.

Dr. René Imwinkelried  
Head Research & Development 

René Imwinkelried (1957) was appointed Head  
of Research & Development of the Siegfried  
Group in September 2012. He has a Ph. D. in 
organic chemistry from the ETH Zurich and 
completed a post-doctoral fellowship at Colorado 
State University and Howard University (both 
USA). From 1991 to 2004 he worked in various 
R&D management positions at Lonza, and  
as head of global chemical and physical sciences  
at US-based Schering-Plough. From 2010 to  
2012 he was head of “Technical Development 
Small Molecules” at Roche in Basel. René 
 Imwinkelried is a Swiss citizen.

Please find a photographic  
portrait of the Executive 
 Committee on page 19.
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Dr. Walter Kittl  
Head Technical Operations

Walter Kittl (1956) was appointed Head of Techni-
cal Operations of Siegfried in 2011. Prior to joining 
Siegfried in 2008, he worked at DSM Chemie  
Linz (1983–2000) and at F. Hoffmann- La Roche 
(2000–2008), where he was head of chemical 
 production in Basel (Switzerland). From 2008 to 
2011, he was head of the Siegfried facility in 
Pennsville. He studied at the University of Linz 
(Austria), where he graduated with a Ph. D.  
in chemistry. Walter Kittl is an Austrian citizen.

Arnoud M. Middel 
Head Human Resources

Arnoud Middel (1971) joined the Siegfried Group 
in September 2011 as Head of Human Resources. 
Previously, he worked for various companies  
in the field of human resources, ultimately as head 
of HR Switzerland and Global Headquarters for 
Syngenta in Basel (Switzerland). He completed his 
studies in biology and biochemistry at the Uni-
versity of Basel (Switzerland). Arnoud Middel is a 
Dutch citizen.

Marianne Späne  
Head Business Development,  
Marketing & Sales
Marianne Späne (1962) joined the Siegfried Group 
in 2004 and was appointed Head of Business 
Development & Sales in March 2010. She headed 
the Siegfried Generics Division from 2008 to 2010 
and was previously responsible for the Classical 
Generics Business Unit. Between June 2004 and 
January 2008, Marianne Späne managed the 
Business Development Department and the Supply 
Chain for Generics. Prior to joining Siegfried, she 
worked in logistics, business development and as 
site manager for Boucheron, a cosmetics com- 
pany. Later, she switched to the pharmaceutical 
industry and joined the pharma division of 
Schweizerhalle as head of the sales and marketing 
department. Subsequently, she joined Aceto, a  
US-based company, where she developed European 
expansion strategies. Marianne Späne holds 

degrees in finance, business administration and 
marketing from the Business Management  
School (KFS) in Basel and the Marketing & Business 
School in Zurich (MBSZ). Marianne Späne is a 
German citizen.

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand  
Head Strategy and M &A 

As of December 1, 2011, Dr. Wolfgang Wienand 
(1972) was appointed Head Strategy and M &A with 
responsibility for Strategy, Mergers & Acquisitions, 
Legal and Intellectual Property Management.  
From August 1, 2010, to August 31, 2012, he served 
as Chief Scientific Officer heading Siegfried’s 
research & development activities. With effect from 
January 1, 2015, he is additionally responsible  
for the Regulatory Affairs division. Before joining 
Siegfried, he held senior management positions  
at Evonik Industries AG, formerly Degussa AG, 
mainly in the fields of fine chemicals and custom 
manufacturing for the pharmaceutical industry. 
Most recently, he was responsible for the strategy 
and business development of Evonik’s advanced 
silanes business with the photovoltaic and semi- 
conductor industries. Wolfgang Wienand studied 
chemistry at the Friedrich-Wilhelms University  
in Bonn and received his Ph. D. from the University 
of Cologne, Germany. Wolfgang Wienand is a 
German citizen.
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5. Remuneration, Investments and Loans

5.1 Content and Method of Determining the Remuneration  
and the Equity Participation Plans

For details regarding the remuneration and shareholdings of the members of the Board of 
Directors and the Executive Management as well the principles and elements of remuneration 
and the equity participation plans of members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Committee, together with a description of the authorities and procedures in connection there- 
with, please refer to the Remuneration Report on page 45ff of this Annual Report.

5.2 Statutory Provisions regarding Performance-Related Remuneration  
and the Allocation of Equity Securities 

Pursuant to article 23 of the Articles of Incorporation and subject to approval by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting, the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors consists  
of a fixed base remuneration, an individual functional remuneration and a lump-sum expense 
allowance in cash, as well as a fixed number of shares of Siegfried Holding AG. The Board  
of Directors determines the number of shares as well as the relevant terms and conditions, 
including the time of their allocation and any restrictions on transferability. Absent excep-
tional circumstances, the members of the Board of Directors do not receive any performance- 
based remuneration; any such remuneration would be measured against predefined perfor-
mance targets only.

Pursuant to article 24 of the Articles of Incorporation and subject to approval by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting, remuneration for members of the Executive Management includes  
of a fixed base remuneration in cash as well as performance-based remuneration, which com- 
prises a short term performance-based remuneration in cash as well as a multi-year employee 
share ownership plan. The Board of Directors determines the targets, target levels, and target 
achievement for both the short- and the long-term performance-based remuneration  
in accordance with the principles. (cf http://www.siegfried.ch/about-siegfried/about-us/
company-structure/)

In the event of a change of control of Siegfried Holding AG, the termination of the employ-
ment relationship, or in case of other extraordinary events, the Board of Directors may during 
the course of an ongoing performance period adapt, shorten or eliminate the targets for 
performance-based remuneration, exercise conditions and periods as well as vesting periods 
and the relevant performance based remuneration may be forfeited or paid out under the 
assumption that targets would have been achieved.
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5.3 Statutory Provisions regarding Payments to Members of the Executive 
Management Appointed after the Shareholders’ Vote on Pay

Pursuant to article 25 of the Articles of Incorporation, Siegfried Holding AG or any group 
company may, with respect to any member of the Executive Management who joins the 
Executive Management or is promoted during a period for which the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting has already approved remuneration for the Executive Management, pay out 
 remuneration for such period(s) if the amount already approved is insufficient. The amount 
per remuneration period may not exceed 40 percent for the CEO and 25 percent for  
each other member of the Executive Management, of the most recently approved total 
remuneration. 

In addition, Siegfried Holding AG may compensate a newly appointed member of the 
Executive Management for any losses suffered in connection with assuming the new position 
as a result of forfeited vested benefits from his previous position. Such compensation may  
not exceed CHF 1 000 000 for the CEO and CHF 500 000 per person for the other members 
of the Executive Management.

5.4 Statutory Provisions regarding Loans, Credit Facilities  
and Post-Employment Benefits  

Pursuant to article 25 of the Articles of Incorporation, Siegfried Holding AG may grant loans 
and credits to members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management up to a 
maximum of the total of their respective individual fixed base remuneration in cash. In addition, 
Siegfried Holding AG may pay advances on attorney fees, court costs, and the like, up to  
a maximum of CHF 1 000 000 per member, in order to defend against liability and similar 
claims by third parties in connection with its activities performed for the Company.

5.5 Statutory Provisions on the Vote on Pay  
at the General Shareholders’ Meeting 

Pursuant to article 16 of the Articles of Incorporation, the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
resolves annually on the approval of the motions of the Board of Directors with regard to:

—  the maximum total amount of remuneration for the Board of Directors for the term  
of office expiring at the next ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting;

—  the maximum total amount of fixed remuneration for the Executive Management  
for the following financial year;

—  the total amount of short-term performance-based remuneration for the Executive 
Management for the most recent financial year;

—  the total amount of long-term performance-based remuneration for the Executive 
Management for the current financial year.
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Resolutions on the approval of remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management, respectively, are taken separately. The Board of Directors may submit the 
elements of remuneration for approval either separately or combined. In addition, the Board 
of Directors may submit proposals to the General Shareholders’ Meeting regarding (i) the 
total amounts and / or remuneration elements for other periods and / or (ii) supplementary 
amounts for certain remuneration elements. If the General Shareholders’ Meeting declines  
to approve a motion of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors may submit new motions 
at the same General Shareholders’ Meeting, at an extraordinary General Shareholders’ 
Meeting, or at the next ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting.

6. Shareholder Rights

6.1 Voting Rights and Proxy

Each share registered in the share registry with voting rights grants to its holder one voting 
right at the General Meeting of Shareholders. A shareholder may be represented at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting by a natural person duly authorized in writing, or by the 
independent voting proxy. 

The General Meeting of Shareholders passes its resolutions by a simple majority of the votes 
cast, unless a qualified majority is required by applicable law or the Articles of Incorporation. 
If no absolute majority is reached, the chairman casts the deciding vote.

The approval of at least two-thirds of the votes represented is required for resolutions of the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting with respect to:

—  a change of the company’s purpose
—  the creation of shares with preferential voting rights
—  amendments to the provisions governing the transferability of shares
—  the conversion of registered shares into bearer shares
—  an authorized or conditional increase in capital
—  an increase in share capital through the conversion of capital surplus, through  

an in-kind contribution or in exchange for an acquisition of property and a grant  
of special benefits

—  the restriction or cancellation of pre-emptive rights
—  the relocation of the company’s registered office
—  the dissolution of the company without liquidation
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6.2 Calling a General Meeting of Shareholders and Setting the Agenda

The General Meeting of Shareholders is called and the agenda therefore is set in accordance 
with the applicable provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Shareholders representing shares with a nominal value of CHF 500 000 or more may request 
that an item be added to the agenda of the General Shareholders’ Meeting. Any such request 
must be made in writing at least 45 days prior to the meeting, setting forth the requested 
additional agenda item and the motion thereto. No previous request or notification is required 
for motions concerning items included on the agenda and for debates as to which no vote  
is taken. 

6.3 Entry into the Share Register / Invitation to the General Meeting  
of April 15, 2016

The Board of Directors has determined that the share registry for the Annual General Meeting 
2016 will be closed on Friday, April 8, 2016, 12:00 p.m. All Shareholders wishing to attend 
the Annual General Meeting of April 15, 2016, must submit their application for registration 
of shares in the share registry no later than said date. Admission tickets and voting materials 
may be ordered by submitting the registration form enclosed with the invitation to the 
Annual General Meeting until April 11, 2016, or electronically on the online platform under 
https://sfzn.shapp.ch until April 13, 2016. Upon receipt of the request, an admission ticket 
and the voting materials will be sent to the shareholder. No entries into the share registry 
will be made from April 8, 2016, 12:00 p.m. until April 15, 2016. Shareholders who sell  
their Siegfried shares prior to the General Meeting of Shareholders forfeit their voting rights.

The invitation to the General Meeting, the minutes of the previous General Meeting, and  
the motions of the Board of Directors are made accessible on the website of the Siegfried 
Group (www.siegfried.ch).

7. Control Changes and Defensive Measures

7.1 Mandatory Take-Over Offers

There are no provisions in the Articles of Incorporation of Siegfried Holding AG regarding 
opting out or opting up (article 125 and 135 of the FMIA).

7.2 Change of Control Clauses

The Long Term Incentive Plan (see Remuneration Report, page 55ff) which came into force  
on January 1, 2014, provides that:

a) in the event of a change of control of Siegfried Holding AG, plan participants will, on the 
date of the change of control, receive a pro-rated number of Siegfried shares for all PSUs 
granted for ongoing vesting periods. The number of Siegfried shares to be distributed per 
PSU is calculated on the basis of a valuation method to be determined by the Board.
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b) in the event of a takeover which is not endorsed by the Board, Siegfried shares will be 
distributed to the plan participants pro-rata and on the basis of 100% target achievement 
as per the date of change of control for all PSUs granted for ongoing vesting periods. The 
pro-rata entitlement is calculated from the grant date of the PSUs until the date of change 
of control.

8. Auditors

8.1 Contract Duration and Lead Auditor Term Length

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG (PwC), Basel (or its predecessor companies) has been the 
statutory auditor of Siegfried Holding AG since 1920. In 2014, the current lead auditor, Gerd 
Tritschler, carried out the audit for the sixth time. The auditor is annually elected by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders.

8.2 Audit Fees

PwC billed the Siegfried Group for services in connection with auditing of the annual 
financial statement of Siegfried Holding AG and of the Siegfried Group companies,  
the consolidated 2015 financial statement of the Siegfried Group and related auditing  
services CHF 832 000 (2014: CHF 623 000).

8.3 Additional Fees

For tax consulting during 2015, PwC billed the Siegfried Group CHF 82 000 (2014: 
CHF 123 000), and for other services CHF 11 000 (2014: CHF 21 000) in additional fees. 
Further costs for tax consulting and other services by other auditors amounted in 2015  
to CHF 59 000 (2014: CHF 39 000).

8.4 External Audit Informational Instruments

The Audit Committee evaluates and discusses the performance, fees, and independence of 
the auditor every year. It reports to the Board and proposes a motion at the General Meeting 
on the election (or reelection) of the auditor. The contract is awarded based on a budget 
presented to the Audit Committee by the auditor. 

The auditor regularly attends the meetings of the Audit Committee; there were four meetings 
in 2015. During such meetings, the auditor presents detailed audit reports, which are  
also distributed to the Board. Assignments for PwC that go beyond the auditing mandate  
are subject to approval by the head of the Audit Committee.
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9. Information Policy

The Siegfried Group is committed to an open and consistent information policy. The media, 
financial analysts and other interest groups are continuously informed about important 
developments and events. 

Shareholders are informed semi-annually on the state of the business and receive the annual 
report and the semi-annual report upon request. The annual report, the minutes of the 
previous General Meeting, media releases, important information and the current share price 
can be found at www.siegfried.ch. A news conference is held semi-annually for the media 
and financial analysts.

Siegfried Holding strictly observes the mandatory disclosure rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange 
(“ad hoc disclosure”) regarding potentially price sensitive facts.

In 2016, the Siegfried Group will inform about the course of business as follows:

—  March 22, 2016: publication of results for the 2015 business year at a media and analyst 
conference in Zurich (media and financial analysts)

—  April 15, 2016, 10:00 a.m.: Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
—  August 23, 2016: publication of 2016 half-year financial results 

Company address:
Siegfried Holding AG
Untere Bruehlstrasse 4
CH-4800 Zofingen
Switzerland
Phone + 41 62 746 11 11
Fax + 41 62 746 11 02

www.siegfried.ch





Remuneration Report

At Siegfried, we are mindful of the responsibility 
we owe to our stakeholders and we pursue a 
transparent, performance-based, and sustainable 
remuneration policy.
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Remuneration Report

This Remuneration Report was drafted in accordance with Siegfried Holding’s articles of 
incorporation and contains all the information required as per article 663bbis and article 663c 
paragraph 3 of the Swiss Code of Obligations (CO), as well as articles 13 to 17 of the 
 “Ordinance Against Excessive Compensation at Public Companies” (Verordnung gegen die 
übermässige Vergütung bei börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften, VegüV).

The Remuneration Report is structured as follows: 

 — Introduction by the Chair of the Remuneration Committee
— Competencies and tasks of the Remuneration Committee
— Procedures for setting and authorizing remuneration
— Principles of remuneration policy and remuneration elements
— Remuneration of Board members
— Remuneration of Executive Committee members
—  Shareholdings of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee  

at the end of the reporting year
— Contractual agreements, loans, credits, and additional contributions

The Remuneration Report describes Siegfried 
Group’s (Siegfried’s) remuneration principles and 
defines the competencies and responsibilities 
 associated with setting remuneration for members 
of its Board of Directors and Executive Committee. 
The report also contains detailed information 
about remuneration plans and payments made  
in the 2015 financial year.
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In this report, details pursuant to articles 14 to 17 VegüV are to be found in the  
following sections: 

VegüV Article Text / Figure / Table Page

Art. 14: Remuneration  
paid to the Board of Directors 
and Executive Committee

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in the 2015 reporting year 
(audited) 

60

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors for the 2015 / 2016  
term of office (projection) 

61

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in the 2014 reporting year 
(audited) 

61

Remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee  
in the 2015 reporting year (audited)

62

Actual STI to be paid to the CEO and Executive Committee  
for the 2015 reporting year

63

PSUs allocated to the CEO and Executive Committee  
in the 2015 reporting year

64

Remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee  
in the 2014 reporting year (audited)

64

Art. 15: Loans and credits 
granted to the Board 
of Directors and Executive 
Committee

As of December 31, 2015, Siegfried Holding AG and its Group  
companies do not have any outstanding securities, loans,  
advances or credits to members of the Board of Directors or  
the  Executive Committee of Siegfried Holding AG. (audited)

66

Art. 16: Remuneration,  
loans and credits  
to affiliated persons

Further, no securities, loans, advances or credits were granted at 
non-market rates to persons affiliated with current members of the 
 Executive Committee or Board of Directors or to former members  
of the Executive Committee or Board of Directors in 2015; nor are any 
such commitments outstanding as at December 31, 2015. (audited)

66

Art. 17: Audit of the 
 remuneration report by 
 statutory auditor

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Remuneration Report 67
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Introduction by the Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Given that the remuneration of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee, and 
non-management employees of the Group is an important topic for all of Siegfried’s stake-
holders, the Remuneration Committee again made concerted efforts in 2015 to ensure  
full and transparent compliance with external guidelines and internal requirements. The 
following topics related to remuneration were addressed in 2015:

—  optimize processes and thereby enhance transparency in order to specify the targets used 
to define the Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP) and the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

—  implement remuneration principles and instruments at the Hameln (Germany) site acquired 
on November 1, 2014.

—  simplify and revise the Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP).
 
As in all previous years, this report once again provides detailed explanations of our remu-
neration principles and model; it sets out how the remuneration plans work and highlights 
how they are linked to enterprise value and target achievement. The report also gives  
a transparent picture of remuneration elements and other amounts paid to the Board of 
Directors and Executive Committee in the reporting year, as per legal requirements.

As explained in the general section of the annual report, 2015 was another very challeng-
ing year for Siegfried from an operational point of view. As in previous years, the Board of 
Directors, along with the CEO and the Executive Committee, set very ambitious goals for  
the company, designed to ensure a long-term increase in enterprise value. At Group level, 
these goals were not fully met, and this is reflected in the target achievement figures.  
This deliberately and systematically pursued linkage has clearly shown itself to be effective:  
if the operational EBITDA and ROCE targets are not met or are only met in part, the total 
amount available for distribution in the form of short-term, performance-based incentives  
is reduced. 
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1. Competencies and Tasks of the Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the articles of incorporation, the Remuneration Committee is composed of 
at least two members of the Board of Directors, who are each elected by the General Meeting 
for a one-year term of office. Dr. Thomas Villiger (Chair) and Reto Garzetti were elected to  
the Remuneration Committee for the 2015 / 2016 term of office. The Remuneration Committee 
shall constitute itself. It may appoint a chairman from among its members.

The Remuneration Committee supports the Board of Directors in

—  defining and reviewing the remuneration policy and principles;
—  defining and reviewing the targets and target levels for short- and long-term perfor-

mance-based remuneration elements and evaluating target achievement;
—  preparing recommendations on Board and Executive Committee members’ remuneration 

for the attention of the General Meeting.

Depending on the agenda, the Chairman of the Board, the CEO, and the Global Head HR 
may also join meetings of the Remuneration Committee. The Chairman of the Board, the CEO, 
and/or the Global Head of HR must withdraw during consideration of agenda items relat-
ing directly to them. After every Remuneration Committee meeting, a set of minutes and  
a summary of topics discussed, decisions taken and recommendations made is sent to the 
Board of Directors. The Remuneration Committee convenes at least twice annually. During 
the reporting year, the Remuneration Committee convened three times for ordinary 
meetings and also held other discussions.

2. Procedures for Setting and Approving Remuneration

Regular Benchmarking and External Consultants

In keeping with normal industry practice, Siegfried regularly benchmarks remuneration levels 
for its employees against those of other multinational companies in order to ensure com-
petitiveness on the labor market. Employees who satisfy the technical and behavioral criteria 
associated with a given position and meet agreed performance targets receive a total 
remuneration package that is in line with the benchmark market median for similar positions 
in comparable companies. For this purpose, Siegfried works with independent external 
remuneration specialists. For the majority of locations, the internal salary structure was reviewed 
and adjusted as necessary during the reporting year on the basis of external market data.

The remuneration packages of Siegfried’s Executive Committee and Board members are 
regularly reviewed and compared with data from executive studies, benchmarks, and disclosures 
of companies that are comparable in terms of size and structure, business mix, model, and 
geographical structure; the extent to which the selected companies compete with Siegfried 
for the same highly qualified employees is also factored into the equation. Due to the 
acquisitions completed in 2015, the remuneration packages were reviewed on the basis of 
an executive study undertaken in collaboration with Mercer as the external partner. This  
study shows that total target remuneration at Siegfried continues to be competitive, due in 
particular to the performance-based STIP and LTIP remuneration components. Accordingly,  
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if corporate performance is within the defined target bandwidth, the Executive Committee 
receives remuneration within the range of the market median.

Process for Approving Remuneration

Remuneration is set and approved as follows.

Process for defining and approving remuneration CEO Remuneration  Committee Board of Directors General Meeting

Principles of remuneration for the Board  
of Directors

Makes proposal Proposes  
a  motion

Enacts

Remuneration model for CEO (incl. short-  
and long-term performance-based 
 remuneration in the form of cash or shares) 
and terms of employment contract

Makes proposal Proposes  
a  motion

Enacts

Remuneration model for the Executive 
 Committee (incl. short- and long-term 
 performance-based remuneration in the  
form of cash or shares)

Makes proposal Recommends Proposes  
a  motion

Enacts

Maximum total remuneration for the Board  
of Directors for the term of office lasting  
until the next Ordinary General Meeting

Makes proposal Enacts Approves

Maximum total remuneration for the fixed 
remuneration of the Executive Committee 
(incl. the CEO) for the following financial year

Makes proposal Recommends Enacts Approves

Maximum total short-term performance- 
based remuneration of the Executive 
 Committee (incl. the CEO) for the previous 
financial year

Makes proposal Recommends Enacts Approves

Maximum total long-term performance- 
based remuneration of the Executive 
 Committee (incl. the CEO) for the current 
 financial year

Makes proposal Recommends Enacts Approves

Principles of share and profit-sharing plans Makes proposal Enacts

HR and remuneration policy Makes proposal Enacts

The following remuneration elements were approved at the General Meeting on  
April 14, 2015:

   —  maximum total for overall remuneration of the Board of Directors for the 2015 / 2016  
term of office

—  maximum total for the fixed overall remuneration of the Executive Committee for 2016
—  short-term, performance-based remuneration for the Executive Committee for 2014
—  long-term, performance-based remuneration for the Executive Committee for 2015
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3. Principles of Remuneration Policy and Remuneration Elements

Principles of Remuneration Policy

Recruiting, developing, and retaining qualified and talented managers and professional 
specialists are crucial factors for the success of the company. The remuneration structure and 
its elements are geared towards achieving this goal and are based on the following funda-
mental objectives:

—  ensure an effective link between individual performance and sustainable enterprise value 
for Siegfried’s shareholders;

—  reward individual performance, competence, and desired behaviors;
—  create a sustainable performance culture by implementing performance-related 

 remuneration that is contingent on the Group’s success;
—  set effective incentives by balancing long and short-term remuneration elements;
—  act fairly and transparently when making and communicating remuneration-related 

decisions;
—  ensure market competitiveness;
—  comply with all legal and regulatory requirements relating to remuneration including,  

in particular, those regarding minimum wages, equal pay for men and women, and 
provisions linked to the disclosure and approval of remuneration for Siegfried’s most 
senior decision-making bodies;

—  ensure that dilution resulting from share-based remuneration does not exceed 1.0%  
per year (long-term average).

Remuneration Elements

In line with market practice, Siegfried’s remuneration model is designed as a package 
consisting of fixed and performance-based elements.

An employee’s total remuneration mix is contingent on his / her function, responsibilities, 
experience, and location. In the reporting year, employee remuneration was composed  
of the following elements:

1. Fixed remuneration – annual base salary

2. Performance-based remuneration
 (i) Short-term, performance-based remuneration (Short Term Incentive Plan, STIP)
 (ii) Long-term, performance-based remuneration (Long Term Incentive Plan, LTIP) 

3. Additional remuneration elements 
 (i) Additional benefits, in line with market practice
 (ii) Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP) 
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Element Instrument Purpose Criteria Target Group

Fi
xe

d 
 

re
m

un
er

at
io

n Annual base salary Monthly cash payment Attracting and retaining 
 employees

Requirements of the job, 
 employee experience and ability, 
job performance, local market 
conditions

All employees

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

-b
as

ed
  

re
m

un
er

at
io

n

Short-term, 
 performance-based 
 remuneration (STIP)

Annual cash payment Rewarding employees’ 
 performance and contribution  
to enterprise value

Achieving corporate, functional, 
and individual targets in a given 
financial year

All employees 
(excluding Board 
members)

Long-term, 
 performance-based 
 remuneration (LTIP)

Annual grant of 
 performance share units 
(PSUs)

Ensuring a sustainable increase  
in enterprise value; aligning the 
 interests of shareholders and 
management

Achieving corporate targets  
at the end of the three-year 
 performance period

Management 
 (excluding Board 
members)

A
dd

iti
on

al
 b

en
efi

ts

Additional benefits Pension plan and fringe 
benefits

Safeguarding employees and  
their dependents in old age or in 
the event of illness

Local market conditions,  
laws and other regulations

All employees

Employee Share 
 Purchase Plan (ESPP)

Employee participation 
plan, which allows 
 employees to purchase 
Siegfried shares at a 
 discounted price

Strengthening employees’ interest 
in and loyalty to the company; 
enabling employees to take a 
stake in the company’s success via 
a potential share price increase

Size of initital investment,  
share price development

Employees  
below 
 Management

The performance-based share of remuneration depends on an individual’s functional level;  
the higher the level, the larger the share. 

Performance- 
based  
remuneration

Long Term Incentive  
(LTI)

ESPP

Short Term Incentive  
(STI)

Fixed  
remuneration

Base salary /  
Additional benefits

Executive 
 Committee

Senior 
 Management

Management Employees
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Fixed Remuneration – Annual Base Salary

Each employee receives an annual base salary that is linked to the requirements of the position, 
the individual’s experience, capabilities and performance, and local market conditions. The 
salary band positioning of employees who meet the expected performance and qualification 
parameters in full corresponds to the market median for comparable positions in the 
 chemicals industry. Annual adjustments are made individually in light of internal and external 
benchmarks regarding the competitiveness of salaries, employee performance, and the 
overall economic health of the company. Salary adjustments only occur automatically in cases 
where they are required by law. Typically, no provision is made for base salary adjustments  
in the course of a given year.

Short-Term, Performance-Based Remuneration  
(Short Term Incentive Plan, STIP)

The Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP) allows Siegfried to customize employee incentives across 
all functional levels. The Short Term Incentive (STI) rewards an individual’s performance  
and contribution to enterprise value, based on a retrospective consideration at the end of 
each financial year; it is paid in cash (at nominal value) in the following year.

The performance-based remuneration paid out under the STIP is contingent on the achieve-
ment of corporate, functional, and individual targets. A personal target bonus assuming 
100% target achievement (“target STI”) is defined for each plan participant. The target STI 
depends on the requirements of the plan participant’s position as well as on related respon-
sibilities, functional level, and local market conditions. The target categories and associated 
weighting applicable to each employee depend on the employee’s functional level and are 
defined in a target matrix.

Under the STIP, targets are set annually for one financial year (performance period). 
 Responsibility for defining STIP targets depends on the functional level of the employee,  
and is assigned as follows:

Level 

Corporate targets
Setting and approval  
of targets and 
target achievement

Functional targets
Setting and approval  
of targets and  
target achievement

Individual targets
Setting and approval  
of targets and  
target achievement

CEO

Board of Directors

n. a.
Chairman of  
the Board of Directors

Executive Committee CEO CEO

Senior Management

Executive Committee Line ManagerManagement

Employees
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As a general rule, the corporate targets used are the key operational and strategic performance 
indicators in the chemical industry: EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation  
and amortization) and ROCE (return on capital employed). Each year, the Board of Directors 
sets and approves the target values based on the figures in Siegfried’s medium-term plan-
ning (5-year horizon) and on the budget figures defined for the following year. The annually 
defined EBITDA and ROCE figures are geared to achievement of the long-term EBITDA and 
ROCE goals which also provide the basis for the LTIP.

Functional targets (quantitative and qualitative) are derived from Siegfried’s strategy, 
operational priorities, and corporate targets and are based on the overall performance of a 
given function. They are defined in a top-down process by the Executive Committee and  
are broken down incrementally into individual departments, locations, and teams. Functional 
targets are, for the most part, predefined KPIs related to steering the operational business 
and achieving corporate targets. Typical key indicators include net working capital (defined as 
a percentage of sales revenue), safety statistics per location (number of notifiable events as 
per international OHSA [Occupational Safety and Health Administration] standards), adherence 
to clients’ quality and delivery specifications (OTIF: on time in full), and active management  
of overdues.

Individual targets relate to the performance of the employee and usually take the form  
of project, leadership, or behavioral targets which are agreed bilaterally between the line 
manager and the employee.

At the end of the one-year performance period, target achievement of the corporate, func-
tional, and individual targets is assessed. The achievement scale ranges from 0 to maximum 
200% for corporate targets, and from 0 to maximum 150% for functional and individual 
targets. An individual’s overall target achievement is derived from the weighted sum of target 
achievements. The individual STI is calculated by multiplying the target STI amount by the 
overall target achievement.

Sample calculation of target achievement for a member of middle management with a target 
STI of 10% of fixed annual base salary:

Target category Weighting of target category Target achievement Weighted target achievement

Corporate targets 30% 90% 27%

Functional targets 40% 125% 50%

Individual targets 30% 110% 33%

Overall target achievement 110%

Actual STI: target STI (10%) × overall target achievement (110%) = 11% of annual base salary
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Year 1

Setting target values

Grant of a defined number of PSUs

Year 3Year 2

Defining target achievement

Allocation of shares

Performance period (3 financial years)

Vesting period (3 years after grant) Unblocked shares

Long-Term, Performance-Based Remuneration  
(Long Term Incentive Plan, LTIP)

The Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) is a long-term, performance-based remuneration ele- 
ment aimed at ensuring a sustainable increase in enterprise value, an alignment of interests 
between plan participants and shareholders, and the retention of management with the 
company. The LTIP is open to members of the Executive Committee and management as 
well as to employees selected annually by the Board of Directors and Executive Committee 
whose contribution has substantial influence on Siegfried’s long-term development. The LTIP 
therefore links a portion of the Executive Committee’s and management’s performance- 
based remuneration to the long-term development of the Group.

Every year, as part of their total remuneration package, plan participants are granted a fixed 
number of Performance Share Units (PSUs); the number of PSUs is separately defined for  
each individual plan member by the Board of Directors. Each PSU is a non-binding entitlement 
to a maximum of two Siegfried shares depending on the company evolving satisfactorily and 
on the achievement of pre-defined targets during the three-year performance period. Where 
applicable, a transfer of shares takes place after a three-year vesting period (three-year 
period starting on the date of the actual grant of the PSUs and ending on the same day three 
calendar years later).

For the purposes of the LTIP, Siegfried’s long-term performance is gauged according to the 
compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of the capital market KPI “total shareholder return” 
(TSR), and the operational KPIs EBITDA and ROCE. When defining and signing off the KPIs, 
the Board of Directors gave equal weight to the dual priorities of sustainable increase in 
enterprise value and alignment of the interests of management and shareholders.

The Board of Directors has defined a CAGR of 8% as a long-term target value for TSR.  
The Board of Directors defines target EBITDA and ROCE values annually for each new PSU 
grant, taking account of the Group’s five-year medium-term planning.
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Target achievement of TSR CAGR for a performance period is set according to the “relevant 
market price at inception” (the average closing share price of the Siegfried share on the 
SIX Swiss Exchange over the last twelve months’ stock trading days up to the inception date 
of the relevant performance period) and the “relevant market price at closing” (the average 
closing share price of the Siegfried share on the SIX Swiss Exchange over the last twelve months’ 
stock trading days up to the closing date of the relevant performance period). Both the 
relevant market price at inception and at closing are adjusted for corporate events such as 
payment of dividends, payouts from the capital contribution reserve, capital increases, 
(reverse) share splits, and changes to the nominal value of shares.

EBITDA target achievement following a performance period is defined as cumulative EBITDA 
over the three-year performance period. The key parameters for calculating ROCE are EBITDA 
and capital employed during the last year of a given performance period.

KPIs
Key performance indicator  
and definition Setting target values Target value Weighting

Capital market 
KPI

CAGR of total shareholder 
 return (TSR) over the  
three-year performance period The Board of Directors 

reviews and sets  
target values annually 
for each new PSU  
grant

TSR CAGR of 8%
(minimum level: 4%,  
maximum level: 12%)

70%

Operational 
KPI

Cumulative EBITDA over a 
 given three-year performance 
period

Set annually, taking into 
 account the company’s 
 medium-term planning

15%

ROCE of the last year in  
the three-year performance 
period

Set annually, taking into 
 account the company’s 
 medium-term planning

15%

The number of shares transferred per PSU to the plan participant at the end of the three-year 
vesting period depends on the achievement level (performance factor) for TSR CAGR target 
values and operational targets set by the Board for the relevant period. In calculating the 
performance factor, target achievement for desired TSR CAGR receives a 70% weighting and 
target achievement for desired operational targets receives a 30% weighting.

The performance factor may have a value between 0 and 2. If targets are reached, the perfor-
mance factor is given a value of 1 and the plan participant receives 1 share per PSU. If targets 
are exceeded, the plan participant may receive a maximum of 2 shares per PSU. The value  
of shares allocated at the end of the vesting period is determined according to the market price 
at the time of allocation. If the minimum targets are not reached, the PSUs lapse without 
compensation.

Furthermore, shares may only be transferred following the three-year vesting period provided 
the plan participant has a valid employment relationship with the company. If the plan 
participant terminates his/her employment contract during the vesting period, the PSUs lapse 
without compensation.
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In order to ensure a sustainable increase in enterprise value and an alignment of interests 
between the Executive Committee/management and Siegfried’s shareholders, LTIP participants 
must meet certain equity participation requirements. Participants must thus hold a certain 
number of Siegfried shares for the duration of their participation in the plan. The number of 
shares to be held is twice the number of PSUs granted under the LTIP at the last grant date. 
New employees joining the plan must meet these equity participation requirements within a 
defined period by using their own funds to invest in Siegfried shares.

The following table provides an overview of granted and outstanding entitlements (PSUs) 
from the LTIP. 

Overview of Outstanding PSUs 
2014 2015

Number of PSUs granted 25 076 25 409

Outstanding PSU grant as per December 31, 2015 22 835 24 594

Lapsed PSUs as per December 31, 20151 1 962 815

Shares granted from PSUs as per December 31, 20152 279 0

1 Entitlement lapsed due to termination of employment relationship by employee or Siegfried.
2 Pro rata share transfer based on 100% target achievement due to termination of employment on retirement.

Additional Benefits

Additional benefits include, first and foremost, retirement pensions and insurance to cover 
staff in the event of disability, death, or illness. They provide security for employees and their 
families in the event of retirement, illness, incapacity for work, or death. The form and 
amount of such additional benefits are governed by local market circumstances, legislation, 
and customs.

In Switzerland and abroad, Siegfried operates a number of insurance plans that cover staff 
against the risks of death, disability, and old age. The amount of pension benefits depends 
on the employee’s number of insured years, age, insured salary, and accumulated capital.

In Switzerland, a supplementary defined-contribution pension plan is available for individuals 
whose income exceeds a given threshold. All members of the Executive Committee are 
enrolled in this pension plan.

Both employee and employer contribute to the aforementioned pension plans.

The assets of the funded pension plans are held in separate foundations or by insurers and 
cannot flow back to the employer.
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Moreover, accrual-funded direct commitments are in place in Germany; these are  
recognized on the balance sheet as pension liabilities. The relevant accruals are revalued  
each year.

Plans also exist for anniversaries or other benefits linked to years of service.

Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP)

The Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP) allows employees in all locations to purchase 
Siegfried shares at a discounted price. Shares may be purchased twice a year (in May and 
November) at a discount of 30% versus the defined purchase price and are subject to  
a restriction period of three years from the date of purchase. The defined purchase price is 
equivalent to the average closing price of the Siegfried share on the SIX Swiss Exchange  
over the six months’ stock trading days prior to the purchase. Employees may invest up to 
10% of their annual base salary in the ESPP.

As of 2016, the content of the existing ESPP has been slightly revised and the processes have 
been simplified. From now on, the only employees who may participate in the ESPP are  
those who are not entitled to participate in the LTIP (up to now only the Executive Committee 
and the Board of Directors were excluded from participating in the ESPP). Another new 
feature is that the shares can now be acquired on only one occasion per year, in April, at a 
discount of 30% versus the defined purchase price. There are no changes to the method  
of calculating the purchase price or the restriction periods. The revised ESPP will be introduced 
in April 2016 at all locations where legal and tax regulations allow this.

Share Transition Plan for Former BASF Employees 

In the context of Siegfried Group’s takeover of three BASF manufacturing sites (Evionnaz, 
Minden and St. Vulbas), which closed at the end of September 2015, a transition plan  
was introduced for former BASF employees. The transition plan replaces the BASF employee 
share purchase plan which will be discontinued for the BASF staff who have now joined 
Siegfried. The ten-year transition plan is designed to ensure that former BASF employees 
receive adequate compensation for their entitlements under the BASF share purchase  
scheme at the time of the takeover by Siegfried. Under this plan, former BASF employees  
will be allocated a maximum of 4332 Siegfried shares free of charge. 
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4. Remuneration of the Board of Directors 

The remuneration model for members of the Board of Directors is geared to recruiting and 
retaining experienced and motivated individuals to carry out the duties of a Board member. 
Board members receive a fixed cash and a share-based component (fixed number of shares).  
By incentivizing Board members to further the success of the company and increase enterprise 
value over the long term, the share component ensures that the interests of Siegfried’s 
 Directors and shareholders are aligned. Members of the Board of Directors do not receive  
any performance-based remuneration.

The cash component consists of a base fee for the Board mandate, and fees for individual 
functions as Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors or as Chair of a Committee 
of the Board. In addition, for each term of office, Board members receive an expense allow-
ance covering all incidental expenses relating to their professional duties.

Shares are allocated at the beginning of a Board member’s term of office following the 
approval of Directors’ remuneration by the Ordinary General Meeting. These shares are 
subject to a three-year restriction period. Should a member of the Board of Directors give 
notice during the current term of office, he/she undertakes to transfer the shares back  
on a pro rata basis.

The following table shows remuneration rates for the 2015 / 2016 term of office:

Base Fee Cash component
Lump sum  

expense allowance Number of restricted shares

Chairman  
of the Board of Directors 160 000 20 000 1 000

Vice-Chairman  
of the Board of Directors 80 000 10 000 500

Other members  
of the Board of Directors 60 000 10 000 500

Fees for individual functions

Chair of Committee 20 000

The following tables show remuneration paid/allocated in the reporting year and the  
prior year.

Remuneration of the Board of Directors is shown by financial year. The share component  
of the remuneration is valued as per Swiss GAAP FER.
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Remuneration Paid to the Board of Directors in the 2015 Reporting Year (Audited)
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Andreas Casutt (Chairman) 160 000 20 000 180 000 157 007 17 118 354 125

Thomas Villiger (Vice-Chairman;  
Chair of Remuneration Committee) 93 334 10 000 103 334 78 503 9 660 191 497

Colin Bond (Member;  
Chair of Audit Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 78 503 8 938 177 441

Wolfram Carius 3 (Member;  
Chair of Strategy Committee) 73 333 10 000 83 333 78 503 161 836

Reto Garzetti (Member) 60 000 10 000 70 000 78 503 7 750 156 253

Total (serving members  
on December 31, 2015) 466 667 60 000 526 667 471 019 43 466 1 041 152

Felix K. Meyer  4 (former Vice-Chairman  
& Chair of Strategy Committee) 33 333 3 333 36 666 27 037 3 343 67 046

Total (on December 31, 2015,  
including former members) 500 000 63 333 563 333 498 056 46 809 1 108 198

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross amounts and were booked according to the accrual principle (4⁄12 for the 2014 / 2015 term of office; 8⁄12 for the 2015 / 2016  
term of office).
1 Fixed number of shares as part of Board of Directors remuneration; valued as per Swiss GAAP FER.
2 Incl. social security deductions on the tax value of the pro rata share component of the fixed Board of Directors remuneration (allocated in 2015) for the 2015 / 2016 term.
3 Fulfills social security obligations in his principal country of employment.
4 Felix K. Meyer tendered his resignation as Vice-Chairman of the Board and Chair of Strategy Committee at the General Meeting on April 14, 2015.

In 2015, no remuneration was paid to the members of the Board of Directors other than  
that presented above.

During the 2015 / 2016 term of office, Board of Directors remuneration totaled CHF 1.04 million; 
the figure approved at the General Meeting was CHF 1.25 million.
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Remuneration Paid to the Board of Directors for the 2015 / 2016 Term of Office (Projection)
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Andreas Casutt (Chairman) 160 000 20 000 180 000 153 330 17 000 350 330

Thomas Villiger (Member;
Chair of Remuneration Committee) 100 000 10 000 110 000 76 665 10 100 196 765

Colin Bond (Member;  
Chair of Audit Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 76 665 8 971 175 636

Wolfram Carius 3 (Member; 
Chair of Strategy Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 76 665 0 166 665

Reto Garzetti (Member) 60 000 10 000 70 000 76 665 7 881 154 546

Total (term of office 2015 / 2016,  
serving members) 4 480 000 60 000 540 000 459 990 43 952 1 043 942

Approved by the General Meeting 1 250 000

The remuneration figures shown in the table apply to the 2015 / 2016 term of office (May 2015–April 2016).
1  Fixed number of shares as part of Board of Directors remuneration; Value per share as approved by the General Meeting 2015 (CHF 153.33).
2  Incl. social security deductions on the tax value of the share component of the fixed Board of Directors remuneration (allocated in 2015) for the 2015 / 2016 term of office.
3  Fulfills social security obligations in his principal country of employment.
4  Projected total until the end of the 2015 / 2016 term of office.

Remuneration Paid to the Board of Directors in the 2014 Reporting Year (Audited)
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Andreas Casutt (Chairman) 133 334 16 666 150 000 127 847 14 396 292 243

Felix K. Meyer (Vice-Chairman;  
Chair of Strategy Committee) 93 334 10 000 103 334 73 773 9 616 186 723

Reto Garzetti (Member) 60 000 10 000 70 000 73 773 7 721 151 494

Thomas Villiger (Member;  
Chair of Remuneration Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 73 773 8 863 172 636

Colin Bond (Member;  
Chair of Audit Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 73 773 8 949 172 722

Wolfram Carius3, 4 (Member) 40 000 6 667 46 667 54 073 0 100 740

Total (serving members  
on December 31, 2014) 486 668 63 333 550 001 477 012 49 545 1 076 558

Gilbert Achermann5 (former Chairman) 53 333 6 667 60 000 39 400 9 256 108 656

Total (including former members,  
as at December 31, 2014) 540 001 70 000 610 001 516 412 58 801 1 185 214

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross amounts and were booked according to the accrual principle (4⁄12 for the 2013 / 2014 term of office; 8⁄12 for the 2014 / 2015  
term of office).
1  Fixed number of shares as part of Board of Directors remuneration; valued as per Swiss GAAP FER.
2  Incl. social security deductions on the tax value of the pro rata share component of the fixed Board of Directors remuneration (allocated in 2014) for the 2014 / 2015 term of office.
3  New Board member since 2014 / 2015 term of office.
4  Fulfills social security obligations in his principal country of employment.
5  Gilbert Achermann tendered his resignation as Chairman of the Board at the General Meeting on March 26, 2014.
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5. Remuneration of Executive Committee Members

Siegfried’s remuneration model is designed as a package consisting of fixed and performance- 
based components in line with market practice. The Executive Committee’s remuneration  
is comprised of a fixed base salary, a short-term, performance-based component (STI), a long- 
term, performance-based component (LTI), and additional benefits. When the remuneration 
structure was defined, the envisaged guidance figures were set as follows: the CEO’s total 
target remuneration is comprised of 40% of the fixed base salary (50% for the Executive 
Committee), and 30% each for the short- and long-term performance-based components 
(STI and LTI) (25% each for the Executive Committee).

The following table summarizes the Executive Committee’s remuneration in the reporting year 
and indicates the highest individual remuneration for services rendered in the reporting year 
(CEO). The remuneration is broken down into the components listed above: fixed base salary, 
short- and long-term performance-based remuneration, and social security expenditure. The 
performance-based STI and LTI components are described in more detail later in this report.

Remuneration Paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2015 
Reporting Year (Audited)
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Highest individual 
 remuneration:  
Rudolf Hanko 570 000 353 799 923 799 261 612 76 040 95 337 1 356 788

Other Executive 
 Committee members 2 092 400 911 080 3 003 480 599 529 228 498 294 275 4 125 782

Total  
(at December 31, 2015) 2 662 400 1 264 879 3 927 279 861 141 304 538 389 612 5 482 570

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross and are based on the accrual principle.
1 To be paid out in April 2016 after approval at General Meeting.
2 Includes PSUs granted in 2015 for plan period 2015–2017; PSUs are valued as per external consultant ALGOFIN (CHF 72.67 per PSU).
3 Includes an assumed 7% social insurance contribution on both the 2015 STI and PSUs granted in 2015.
4 Doesn’t include fringe benefits (REKA money, child and family allowances, employer contributions to BU/NBU) in the amount  
 of CHF 20 000.

In 2015, no remuneration was paid to the Executive Committee members other than that 
presented above.

Based on 2015 target achievement and subject to the approval of the General Meeting,  
STI remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2015 reporting year is 
CHF 1 264 879 (excluding social security contributions). This is 88.20% of the target 
amount. The amounts are stated at nominal value.
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Actual STI to be Paid to the CEO and Executive Committee for the 2015 
Reporting Year
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CEO 75%  427 500  353 799 82.76%  378 565 

Other Executive 
 Committee members 45% – 50%  1 006 552  911 080 90.51%  974 855

Total  1 434 052  1 264 879 88.20%  1 353 420

1 To be paid out in April 2016 after approval at General Meeting.
2 Assuming 7% social security contributions.

The value of the PSUs granted to members of the Executive Committee for the three-year 
performance period January 1, 2015 – December 31, 2017 under the LTIP is reported once and 
in full as Executive Committee remuneration in 2015. In 2015, the CEO and the Executive 
Committee were granted a total of 11 850 PSUs. At the time of allocation, an external valuation 
expert used best practice methods to determine the fair value of one PSU as CHF 72.67. This 
fair value at the time of allocation is the amount based on which remuneration in the reporting 
year and relevant social insurance contributions due are calculated. In the event of a share 
transfer, the actual income received by Executive Committee members at the end of the vesting 
period may deviate from the fair value assigned to the PSUs on allocation: this is due to the 
performance factor and the share price at the time of transfer.

In order to ensure full transparency, the PSUs allocated in the reporting year are shown as 
totals in the following table of remuneration paid to the Executive Committee. In the 
 Consolidated Financial Statements, however, LTIP expenses are distributed over the three-year 
performance period.
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PSUs Allocated to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2015 Reporting Year

Value at 100% target achievement
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2015 –2017

CEO

09.03.2015
01.01.2015 – 
31.12.2017

09.03.2015 – 
09.03.2018

09.03.2018

3 600 261 612 18 313

0%– 
200%

Other members  
of the Executive 
 Committee 8 250 599 529 41 967

Total 11 850 861 141 60 280

Total cost to enterprise 921 421

Approved sum3 922 000

1  PSUs are valued as per external consultant ALGOFIN (CHF 72.67 per PSU).
2 Includes an assumed 7% social insurance contribution.
3 Approval of PSUs allocated in the financial year 2015 for the performance period 2015–2017 at the General Meeting 2015.

Remuneration Paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2014 Reporting Year (Audited)
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Highest individual remuneration:  
Rudolf Hanko 570 000 128 250 698 250 586 764 83 012 86 597 1 454 623

Other Executive Committee members 5 2 309 900 529 317 2 839 217 1 453 329 244 812 325 293 4 862 651

Total (at December 31, 2014) 2 879 900 657 567 3 537 467 2 040 093 327 824 411 890 6 317 274

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross and are based on the accrual principle.
1 To be paid out in April 2015 after approval at General Meeting.
2  Includes PSUs granted in 2014 for plan period 2014–2017; PSUs are valued as per external consultant ALGOFIN (CHF 162.99 per PSU).
3 Includes an assumed 7% social insurance contribution on both the 2014 STI and PSUs granted in 2014.
4 Doesn’t include fringe benefits (REKA money, child and family allowances, employer contributions to BU/NBU) in the amount of CHF 25 000.
5 Peter Gehler left the Executive Committee on October 31, 2014; prorated remuneration included in calculation.
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6. Shareholdings of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee  
at the End of the Reporting Year 

Shareholdings of Board Members

The following table lists shareholdings of Board members and affiliated persons.

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Board of Directors Total shares of which restricted Total shares of which restricted

Andreas Casutt (Chairman) 16 500 7 975 15 500 12 450

Thomas Villiger (Vice-Chairman) 5 735 4 117 5 235 5 235

Colin Bond (Member) 1 500 1 500 1 000 1 000

Wolfram Carius (Member) 1 000 1 000 500 500

Reto Garzetti (Member) 13 534 5 642 13 034 13 034

Total (serving members) 38 269 20 234 35 269 32 219

Felix K. Meyer1 10 040 10 040

Total  
(including former members) 38 269 20 234 45 309 42 259

In % of share capital 0.92% 0.49% 1.09% 1.02%

1  Felix K. Meyer tendered his resignation as Vice-Chairman of the Board and Chair of Strategy Committee at the General Meeting  
on April 14, 2015.

Shareholdings of Executive Committee Members 

The following table lists shareholdings of Executive Committee members  
and affiliated persons. 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Executive Committee Total shares of which restricted Total shares of which restricted

Rudolf Hanko (CEO) 70 000 31 344 70 745 60 427

Michael Hüsler (CFO) 16 002 15 512 30 002 30 002

René Imwinkelried  
(Head Research & Development) 11 622 6 824 11 047 9 447

Walter Kittl  
(Head Technical Operations) 14 054 11 854 24 054 23 951

Arnoud Middel (Head HR Global) 6 425 6 418 12 625 12 625

Marianne Späne  
(Head Business Development & Sales) 25 180 17 145 34 680 32 799

Wolfgang Wienand  
(Head Strategy and M &A, Legal) 13 716 12 905 26 716 24 816

Total 156 999 102 002 209 869 194 067

In % of share capital 3.78% 2.46% 5.06% 4.68%
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7. Contractual Agreements, Loans, Credits, and Additional Contributions

The employment contracts of Executive Committee members and the CEO are open- 
ended and provide for a notice period of six months. Board mandates are not subject to 
notice periods and terminate ordinarily at the end of the one-year term of office. There  
are no contractual agreements or undertakings in place with respect to severance payments  
or special clauses for members of either the Executive Committee or Board of Directors.

The Long Term Incentive Plan, which entered into effect on January 1, 2014 (see section 4), 
stipulates that

a) In the event of a change of control of Siegfried Holding AG, plan participants will, on  
the date of the change of control, receive a pro-rated number of shares for all PSUs granted 
for ongoing vesting periods. The number of shares to be distributed per PSU is calculated  
on the basis of a valuation method to be determined by the Board of Directors.

b) In the event of a takeover of Siegfried Holding AG which is not endorsed by the Board  
of Directors, shares are distributed to plan participants pro rata and on the basis of 100% 
target achievement as per the date of change of control for all PSUs of an ongoing vesting 
period. The pro-rata entitlement is calculated from the grant date of the PSUs until the  
date of the change of control.

As of December 31, 2015, Siegfried Holding AG and its Group companies do not have any 
outstanding securities, loans, advances or credits to members of the Board of Directors  
or the Executive Committee of Siegfried Holding AG. Further, no securities, loans, advances 
or credits were granted at non-market rates to persons affiliated with current members  
of the Executive Committee or Board of Directors or to former members of the Executive 
Committee or Board of Directors in 2015; nor are any such commitments outstanding  
as at December 31, 2015.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the accompanying remuneration report (tables on pages 60–62 and 64 as 
well as page 66) of Siegfried Holding AG for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of  
the remuneration report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive 
Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance). The Board of Directors is  
also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual remuneration 
packages.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 
14–16 of the Ordinance.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in 
the remuneration report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with 
articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration report, 
whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the 
methods applied to value components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall 
presentation of the remuneration report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide  
a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Siegfried Holding AG for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2015 complies with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

Gerd Tritschler Andreas Kägi 
Audit Expert Audit Expert 
Auditor in charge

Basel, March 8, 2016

Report of the Statutory Auditor 
to the General Meeting of Siegfried Holding AG, Zofingen





Sustainability Report

Within the range of relevant sustainability topics, 
Siegfried focuses on compliance and quality,  
on safety, health and environment (SHE), and on 
its responsibility as an employer.
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Siegfried offers a capability unique in our market: 
the development and production of active 
 pharmaceutical ingredients and finished dosage 
forms under one roof. Both competencies are 
based on the same compliance system.  

Sustainability Report

The combination of synthesis and formulation represents an attractive market opportunity 
for the long-term viability of the company and jobs. These strengths are the cornerstone  
of our efforts and communication activities of our “Transform” strategy. It is also evident  
in our significant infrastructure investments.

Corporate Principles 

Corporate Governance

The Siegfried Group takes an integrated approach to corporate governance and is committed 
to mutual trust and transparence toward customers, shareholders, employees, the media  
and financial analysts. Our experience with the SIX Swiss Exchange guidelines have shown 
that our efforts must focus on sound and long-term relationships with all stakeholders  
and a reasonable application of the relevant instruments. Corporate governance at Siegfried 
is based on the statutes of Siegfried Holding AG, the rules of procedure of the Siegfried 
Group, and the Group structure. The corporate governance report in this Annual Report 
(page 23ff) describes the principles of management and control of the Siegfried Group. 
Corporate governance within the Siegfried Group adheres essentially to the “Swiss Code  
of Best Practice” and is regularly reviewed and upgraded by the Board of Directors. The 
Board is the ultimate body responsible for the content and implementation of our corporate 
governance guidelines. 

Structural Foundation

The Board of Directors and the Executive Committee are the highest institutions responsible 
for the implementation and maintenance of all sustainability policies and guidelines.  
The Compliance Committee, along with the Chief Compliance Officer, is responsible for the 
implementation of compliance and quality standards, and for issues concerning safety,  
health and environment. The Chief Communications Officer supervises the Code of Conduct. 
See: http://www.siegfried.ch/about-siegfried/about-us/code-of-conduct
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Stakeholders

Customers, employees, shareholders, investors and regulatory authorities are Siegfried’s key 
stakeholders. The public and our vendors are further stakeholders. 

Markets

Siegfried is a globally active service provider to the life science industry. This includes inter-
national chemical and pharmaceutical companies that outsource development and production 
activities, or producers of finished dosage forms that buy active pharmaceutical ingredients 
from us.

About the Report

Whenever possible and relevant, this report is based on the guidelines of the Global Report-
ing Initiative (GRI). If not noted elsewhere, the comments made in this report are valid for  
the entire Siegfried Group. Any questions and comments about the report can be submitted 
to Peter A. Gehler, Chief Communications Officer (peter.gehler@siegfried.ch).

Quality Compliance

Siegfried is committed to quality-oriented management and the ongoing improvement  
of all company processes and activities. Our quality policy is an integral part of the corporate 
policy. Audits and inspections confirm the value of compliance and quality. The results of 
customer audits and regulatory inspections confirm our capabilities.

Policies

Siegfried has created a comprehensive quality management system throughout the value 
chain. Based on the procedures set by ISO 9001 (quality management) and ISO 14001 
(environmental management), it covers the following international guidelines:

—  Current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) 
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/sectors/healthcare/human-use

—  International Conference on Harmonization (ICH), defines standards by pharmaceutical 
authorities and industry associations in the USA, Europe, and Japan (www.ich.org)

—  World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines (www.who.int)
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The Compliance Committee (ComCom), comprised of members of Executive Committee, all 
site managers and the corresponding quality managers, meets every month under the direction 
of the Chief Compliance Officer, Dr. Peter Kiechle, to discuss quality issues. Quality-related 
decisions are made by the ComCom, which also approves Siegfried’s worldwide guidelines. 
At the end of 2015, the Siegfried Group had 30 guidelines, dealing mainly with quality  
issues but also in areas of finance, safety, health and environment (SHE), communications 
and employee conduct (Code of Conduct).

Integration of Siegfried Irvine and Siegfried Nantong

Integration of AMP Irvine into the Siegfried quality management system began in 2013 and 
has been mostly completed. In 2015, our main focus was on integration of the Hameln site 
which we pushed forward with the assistance of an external consulting firm. The integration 
work will be completed by mid-2016. 

Nantong now has a tried-and-tested GMP structure and a safety concept following the  
Zofingen example and started production. First customer audits were successfully imple-
mented in 2015. 

Inspections and Audits

As is customary in the pharmaceutical industry, all Siegfried sites are constantly monitored 
through inspections (by regulatory authorities), audits (by customers, or by Siegfried  
at suppliers), and internal audits. Customer and supplier audits are planned in advance. 
Inspections by regulatory authorities and internal audits can occur without notice.

In general, regulatory inspections are carried out:

—  In the USA by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and by the Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA) when narcotics are involved

—  In Switzerland by Swissmedic (inspections are carried out by Regional Inspectorate 
Northwest Switzerland [RHI]) and the US FDA

—  In Malta by the Medicines Authority Malta (MAM) and the US FDA
—  In Germany by the regional authorities

The first customer audits  
were successfully carried out  
in Nantong in 2015.

2015
of the adopted directives  
by the Compliance Commitee  
were active at the end  
of the year under review.

30
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In 2015, GMP inspections by the authorities took place at many sites with positive results.  
The licenses were approved or renewed by the relevant authorities. http://www.siegfried.ch/
competences/compliance/compliance-history/?L=ifxxbjbapuds

Undergoing hundreds of successful inspections and audits over the past years (a total  
of 42 in 2015 in Zofingen alone) allowed Siegfried to measure itself against other company 
systems and regulatory demands and draw instructive conclusions about our application  
of the guidelines. This creates the security for our quality management system and, moreover,  
it serves as a convincing platform to convince our customers of our capabilities. 2016 is 
expected to be another intense year for customer audits and inspections.

Qualifying Suppliers and Service Providers

Raw materials, pharmaceutical excipients and packaging materials, intermediates and, 
occasionally, active pharmaceutical ingredients are often purchased from foreign suppliers. 
Siegfried is responsible for the qualification of such suppliers and maintains a correspond-
ing audit system that meets binding quality standards. This is done through supplier question-
naires, ongoing quality control of the materials and also audits at the manufacturing site.  
Our manufacturers are located mainly in Europe, India, China, and Taiwan. In 2015, as in 
previous years, we carried out over 40 audits of our suppliers and service providers.

Quality Demands and Quality Certificates

The number of inspections and certificates / statements carried out by the pharmaceutical 
industry continues to grow. This is due to increased quality awareness and quality requirements 
as well as accidents, counterfeiting, and sub-standard mixtures. In addition to the traditional 
analysis certificates (with information on appearance, content, purity, physical characteristics, 
and the GMP-conform manufacturing of our products), data and certificates are now also 
needed for:

—  Genotoxic impurities
—  Heparin adulteration
—  Presence of any genetically modified components
—  Presence of TSE / BSE, melamine, benzene, etc.

Siegfried works closely with the US FDA to prevent product piracy to ensure safety for the 
end user.

inspections and audits  
were performed in  
Zofingen in the past year. 

42
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Customer Satisfaction

Siegfried maintains an official customer complaint system to process all inquiries and com-
plaints. All questions and complaints, whether justified or not, are systematically registered 
and evaluated. The type and number of complaints are recorded and the individual cases  
are evaluated and discussed by a quality committee under the direction of the local quality 
assurance manager. If necessary, changes are implemented. The Compliance Committee is 
consulted on critical or strategic issues. The results of the investigation, or at least intermediate 
reports, are communicated to the customer within 30 days. The number of observations 
resulting from audits over the past few years continues to drop. On average, Siegfried receives 
a customer audit every week in Zofingen. Pennsville, Irvine and Malta are also very stable  
and reported no significant issues. 

Quality Contracts with Customers

The mandatory quality agreements between Siegfried and our customers are a growing 
challenge. Customer requirements continue to grow, tighter deadlines are set and even the 
integration of specific customer standards can be required. With over 100 active customer 
accounts, running numerous quality management systems simultaneously is not practical. For 
Siegfried, this means maintaining a sophisticated quality management system that meets  
a range of customer demands. For 2015, nearly 100 quality contracts were signed with our 
partners for the Zofingen, Malta and Pennsville sites. In additional, about 100 quality con-
tracts remain in the pipeline and will be reviewed or negotiated in 2016. Moreover, in this 
regard support of the newly acquired companies and harmonization of standards and 
processes represent additional challenges. 

Good Distribution Practices (GDP)

Since the introduction of new international guidelines in 2013, Good Distribution Practices 
have gained in importance. These practices will protect the complete materials supply  
chain of producer / supplier to Siegfried and Siegfried to our customers from counterfeiting 
and improper storage. Siegfried must ensure that goods are actually delivered into the  
hands of the correct recipients, which means adapting and adding new SAP processes and 
closely monitoring our forwarding agents.
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Goals and Outlook

Our current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) standards and reputation for quality  
are recognized around the world. Siegfried is well aware that it is better to maintain high 
standards than to restore an injured company image. For Siegfried, particular challenges  
in 2016 will be the complete integration of the Hameln Pharma subsidiary acquired end 2014 
and the new companies in Minden, Evionnaz and St. Vulbas.

Safety, Health & Environmental Protection (SHE)

Awareness of the importance of safety, health and environment (SHE) is a top priority at 
Siegfried and a central element of its corporate mission. Based on these principles, our 
employees and specialist teams strive daily to improve safety and minimize adverse environ-
mental effects. As a chemical-pharmaceutical company and leading provider of controlled 
substances, Siegfried puts great emphasis on plant safety and works closely with professional 
service partners. Technical specialists monitor the facilities and the company’s central alarm 
system around the clock. The total costs and investments in safety, health, environmental pro- 
tection and plant safety amount to many million Swiss francs annually. Over 2% of our 
global personnel works full-time in SHE areas. 

Policy Guidelines and Key Figures

Siegfried is a member of the “Science Industries Switzerland” association and also co-signer 
of the Responsible Care® program in 1992. Based on these principles, our internal SHE 
guidelines were compiled as a global SHE policy in 2006 and declared mandatory for all sites. 

Siegfried uses Key Performance Indicators (KPI) in SHE to guide management processes  
and performance evaluations. We report on our activities based on previous accident and 
environmental statistics, thus enabling a comprehensive SHE overview at Siegfried. When 
reporting on workplace accidents and other activities, we supplement our previous data on 
“total workplace accidents and workplace sickness”, as well as “workplace accidents with 
absences” by an additional parameter: “Accident Points”. This allows us to report not only 
accidents involving personnel but also property damage and / or environmental impacts,  
as well as accident severity. For more information: http://www.siegfried.ch/competences/
compliance/safety-health-environment. 
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Safety and Health

Risk Management
Efficient and safe chemical processes are key elements of process development. All chemical 
processes undergo comprehensive environmental and safety audits. Our internal safety lab  
in Zofingen has well-trained specialists and the newest measurement instruments for physical 
and thermal materials testing. Flammability, danger of explosion, and responses in emergen-
cies and during normal operations are tested and evaluated. These findings are summarized in 
a safety and environmental report and evaluated as part of a process risk analysis.

As part of our accident prevention measures, accident scenarios in production, storage and 
internal transport of chemical substances undergo a comprehensive risk analysis. The results 
are summarized in a report and reviewed by the regulatory authorities during their annual 
inspection. For emergency situations, Siegfried maintains on-site emergency response teams 
to react to explosions, fires or chemical incidents. The Zofingen HAZMAT (hazardous mate-
rials) and firefighting teams and the Minden firefighting team have over 100 volunteers from 
all departments. As an additional assignment and mandated by the authorities, these 
organizations also function as the official HAZMAT response team for incidents outside our 
facility. Our Evionnaz facility also has an on-site emergency response team.

How do I act in case of an emergency? Regular training sessions address this and similar 
 questions about fighting fires or first aid; subsequent evacuation drills add a practical aspect.  
A new evacuation concept with “floor managers” was successfully implemented in our  
new administration building (>100 workplaces) in Zofingen. Siegfried employees must regularly 
complete fire extinguisher training sessions, which has practical benefits for both the work-
place and home.

As the construction site at Zofingen took shape in 2014, the environmental risks were 
comprehensively evaluated as part of an environmental impact assessment (EIA). The report 
confirmed that environmental protection regulations were consistently met. Company 
activities comply with the guidelines and are not expected to have significant effects on 
local inhabitants and the environment.

Workplace Safety
Siegfried strives to create a company culture with zero tolerance for accidents, which serves 
as the vision for the Siegfried Safety Program launched in 2006. The program goal is to  
raise safety awareness among our employees around the world. In 2013, executive manage-
ment initiated a global safety program with experts from DuPont Sustainable Solutions –  
the STOP™ Program with five new cardinal rules – to promote this goal. This program will 
help all our employees develop a greater awareness of safety at the workplace: their own 
safety and their colleagues’. The STOP™ Program goal is to reduce the accident rate for 2017 
by 80% compared to the 2012 levels. Third party companies in Zofingen also actively 
participate in this safety program.
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During the past two years, over 200 employees at our Hameln, Malta, Pennsville, Irvine  
and Zofingen facilities have completed the STOP™ Program training to heighten their safety 
awareness and enable employees to discuss safety issues more effectively with their col-
leagues. Maintaining safety as an ongoing topic of discussion forms the heart of the program. 
It is not just about observation and problem-reporting, but also about identifying and 
praising responsible behavior and safe situations.

In 2015, hundreds of safety discussions took place at participating facilities. An analysis  
of reported STOP activities in Zofingen shows that the vast majority of employees are aware 
of safety during their work.

Number of reported safety dialogs 435

Individual observations 12 200

Observations rated “safe” 11 700

Observations rated “unsafe” 500

To further raise safety awareness in 2015, Siegfried collaborated with the Forum Theatre 
Zurich to present an interactive “work safety” performance. Tailored to the Siegfried 
 workplace, the program dealt with unsafe situations and met with great interest, which led  
to lively and constructive discussions among participating employees.

As part of the STOP™ Safety Program, five cardinal safety rules were launched in a com 
pany-wide safety campaign in 2014. They describe key safety risks and employees were 
encouraged to apply them in their daily work during the past year. Compliance to the rules  
is mandatory and failure to comply results in disciplinary measures.

less accidents compared with  
the referenced year 2012  
thanks to the security program:  
this ambitious goal is to be 
achieved by 2017.

80%

newly implemented cardinal  
rules together with the  
STOPTM program form the  
core elements of the  
Siegfried security program. 

5
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Our five cardinal rules are:

—  We know the required Personal Protection Equipment (PPE) and use it consistently.
—  We perform work only after we have completed the required safety training. 
—  We safeguard against falling down when working above two meters (six feet in US).
—  Before starting any maintenance work we lock out the system and secure it (tag out).
—  We do not tolerate removal, manipulation or by-passing of safety devices

In 2015, “working safely high up” was a key safety initiative in Zofingen. Various measures 
were initiated to help prevent serious workplace accidents:

—  Training employees in the use of fall prevention equipment
—  Procurement of various safety materials
—  Providing training for mobile elevating work platforms 
—  Acquisition of a mobile platform for repair and maintenance work
—  Retrofitting upper floors with permanent fall protection elements

A team in Zofingen developed a concept for safe entry and working in chemical reactors, 
storage tanks and power line tunnels to improve operational safety and health. A new  
mobile rescue system was introduced to enable rapid response in an emergency situation.

The “site safety coordinator” position was maintained in Zofingen due to the constant 
construction activity and the implementation of workplace safety measures, which has 
proved very beneficial.

Audits 
During 2015, all Siegfried facilities hosted inspections by national and international regula-
tory agencies, insurance companies and various customers. The inspectors and customers 
certified that Siegfried has a well-integrated risk and environmental management system. 
No irregularities were noted during risk analyses carried out by HDI Gerling, an insurance 
company. Our facilities in Zofingen, Malta, Irvine and Pennsville met all liability compliance 
guidelines for plant safety and fire prevention; the facilities were rated in the top 10% in  
the risk benchmark ratings. HDI Gerling also carried out its first analysis of our Hameln facility 
and attested a very good safety system and adequate fire prevention system for the site.

A system of internal audits and safety walkabouts in Zofingen and Pennsville is well- 
established since 2005. Over 100 safety and environmental audits were carried out at both 
facilities, resulting in numerous corrective measures. The audit teams suggested almost 
170 corrective measures for Zofingen alone (over 70% were implemented in 2015).
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For the first time, the Hameln facility statistics were recorded over 12 months with 12 work-
place accidents for a total of 48 absentee days.

Over the past three years the Irvine pharmaceutical facility has continued to improve its 
accident rate and registered no accidents in 2015 for the first time.

The Nantong (China) facility recorded five workplace accidents per thousand employees in 
2015 (after the previous year with zero accidents).

The number of workplace accidents per thousand employees was halved in Malta, from  
30 to 14, compared to the previous year.

Zofingen reduced the number of accidents by around 10% to 16 workplace accidents per 
thousand employees. This number is lower than the Swiss chemical and pharmaceutical 
industry average (2014: 23 accidents). No absences were recorded for half of the workplace 
accidents.

Events, Workplace Accidents and Absences
Since 2013 Siegfried has applied “accident points” as part of a comprehensive risk assess-
ment, in addition to accident figures, property damage statistics and environmental events. 
Accident points are calculated as follows: 1 point for each day of absence, 1 point per 
accident / sickness without lost work days, and 0.5 points per event with significant property 
damage or environmental impacts. This system adds transparency to the events report at 
Siegfried. The chart below compares the Siegfried facility accidents in 2015. The goal of less 
than 47 / 71 “accident points per 1 million working hours”, was met (with one exception)  
by four facilities.

The accident statistics of each Siegfried facility in 2015:
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Unfortunately, Pennsville recorded an above average number of accidents. This situation will 
be examined more closely in 2016; efforts will be made (with external support) to improve 
safety awareness and behavior across all employee levels.

At Group level, Siegfried was able to reduce the number of workplace accidents by 40%  
over the past four years. Overall, the majority of accidents (tripping, falling, lifting and cuts /  
abrasions) resulted in only minor injuries, which resulted in only short-term or no absences.  
No long-term absences were recorded.

Events /  1000 FTE Group Zofingen Pennsville Malta Irvine Nantong Hameln

2012 38 38 47 14 n. a. n. a. n. a.

2013 12 17 13 7 16 0 n. a.

2014 14 18 37 30 8 1 n. a.

2015 15 16 34 14 0 5 24

Health
Siegfried maintains process technologies with various containment systems for the develop-
ment and production of highly active ingredients and finished dosage forms. Closed substance 
handling systems protect employees from excessive contamination and additional protective 
clothing with breathing systems is available to provide security at any time. Decontamination 
zones, airlocks and designated changing rooms are all set up to minimize the possibility  
of substance contamination. Maintenance of workplace threshold levels and the efficacy of 
the technical installations are periodically tested.

A workplace hygiene expert answers questions about workplace hygiene; workplace evalua-
tions and classification of production systems are also monitored. The results are summarized 
in a systems evaluation registry.

The correct use of protective clothing and equipment for the workplace is constantly trained. 
Our SHE department provides on-site training support and our internal workplace safety team 
constantly evaluates new protective equipment used for various applications and tests skin 
care products. The results are documented in an internal “personal protection tools catalog.”

During this past year our annual flu vaccination campaign offered free flu shots to all  
employees.
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Medical consultations and (Suva-mandated) check-ups for about 200 employees were carried 
out again in 2015 by the Institute for Workplace Medicine (ifa Baden).

Ideas and suggestions submitted by employees are evaluated internally, and, if possible, 
implemented. Thanks to an idea from a production employee, Zofingen invested in the  
“First aid for cardiac emergencies”. In addition to the purchase of another defibrillator, over 
150 employees completed training in cardiac massage.

Activities such as soccer, tennis, hiking, shooting and bowling are offered to all employees  
by the Siegfried Sports Club to promote fitness.

Goals and Outlook

The SHE objectives and benefits for 2016 include:

—  Reduction of workplace accidents
—  Ongoing global implementation of the STOP™ Safety Program and campaigns for safety 

awareness at the workplace and health promotion
—  Quick reintegration of injured employees through interim alternative workplaces
—  Optimization of in-house health management efforts
—  Update of fire alarm monitoring and building evacuation procedures in Zofingen
—  Coordination of information system for hazardous materials across all facilities
—  Revision of the safety and environmental training concepts in Zofingen
—  Coordination of safety and health standards for the new facilities in Evionnaz (CH), 

St. Vulbas (F) and Minden (D) with the previous facilities in Hameln, Irvine, Malta, 
Nantong, Pennsville and Zofingen

—  Implementation of a global safety and health philosophy for all facilities

employees have been  
trained in cardiac massage  
in Zofingen in 2015.

>150
less workplace accidents  
happened at Group  
level over the past four years.

40%
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Environmental Protection

Siegfried strives to avoid harmful environmental actions, i. e. we work to minimize energy 
consumption, emissions and waste generation. This results in environmental benefits  
and cost savings. 

For the first time, the environmental figures for our Hameln and Nantong facilities are 
integrated in this report, along with the key figures for Zofingen, Pennsville, Irvine and Malta. 
This report does not include the environmental figures for our facilities in Minden, Evionnaz 
and St. Vulbas, which were acquired from BASF in October 2015.

For each campaign, Siegfried’s Drug Substance division utilizes multi-purpose production 
facilities, which can lead to considerable fluctuations in the environmental indicators.  
In addition, different utilization levels and processes also add to volatility. Producing some 
pharma ceutical substances can take more than 10 chemical steps, while others are done  
with one or more steps. Thus, the environmental figures can also vary depending on the 
production portfolio.

Compared to last year, the overall numbers across all categories – energy and water con-
sumption, CO2 and VOC emissions, and waste generation – have increased. On the one hand, 
this is because two additional facilities (Hameln and Nantong) were added to the report.  
On the other hand, the numbers at our existing facilities, particularly in Zofingen, also increased. 
These results look a bit different when reconciled with the sales figures; while energy con- 
sumption still rose by 7%, all other categories decreased. The most prominent drop was 17.2% 
for CO2 emissions. 

In 2015, a new thermal oxidizer with downstream scrubber was installed in Pennsville.  
The site now has about five times the previous capacity and continually monitors emissions; 
acceptance tests and commissioning will begin in January 2016.

Siegfried produces electricity at the Malta site thanks to a 1400 m2 solar panel system 
generating 278 MWh. This led to a drop in fossil fuels burned and a 203 ton reduction in CO2 
emissions.

As usual, a VOC balance sheet for Zofingen was submitted in 2015 to the authorities  
and a notification filed with the SwissPRTR (Pollutant Release and Transfer Register). See: 
http://www.prtr.admin.ch/



83Siegfried Annual Report 2015

Sustainability Report 
Environmental Protection

Key Environmental Figures 

Unit 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Energy consumption

Total energy GJ 531 900 400 000 403 300 396 100 389 100

Natural gas GJ 234 000 210 400 216 400 209 600 210 200

Heating oil GJ 7 200 4 400 5 500 5 500 3 900

Alternative fuels (Solvents) GJ 23 900 27 300 21 800 34 000 33 400

Electricity GJ 205 200 145 600 147 000 134 700 131 000

Emissions

CO2 emissions Tons 16 300 15 000 15 100 16 200 15 900

VOC emissions Tons 17 16 12 14 15

Water / waste water

Water consumption m3 2 456 000 2 071 000 2 103 000 2 047 000 1 951 000

TOC emissions Tons 536 454 509 494 525

Waste

Total waste1 Tons 16 200 13 500 15 900 15 700 14 000

Chemical waste Tons 13 800 11 700 14 600 14 700 13 200

Waste solvents Tons 12 500 10 400 13 900 13 200 11 000

Recycling

Reclaimed solvents Tons 6 400 2 150 2 720 3 330 4 230

Externally recycled wastes2 Tons 2 160 2 230 1 170 1 710 2 180

1 Excluding waste water sludge.
2 All externally processed wastes are listed under “Total waste“.

less CO2 emissions have  
been measured thanks  
to the solar plant of 1400 m2  
at the site in Malta.

203t

dropped CO2 emissions  
when reconciled with  
the sales figures compared  
to the previous year.

17.2%
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Goals and Outlook

The environmental objectives set for 2015 were partially met. Specifically, when reconciled 
with the production volume, water consumption increased, thanks mainly to high summer 
temperatures and a corresponding jump in cooling water consumption.

The environmental goals for 2016 are:

—  Commissioning of the new production facility in Zofingen, coupled with improved energy 
and CO2 figures.

—  Increased efforts to achieve sustainable growth in the amount of recycled solvents.
—  Improvement of waste water monitoring to reduce emission of pollutants into the 

environment.
—  Replacement of technically obsolete building in Zofingen.
—  Integration of the key environmental figures for the new Siegfried sites Minden, Evionnaz 

and St. Vulbas.

Our Employees

Siegfried as Employer – Responsible and Attractive

Our guiding principle “expect more” is a commitment not only to our customers and suppli-
ers, but especially to our employees. Highly-qualified, experienced and motivated employees 
are crucial for success in the chemical and pharmaceutical industry. Our clients profit from 
highly motivated specialists who use their know-how and experience to deliver excellent services 
and creative solutions every day. It is a Siegfried priority to be recognized as an attractive  
and reliable employer at all our sites and to recruit, develop and keep talented and motivated 
people. We strive to provide a work environment where employees can take on challenging 
jobs and associated responsibilities that best serve their personal and technical development 
and can benefit from the success of our company. This is the only way for us to provide the 
best services to our customers and master both the increasingly competitive market and the 
regulatory environment. Careful selection process and long-term commitment play a key role 
because lost know-how is difficult to replace and the initial training phase for new employees 
is significantly longer in our industry. By industry comparison, our 2015 staff turnover rate of 
7.2% (2014: 7.2%) was relatively low and underlines our efforts in this area.
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Leadership – Results-Oriented and Appreciative

The quality of our management is crucial for the success of our company and for the satis-
faction and motivation of our employees. The shared understanding of our corporate values 
and management principles represents the basis of our corporate and management culture. 
This is crucial, especially, during phases of integrating new sites, because it concerns defining 
and implementing an approach together. Therefore, in the year under review – immedi- 
ately following the transfer of title of the new sites in Evionnaz, St. Vulbas and Minden – and 
together with the senior management at all Siegfried sites, we began to review and define  
in detail our values and management principles. In the course of 2016, we shall roll them out 
at all sites in workshops with local management teams so they can be integrated into 
everyday management processes. 

We expect our management to set clear goals, delegate responsibilities and help employees  
to work autonomously and meet ambitious goals by means of ongoing feedback and continued 
education. Our performance management process is an essential tool for management, the 
development of our employees, and the steering of goals that are relevant to the company; 
this process is applied uniformly at all sites and, if possible, across all hierarchy levels. 

In addition to the individual goal-setting discussion at the start of the year and the performance 
review at the end of the year, this process provides for a mid-year status review. Company 
goals are set for each employee as well as functional and individual goals. The emphasis differs 
according to the individual’s functional level. For management, the focus is on company 
goals, for employees more on individual goals. To strengthen a more uniform performance 
culture, “calibration meetings” are being carried out by management teams to evaluate  
and compare employee performance in the areas of each team. This process ensures that 
performance reviews are even and impartial across the functional levels.

Communication – Transparent and Open 

Siegfried cultivates transparent communication at all sites as we are convinced that this enhances 
among our employees the understanding of the strategy and the business context as well as 
acceptance of the connected corporate goals and decisions. Information events and workshops 
are held several times a year to help promote dialog and exchange of information between 
employees and management. These workshops serve to discuss current company news, updates 
on strategy and on other important topics and projects. Subsequent to management meetings, 
the information is disseminated to all employees by means of an internal communications 
cascade. 
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Employee Development – Individual Tailored and Long-Term 

We attach great importance to well-trained employees at all levels and promote management, 
specialist and project careers in equal measure. An individually tailored training plan is set 
during the annual performance management process between employee and supervisor. These 
plans ensure that the qualifications and competencies of the employees meet the current  
and future requirements of the job and also prepare the employee for potential future roles 
within the company. Siegfried aims at recruiting management and key positions internally.

Training and Career Start 

Every year, we enable young people to start on an attractive and solid career. We thus make 
an important contribution toward promoting young talent and securing future employees. 
We offer apprenticeships for chemical technologists, lab specialists, business apprentices, 
logistics specialists, and technicians. At the end of 2015, a total of 86 apprentices trained  
at the different sites: 

— Zofingen: 34 apprentices
— Evionnaz: 12 apprentices
— Hameln: 16 apprentices
— Minden: 10 apprentices
— Malta: 1 apprentice
— St. Vulbas: 13 apprentices

In addition to technical training, we promote the apprentices’ team spirit and social skills.  
The fact that more than half of our apprentices usually choose to stay with Siegfried after 
completing their apprenticeship confirms the value of our efforts and investments. Further-
more, we regularly offer internships for university students in various areas of specialization 
and thereby provide professional experience to graduates.

future professionals were  
in training on the different  
sites at the end of 2015.

86
of the employees in the year  
under review were women.

25.7%
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Sustainability Figures 

Employees as per December 31 2015 2014

Zofingen, Switzerland FTE / total 484.6 476.0

Evionnaz, Switzerland FTE / total 321.4

St. Vulbas, France FTE / total 131.7

Pennsville, USA FTE / total 177.6 168.4

Irvine, USA FTE / total 87.0 88.0

Malta FTE / total 123.0 107.0

Nantong, China FTE / total – 3.5

Munich, Germany FTE / total 163.0 131.0

Hameln, Germany FTE / total 416.4 399.7

Minden, Germany FTE / total 333.5

Group FTE / total 2 238.2 1 373.6

Full-time employees FTE / % 2 103.0 94.0% 1 283.0 93.4%

Part-Time employees FTE / % 135.2 6.0% 90.6 6.6%

Apprentices / number of apprentices  
of the total stock Number / % 86.0 3.8% 55.8 4.1%

Diversity

Female employees FTE / % 575.2 25.7% 436.9 31.8%

Male employees FTE / % 1663.0 74.3% 936.7 68.2%

Women upper management FTE / % 4.0 0.2% 6.0 0.4%

Male upper management FTE / % 38.0 1.7% 46.0 3.3%

Women middle management FTE / % 87.7 3.9% 71.5 5.2%

Male middle management FTE / % 269.8 12.1% 201.0 14.6%

Demographics

Employees up to age 30 FTE / % 341.3 15.2% 236.1 17.2%

Employees between age 31 and age 50 FTE / % 1265.7 56.5% 785.2 57.2%

Employees above age 50 FTE / % 631.3 28.2% 352.3 25.6%

Average age of employees Age 41.8 41.5

Attention rate1

Exits / attrition rate female employees FTE / % 51.8 2.3% 41.5 3.0%

Exits / attrition rate male employees FTE / % 145.4 6.5% 58.0 4.2%

Total turnover rate FTE / % 197.2 8.8% 99.5 7.2%

Lost working days due to accidents 
and sickness1,2

Lost working days due to work-  
related illness No. of days 0.0 0.0% 0.0 0.0%

Lost working days due to illness No. of days 10 286.4 91.5% 5 162.7 84.3%

Lost working days work-related accidents /  
quota of days lost No. of days / % 178.0 1.6% 155.5 2.5%

Lost working days not work-related 
 accidents / quota of days lost No. of days / % 775.1 6.9% 805.5 13.2%

Total lost working days No. of days 11 239.5 100.0% 6 123.7 100.0%

Lost working days per FTE Ø day per FTE / % 5.0 2.3% 4.5 2.0%

1 2014 attrition rate and lost working days without Hameln Site.
2 2015 lost working days whithout Evionnaz, Minden and St. Vulbas sites due to different definitions.
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Remuneration – Market-Driven and Performance-Based

Siegfried has established performance-related remuneration policies and structures promoting 
an entrepreneurial mind-set and behavior. In 2015, at most sites, the defined remuneration 
principles and systems were implemented based on a uniform salary and function appraisal 
system. The system will be rolled out at the Hameln site in 2016. At the new sites in Minden, 
Evionnaz and St. Vulbas, the systems will be harmonized in 2016 and implemented in 2017. 
In addition to a performance-related and market-oriented basic pay, Siegfried offers its 
employees at all sites attractive fringe benefits comprising pension fund, numerous perks and 
extended benefits. Siegfried complies with all legal guidelines at all sites, and salary decisions 
are comprehensible and transparent. Especially gender and any other non-performance related 
criteria have no influence on the individual remuneration of our employees. For further details 
see the Remuneration Report on page 45ff.

Diversity and Equal Opportunities 

As a global company, we work in an international market and in a multicultural environment. 
We consider diversity to be enriching for our company. We create a discrimination-free environ-
ment. Discrimination based on gender, race or ethnic origin, religion, worldview, or physical 
and mental disabilities is not tolerated. Siegfried’s Code of Conduct was completely revised in 
2015; it represents the foundation and includes binding expectations concerning personal 
interaction. We do our utmost to prevent sexual harassment and mobbing at the workplace. 
Noncompliance will be sanctioned accordingly.

Work-Life Balance

We believe that a balance between work, family and leisure time is fundamental for our 
employees to be and remain efficient, creative and, therefore, successful. Key elements are 
the possibility of flexible work hours, part-time employment options, and the possibility  
of unpaid leave of absence.

The principles of remuneration  
and structures, defined by 
Siegfried, will be implemented  
in all new sites by 2017.

2017
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Social Partnership – Cooperative and Solution-Focused 

At Siegfried, every employee has the right to employee representation and union member-
ship. Siegfried has a long tradition of cooperation with elected employee representatives  
in Switzerland, the USA, France and Germany through direct, transparent, and constructive 
dialog with all employee and union representatives. Meetings held at regular intervals  
provide a platform for discussions about Siegfried’s business developments, workplace- 
related measures, and collaboration on relevant personnel issues.

Social Responsibilities 

As a responsible employer, Siegfried is involved in social, cultural and sports events in the region 
of our sites. One focus is on training projects in the field of natural sciences, especially, in 
order to create interest among young people for the natural sciences at a young age and  
to demonstrate the vocational potential of the field. Siegfried dedicates a considerable 
annual budget to sponsor such activities. The company is a member of “Science Industries”, 
Swiss Business Association Chemistry Pharma Biotech, and InnovAare, an organization  
that brings together business and science in Canton of Aargau. The head of Pharmapark is 
also a board member of the Aargau Chamber of Industry & Commerce and the chairman  
of Zofingen Regional Economic Association (WRZ). The company is a member the chambers 
of commerce at its other sites, for instance, the Swiss-Chinese Chamber of Commerce, the 
Swiss-American Chamber of Commerce, and the Association of Swiss Companies in Germany 
(VSUD). 

Siegfried sponsors the biennial “Siegfried Medal” as part of the international Siegfried 
Symposium. The award recognizes outstanding research in the field of chemical process 
development.
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Financial Report

In 2015, Siegfried generated record net sales  
of 480.6 million. The EBITDA and EBIT operating 
results rose by approximately 30%. For the first 
time, the Hameln site was fully integrated in the 
results and the sites in Minden, Evionnaz and  
St. Vulbas acquired from BASF for the last quarter. 
Despite higher financial expenses and lower tax 
credits, net profit grew marginally.
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2015 2014 Change CHF (LC)

Net sales (million CHF) 480.6 315.3  + 52.4% (+57.9%)

Gross profit (million CHF) 90.7 72.8 24.6%

   Gross profit margin (%) 18.9% 23.1%

EBITDA (million CHF) 77.1 58.8 31.1%

   EBITDA margin (%) 16.0% 18.6%

EBIT (operating result) (million CHF) 43.4 34.0 27.6%

   EBIT margin (%) 9.0% 10.8%

Net profit (million CHF) 39.1 38.6 1.4%

   Net profit-margin in percentage 8.1% 12.2%

Non-diluted earnings per share (CHF) 9.89 9.97 – 0.8%

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 9.76 9.92 – 1.6%

Cash flow from operating activities (million CHF) 23.1 24.6 – 6.4%

Investment in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets (million CHF) 95.0 82.0 15.8%

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 Change

Equity (million CHF) 492.7 382.8 28.7%

Total assets (million CHF) 1 003.9 629.6 59.5%

Equity as a percentage of total assets 49.1% 60.8%

Employees (number of full time positions) 2 238 1 374 62.9%

Key Figures
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Strong Sales Growth

In the financial year 2015 Siegfried generated sales of CHF 480.6 million. Compared with the 
prior year this represents growth of 52.4% in CHF or 57.9% in local currencies. Sales in  
Drug Substance increased by 42.1% (+43.4% in local currencies) to CHF 333.2 million. Drug 
Products recorded an increase of 82.4% (+100.0% in local currencies) to CHF 147.4 million. 
Divided over the first and second halves of the year, in the first half sales of CHF 200.7 million 
were achieved and in the second half CHF 279.9 million.

At the end of September 2015 Siegfried took over the pharmaceutical supply business of 
BASF with the three sites, Evionnaz (Switzerland), Minden (Germany), and St. Vulbas (France). 
Accordingly the figures of one quarter of the year from these new sites were consolidated  
in 2015. In addition the contribution to sales and the result of Hameln Pharma acquired at the 
end of 2014 was fully effective in 2015. Corrected by these acquisition effects the sales 
growth in 2015 lay in the single digit percentage area. 

Significant Increase in EBITDA

In 2015 Siegfried earned an EBITDA of CHF 77.1 million (prior year CHF 58.8 million). This 
represents an increase of 31.1%. The EBITDA margin fell mainly as a result of the currently  
still dilutive acquisitions to 16.0% (prior year 18.6%). EBIT reached CHF 43.4 million (prior 
year CHF 34.0 million), equivalent to growth of 27.6%. The EBIT margin was 9.0% (prior 
year 10.8%). The operating results include integration costs resulting from the takeover of  
the pharmaceutical supply business of BASF of approximately CHF 3.7 million. Without these 
integration costs there would have resulted an EBITDA of CHF 80.8 million and an EBITDA 
margin of 16.8% and an EBIT of CHF 47.1 million with an EBIT margin of 9.8%. 

As a result of the acquisitions all cost blocks rose significantly, but compared with sales 
remained at a comparable level. The cost of goods sold increased to CHF 389.9 million. This 
resulted in a gross profit of CHF 90.7 million (prior year 72.8 million) with a gross margin of 
18.9% (prior year CHF 23.1%). The marketing and sales costs amounted to CHF 13.0 million 
(prior year CHF 8.4 million), the research and development costs to CHF 23.3 million (prior 
year CHF 21.3 million) and the administration and general overhead costs to CHF 23.3 million 
(prior year CHF 17.1 million). Other operating income amounted to CHF 12.4 million (prior 
year CHF 8.0 million). 

Unchanged Good Natural Hedge

Like many other businesses, Siegfried was also confronted in January 2015 with the discontin-
uance of the Euro lower limit by the Swiss National Bank. In the course of the year the Swiss 
franc again weakened somewhat. The average rates in 2015 were a lower Euro exchange rate 
by about 15 Rappen and a higher dollar by about 5 Rappen. Siegfried has already in recent 
years undertaken major efforts to improve the natural hedge, so that for Siegfried the effects 
of the National Bank’s decision were never critical. Siegfried invoices in Swiss francs, Euros 
and US dollars. Sales are distributed as to one third over each of these currencies. Because  
of its various foreign locations Siegfried incurs a high share of its fixed costs in Euros and 
US dollars. In addition Siegfried bears its variable costs, i. e. raw materials, to a large extent 

Financial Commentary 2015
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in Euros and US dollars, also at its Swiss locations. The fixed and variable costs result in 
aggregate in a high natural hedge. The costs also are distributed in total as to approximately 
one third each over the currencies Swiss francs, Euros and US dollars. At the sales level 
Siegfried lost in 2015 about CHF 17 million due to currency fluctuations, but as explained 
realised a comparable amount of cost savings through currency effects. As a result there  
was no negative impact on the operating result due to currency effects. Taking both curren-
cies together, in the past year the natural hedge covered over 90%.

Increase in Net Profit despite Higher Financial Expenses  
and a Lower Tax Effect

The financial result of CHF –6.4 million comprises financing costs and finance expenditures  
of CHF 5.7 million, financial income of CHF 0.2 million and a foreign exchange loss of 
CHF 0.9 million. Compared with the prior year financial expenditures rose by CHF 2.4 million. 
This reflects the higher debt and therefore increased interest and the recognition in income  
of the fees for the last financing round (CHF 0.7 million). 

After a positive tax result of CHF 2.0 million, the net profit amounts to CHF 39.1 million  
with a net profit margin of 8.1%. In the prior year the net profit was CHF 38.6 million at  
a net profit margin of 12.2%. However, as already mentioned, in the prior year the net  
profit included significantly lower finance expenditures. In addition, in the prior year with 
CHF 6.8 million there was a significantly more positive tax result deriving from higher 
recognition of loss carry forwards compared with 2015. Corrected for these effects, a net 
profit growth approximating the growth in the operating result would have resulted.  
The undiluted earnings per share (EPS) is CHF 9.89, the diluted earnings per share CHF 9.76 
(prior year EPS CHF 9.97, diluted EPS CHF 9.92). 

High Investment and Acquisition Activity

In 2015 Siegfried generated an operating cash flow before changes in net current assets  
of CHF 65.0 million (prior year CHF 58.1 million). This represents an increase of 12.0%. The  
net current assets have grown considerably following the takeover of the pharmaceutical 
supply business of BASF. This effect resulting from the acquisitions was enhanced in the past 
financial year by the fact that in the fourth quarter high sales were realised, so that at the 
year-end above-average trade receivables were in the books. This had a negative impact in 
the statement of cash flows of CHF 24.8 million. In addition the increase in inventories 
negatively impacted the cash flow in 2015 with CHF 14.7 million. Including the change in 
net current assets in 2015 Siegfried generated a slightly lower operating cash flow of 
CHF 23.1 million (prior year CHF 24.6 million). 

In the past years the implementation of the Strategy Transform has required heavy investments 
in fixed assets, above all in the new factory in Nantong, China, and in the multi-purpose  
plant in Zofingen. In 2015 the investments in fixed assets totalled CHF 94.7 million (prior year 
CHF 81.9 million). CHF 20.4 million related to Nantong, CHF 32.5 million to the new multi- 
purpose plant in Zofingen. It must be borne in mind that Siegfried has grown from six to nine 
sites and in the prior year Hameln Pharma was consolidated for only one month. Therefore 
the above amount of investments in fixed assets is also to be seen in the context of the consid- 
erably higher number of sites. 
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In the cash flow from investing activities the caption acquisition of Group companies also 
includes the net purchase price payment for the acquisition of the pharmaceutical supply 
business of BASF in the amount of CHF 157.5 million. It was financed in a first step by the 
replacement of the previous credit agreement of CHF 250 million by a new one of CHF 400 mil-
lion. The new credit agreement was concluded with two Swiss banks as Joint Mandated  
Lead Arrangers. It included bridge financing for the acquisition. In a second step two hybrid 
bonds were issued in a total amount of CHF 160 million. They are a non-transferable private 
hybrid convertible bond with a nominal amount of CHF 60 million with the German RAG 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH and a public hybrid bond for CHF 100 million. Both hybrid 
bonds are subordinated with a permanent duration. After five years the hybrid bonds have 
a first Call Date. If it is not exercised, the interest payable is increased (step up). The privately 
placed hybrid bond includes in addition during the first five years of its duration an optional 
right of conversion into shares of Siegfried Holding AG. The conversion is secured by treasury 
shares, i.e. without capital increase. Siegfried already holds a large part of the treasury shares 
required for this purpose. The net inflow of funds from the two hybrid bonds reported in  
the statement of cash flows aggregated CHF 157.5 million. The inflow of funds from the two 
hybrid bonds was used, as agreed, to repay the bridge financing. After this repayment,  
at the year-end 2015 there remain credit lines in the amount of CHF 241 million, which are 
provided by a Swiss bank consortium. 

For the purchase of treasury shares net CHF 14.2 million was expended. Interest and bank 
charges, including the costs of the refinancing, amounted to CHF 9.7 million. The distribution 
out of the reserves from capital contribution to the shareholders of Siegfried Holding AG 
made in April 2015 amounted to CHF 6.0 million. 

At the end of the year CHF 47.4 million was held in liquid funds. The outstanding loans 
amounted to CHF 224.7 million gross. Net debt at the end of 2015 CHF was 177.3 million. 
While net debt and the debt ratio have risen as a result of the recent acquisition, at 1.55  
at the end of 2015 the net debt in relation to EBITDA continues to lie comfortably within the 
financial covenants applicable for Siegfried under the credit agreement. The equity ratio at  
the end of 2015 was 49.1%.

Michael Hüsler 
CFO
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In 1000 CHF (as of December 31) Notes* 2015 2014

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 469 959 314 927

Intangible assets 3 10 139 9 489

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 4 527 593

Financial and other non-current assets 5 3 424 116

Employer contribution reserves 17 8 763 8 726

Deferred tax assets 6 48 868 22 291

Total non-current assets 541 680 356 142

Current assets

Inventories 7 256 923 123 159

Trade receivables 8 123 979 68 806

Other current assets 27 839 23 544

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 5 880 7 629

Current income taxes 249 68

Cash 47 386 50 224

Total current assets 462 256 273 430

Total assets 1 003 936 629 572

Liabilities and equity  

Equity

Share capital 8 300 8 300

Treasury shares – 37 197 – 19 236

Capital reserves 79 753 85 739

Hybrid capital 157 495 –

Retained earnings 284 303 307 965

Total equity 492 654 382 768

Non-current liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities 12 214 667 113 241

Non-current provisions 13 27 118 9 073

Deferred tax liabilities 6 5 740 4 305

Other non-current liabilities 14 2 006 12 959

Non-current pension liabilities 17 114 025 149

Total non-current liabilities 363 556 139 727

Current liabilities

Trade payables 64 703 43 971

Other current liabilities 16 12 505 9 765

Accrued expenses and deferred income 15 46 043 22 199

Other current financial liabilities 12 10 000 22 147

Derivative financial instruments 9 429 353

Current pension liabilities 17 619 554

Current provisions 13 10 688 7 947

Current income tax liabilities 2 739 140

Total current liabilities 147 726 107 076

Total liabilities 511 282 246 803

Total liabilities and equity 1 003 936 629 572

*  The Notes on pages 101−127 are an integral part of the Group Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
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In 1000 CHF (for the years ended December 31) Notes* 2015 2014

Net sales 27 480 571 315 282

Cost of goods sold – 389 919 – 242 517

Gross profit 90 652 72 765

Marketing and sales costs – 13 041 – 8 366

Research and development costs – 23 289 – 21 277

Administration and general overhead costs – 23 311 – 17 082

Other operating income 19 12 423 8 007

Share of results of associated companies – 33 – 42

Operating result 43 401 34 005

Financial income 20 236 171

Financial expenses 20 – 5 694 – 3 318

Exchange rate differences 20 – 892 928

Profit before income taxes 37 051 31 786

Income taxes 6 2 049 6 770

Net profit 39 100 38 556

Non-diluted earnings per share (CHF) 22 9.89 9.97

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 22 9.76 9.92

*  The Notes on pages 101−127 are an integral part of the Group Financial Statements.

Consolidated Income Statement
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In 1000 CHF (for the years ended December 31) Notes* 2015 2014

Net profit 39 100 38 556

Depreciation and impairment of PP&E and intangible assets 2,3 33 681 24 790

Change in provisions 13 41 – 601

Other non-cash items1 – 12 293 – 3 749

Share-based payments 18 2 073 3 570

Exchange rate differences 892 – 928

Financial income – 236 – 171

Financial expenses 5 694 3 321

Income taxes – 2 049 – 6 771

Share of results of associated companies 33 42

Net result on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 1 911 –

Cash flow from operating activities  
before change in net current assets 65 025 58 059

Change in trade receivables – 24 773 673

Change in other current assets 1 775 – 19 613

Change in inventories – 14 681 – 7 215

Change in trade payables – 3 508 – 2 803

Change in other current liabilities 1 261 591

Payments out of provisions – 1 370 – 4 559

Income taxes paid – 654 – 491

Cash flow from operating activities 23 075 24 642

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 – 94 703 – 81 889

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 629 78

Purchase of intangible and other assets 3 – 296 – 124

Acquisition of Group companies 3, 21 – 160 361 – 59 460

Investments in financial fixed assets – 3 233 – 77

Interest received 101 15

Dividend received 27 –

Cash flow from investing activities – 252 836 – 141 457

Issuance of hybrid capital 157 495 –

Increase in financial liabilities 12 106 686 48 145

Repayment of current financial liabilities – 11 864 –

Change in other non-current liabilities 198 –

Purchase/disposal of treasury shares, net – 14 195 – 783

Interest paid and bank charges – 8 356 – 1 934

Dividend to the shareholders of Siegfried Holding AG – 5 986 – 5 931

Cash flow from financing activities 223 978 39 497

Net change in cash – 5 783 – 77 318

Cash at the beginning of the year 50 224 127 341

Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash 2 945 201

Cash at the end of the year 47 386 50 224

*  The Notes on pages 101−127 are an integral part of the Group Financial Statements.
1  Other non-cash items mainly include significant releases of accrued income out of projects, certain postings from employee benefits and non-cash movements on accruals. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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The share capital of Siegfried Holding AG amounts to CHF 8.3 million (2014: CHF 8.3 million).  
It is divided into 4 150 000 registered shares each with a nominal value of CHF 2  
(2014: 4 150 000 registered shares). 

The equity of Siegfried Holding AG increased as a result of the issue of a privately placed 
hybrid convertible bond of CHF 60 million and the placement of a publicly issued hybrid- bond 
in the amount of CHF 100 million, see Note 11. The transaction costs of CHF 2.5 million 
incurred in connection with the hybrid bonds have been deducted from the hybrid capital.

All fully consolidated investments are held to 100% by the Group. Therefore, at year end,  
as in the previous year the Group had no minorities of third parties.
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As of January 1, 2014 7 600 – 33 421 61 479 – 132 397 292 – 70 649 362 433

Net profit – – – – – 38 556 – 38 556

Dividends – – – 5 931 – – – – – 5 931

Changes in financial instruments – – – – – 891 – – – 891

Employee share plan – 9 967 – – – – 40 013 – – 30 046

Change in treasury shares – 4 217 – – – 3 239 – 7 456

Capital increase 700 – 30 191 – – – – 30 891

Goodwill allocation – – – – – – 30 479 – – 30 479

Currency translation differences – – – – – – 10 779 10 779

As of December 31, 2014 8 300 – 19 236 85 739 – – 759 368 595 – 59 870 382 768

Net profit – – – – – 39 100 – 39 100

Dividends – – – 5 986 – – – – – 5 986

Issuance of hybrid capital – – – 157 495 – – 1 030 – 156 465

Changes in financial instruments – – – – – 139 – – – 139

Employee share plan – – – – – 2 073 – 2 073

Change in treasury shares – – 17 961 – – – 3 766 – – 14 195

Goodwill allocation – – – – – – 61 685 – – 61 685

Currency translation differences – – – – – – – 5 748 – 5 748

As of December 31, 2015 8 300 – 37 197 79 753 157 495 – 898 350 819 – 65 618 492 654

*  In the Consolidated Balance Sheet these items are disclosed as retained earnings.

Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Equity
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Consolidated Financial Statements 
Notes

General Information 

Financial Statements

The financial reporting of the Siegfried Group complies with Swiss GAAP FER and the provi-
sions of Swiss law. The Consolidated Financial Statements are based on historical costs,  
except for the revaluation of specific financial assets and liabilities, such as derivative financial 
instruments, and acquisitions. As described in the following policies, they are valued at fair 
value. The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the going concern basis. The 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Siegfried Group are presented in Swiss francs and 
were approved by the Board of Directors on March 8, 2016 for presentation to the General 
Meeting held on April 15, 2016.

Information about the Group

The Siegfried Group is a worldwide pharmaceutical supplier with production sites in Switzer-
land, the USA, Malta, China, Germany and France. Under contract to the pharmaceutical 
industry Siegfried develops manufacturing processes for active pharmaceutical ingredients 
and their intermediates and produces them (Drug Substances). The Siegfried Group also 
produces finished pharmaceutical products (Drug Products). The acquisition of three BASF sites 
in Evionnaz (Switzerland), Minden (Germany), and St. Vulbas (France), which are engaged  
in the pharmaceutical supply business and produce active pharmaceutical ingredients and 
intermediate products, ideally complements the Siegfried Group. Siegfried Holding AG  
(head office in Zofingen, AG) is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange.

Method and Scope of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of all Swiss and 
foreign companies, in which Siegfried Holding AG controls (generally over 50% of the voting 
interest) directly or indirectly the financial and operating policy. Assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses are included according to the full consolidation method. Minority interests in the 
net assets and income of consolidated companies are recorded separately both in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet and the Consolidated Income Statement. At year end there are 
no minority interests in the Group.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for using the equity method. These are 
companies, over which the Group exercises significant interest, but not control. This is 
generally the case with a voting rights share of 20% to 50%. Investments in joint ventures 
are also accounted for using the equity method.

Notes to the  
Consolidated Financial Statements
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Group companies acquired or disposed of during the reporting period are included in or 
excluded from the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition or disposal. 
The individual financial statements, on which the Consolidated Financial Statements are 
based, are drawn up in accordance with accounting principles applied consistently through-
out the Group. All intercompany transactions, including receivables and payables, income  
and expenses, unrealized intercompany profits are eliminated in the consolidation. The annual 
reporting period for all Group companies ends on December 31. 

Changes in Accounting Principles

Swiss GAAP FER 31 – Financial Reporting Standard for Listed Companies

The supplementary Financial Reporting Standard for listed companies became effective from 
January 1, 2015. It deals with the initial adoption of Swiss GAAP FER, share-based payments, 
businesses being discontinued, earnings per share, income taxes, financial obligations, segment 
reporting and interim reporting. The introduction of the new Financial Reporting Standard 
does not have a significant impact on the results and disclosure of the Siegfried Group, because 
the new requirements have already been applied before.

Swiss GAAP FER Framework Concept – Swiss GAAP FER 3 –  
Swiss GAAP FER 6

The Swiss GAAP FER Commission has undertaken revisions concerning revenue recognition 
and its disclosure, which will be effective from January 1, 2016. These changes will have  
no significant effect on the results and the disclosure of the Siegfried Group.

Accounting Principles

Business Combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiary companies are reported according to the purchase method. The 
purchase costs of a business combination include the sum of the fair market value of the 
acquired assets and additional Goodwill, debts and contingent liabilities, and issued equity 
instruments at the acquisition date. Purchased Goodwill is eliminated against equity. If the 
initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period, 
in which the combination occurred, the combination is accounted for using provisional 
amounts. Adjustment of the provisional amounts and the recognition of additionally identified 
assets and liabilities must be undertaken within the measurement period, if new information 
about facts and circumstances is obtained that existed at the acquisition date. The measurement 
period may not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

Segment Reporting

The Siegfried Group consists of one «reportable segment». The decision takers measure  
the performance of the company based on the financial information at the level of the Siegfried 
Group as a whole. 



103Siegfried Annual Report 2015

Consolidated Financial Statements 
Notes

Foreign Currency Translation

The positions of the individual financial statements are valued on a functional currency basis.  
The Consolidated Financial Statements are denominated in Swiss francs. The functional 
currency of the Group companies is the respective local currency, apart from Siegfried Hong 
Kong Ltd., which keeps its books in RMB. Balance Sheets stated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the year-end exchange rates, the corresponding Income Statements at the aver - 
age annual exchange rates, which should not differ significantly from the exchange rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates. The exchange rate differences arising from the translation 
of the Financial Statements are recognized directly in the Consolidated Equity. Exchange rate 
differences arising on intercompany loans that, in substance, form part of the net investment  
in that subsidiary, are also recognized in equity. Intercompany loans are regarded as part  
of a net investment in a subsidiary, if the settlement of these loans is neither planned nor 
likely to occur in the foreseeable future. All other exchange rate differences are included  
in the Income Statement.

The exchange rates applied to the Group’s most important foreign currencies are as follows:

Balance Sheet

Year-end rates 2015 2014

1 USD 0.989 0.989

1 EUR 1.080 1.203

100 RMB 15.224 16.154

Income Statement

Average rates 2015 2014

1 USD 0.963 0.915

1 EUR 1.069 1.215

100 RMB 15.488 14.901

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are valued at acquisition or production cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the 
following estimated useful life of the assets:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 10–30 years

Machinery and equipment 5–15 years

Vehicles 5–10 years

IT-Hardware 3–5 years

In the context of the periodical update of the accounting manual the useful lives of the  
asset categories will be adjusted.  
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If parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, they are recognized and depreciated as 
separate assets. The useful lives of assets are evaluated at least once a year at the reporting 
date and, if necessary, amended. Property, plant and equipment are excluded from the 
Balance Sheet upon retirement, or when no value in use can be expected. Maintenance and 
repair costs are recognized in the Income Statement. Subsequent purchase and production 
costs are capitalized, only if a future economic benefit is expected and the costs of the asset 
can be reliably determined.

Leasing

Leased property, plant and equipment for which the significant risks and rewards are 
 transferred to the Group are disclosed as Financial Leases respectively as asset and liability.  
All other lease agreements are classified as Operating Leases. Leasing liabilities from  
Operating Leases, which cannot be terminated within one year, are disclosed in the Notes  
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Currently the Siegfried Group has entered only  
into Operating Leases and no Financial leases.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of licenses, patents, trademarks, technology, software and land  
use rights in China. If there are indications of impairment, intangible assets are tested for 
recoverability. Software is accounted for at cost of acquisition or of production plus costs  
of placing it in a usable condition less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impair-
ment losses. It is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. If there  
are indications of impairment, the software is tested for recoverability. All intangible assets 
are amortized over the shorter of their following legal and economic lives:

Land use rights China 50 years

Licenses, patents and client base The shorter of economic or legal life, as a rule 5 – 20 years

Software 3 – 5 years

Impairment tests are carried out whenever there are indications that intangible assets may be 
impaired. If the carrying amount is greater than the recoverable amount, being the higher  
of the fair market value less costs of disposal and value in use, the carrying amount is reduced  
to the recoverable amount. This reduction is recognized in the Consolidated Income State-
ment as expense. 
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Impairment of Non-Financial Non-Current Assets

An assessment whether the value of property, plant and equipment and other non-current 
assets with finite useful life may be impaired is undertaken if as a result of events or changed 
circumstances it appears possible that the carrying amounts are not recoverable. If the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, then an impairment is recorded to this 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net recoverable value and  
the value in use. When an impairment loss arises the useful life of the asset in question is 
reviewed and, if necessary, the future depreciation charge is accelerated. 

Securities / Financial Assets

Securities are a part of the current assets and are valued at market price. If no market value  
is available the securities are valued at acquisition cost less any impairment. Financial assets 
are carried at acquisition cost less impairment, if any.

Inventories

Inventories include raw materials, supplies, semi-finished goods, finished goods and trading 
goods. They are measured at the lower of acquisition or production cost and net recover-
able value. Production costs comprise all manufacturing costs including an appropriate share 
of production overheads. Costs are assigned to inventory based on the first-in, first-out 
method. Appropriate valuation allowances are made for obsolete and slow-moving inventory 
items. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less applicable variable selling expenses. Settlement discounts are treated as reductions in the 
purchase price.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are included initially at nominal value and subsequently at amortized cost; 
this is equal to the amounts invoiced after deducting allowances for doubtful accounts. 
Indications for possible impairment are given if payment is delayed, the customer is experiencing 
financial difficulties, or recapitalization or bankruptcy is likely. Allowances for doubtful 
accounts are established based on the difference between the net present value of the nominal 
amount of the receivables and the estimated net collectible amount. The expected loss is 
recognized in the Income Statement in the line item Marketing and sales. When a trade 
receivable becomes uncollectible, it is derecognized against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts.

Other Receivables

This caption includes mainly VAT receivables and other receivables. They are recorded at net 
realizable value.
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Accrued Income and Prepaid Expenses

Accrued income is valued at nominal value and contains payments made for the following 
financial year and accrued income which will be received in the next period.

Cash

Cash consists of cash, balances held in bank accounts and short-term deposits with a 
maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition and are carried at current value. 
Cash is the defined fund of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.

Equity / Treasury Shares

A purchase of treasury shares by a Group company, including all costs (net after taxes), is 
recorded against equity, until the shares are redeemed, reissued, or sold. If treasury shares  
are issued or sold at a later date, the net consideration less directly attributable transaction 
costs and income taxes is recorded in equity.

Equity / Hybrid Bonds

Both hybrid bonds are subordinated bonds with an indeterminate duration. The hybrid  
bonds have a first call date after five years. If this is not exercised, the result is a higher rate  
of interest payable (step up). The privately placed hybrid bond has in addition an optional 
right to convert into shares in Siegfried Holding AG. The hybrid bonds are therefore classified 
as equity and interest payments thereon are treated as reductions in equity.

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are recorded under current or non-current financial liabilities. The 
non-current financial liabilities include all liabilities with a residual duration of more than  
one year. The current financial liabilities include all liabilities with a duration of less than 
one year, including the current portion of non-current liabilities. If at the reporting date 
there is a binding commitment to extend a maturing loan, it is classified according to the  
new duration.

Other Liabilities 

Other liabilities are valued at nominal value and contain mainly VAT liabilities, shift allowances 
and liabilities from social insurances.

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses are valued at nominal value and contain mainly payments which are due  
in the following financial year but should be expensed in the current financial year.
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Provisions

Provisions are recorded if, as a result of a past event, there is a justified probable obligation, 
the amount and / or due date of which is uncertain but can reasonably be estimated.  
The calculation of the provision is based on the estimate of the cash outflow to settle the 
obligation. If time is a significant factor, the amount of the provision is discounted.

Employee Benefits

Pension Plans
The Group operates various employee benefit plans in and outside Switzerland for employees 
who satisfy the participation criteria. The pension benefits paid are governed by the legal 
requirements in the respective countries. The employees of the Swiss companies in the Siegfried 
Group are insured in the Pensionskasse Siegfried and the employees of Siegfried Evionnaz SA  
in its own pension fund, both legally autonomous foundations. The pension fund is financed 
by employee and employer contributions. In addition there is an affiliation to a collective 
foundation and pension commitments, which are financed directly by the employer. Abroad 
there is a separate pension plan in Germany for Siegfried PharmaChemikalien Minden GmbH  
as well as a plan for the companies in the USA.

The effective economic effects of all Group pension plans are calculated annually at the 
reporting date and the resulting liability or economic benefit is recognized in the Balance 
Sheet. Employer contribution reserves are recognized as assets, provided they are not covered 
by a waiver of use. Changes in value of employer contribution reserves or liabilities are 
recognized in the Income Statement in personnel costs.

Share-Based Payments
In 2014 Siegfried introduced a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for the members of manage-
ment. At the beginning of a vesting period of three-years the plan participants acquire  
a defined number of Performance Share Units (PSU). After the three year vesting period the 
plan participants are allocated between 0 and 2 shares per acquired PSU. For the plan 
satisfied with equity instruments, the expense of the remuneration granted is recognized 
by an increase in equity. The related costs are recognized as personnel expenses in the  
period in which the claim arose. The valuation of the PSU is undertaken by an external company, 
which is specialized in the valuation of option and equity plans. 

The Siegfried Group also implemented an Employee Share Purchase Plan in 2005 to allow 
employees to buy shares at plan rate, a discounted rate of 30% below market value. The 
share plan is considered as an equity-settled share-based payment plan. The fair value of the 
shares corresponds to the fair value at grant date. Costs for the employee share plan are 
recorded as personnel expenses in the period in which the employee performed his / her 
services. The costs for the shares are adjusted to fair value on the grant date and also 
recorded as personnel expenses.
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BASF operated an employee share purchase plan for its employees, under the terms of which 
employees were able to acquire rights to future bonus shares by purchase with their own 
funds. With the sale of the sites Evionnaz, Minden and St. Vulbas by BASF to Siegfried it was 
no longer possible to continue this plan. In order to be able to offer the employees suitable 
compensation for the future rights existing at the date of the sale, a share plan limited to ten 
years was launched, under which the employees will receive in the years 2016–2025 Siegfried 
shares free of charge. Under this plan a maximum of 4332 shares will be allocated, which 
have been taken into account in the purchase price allocation.

Profit Sharing / Bonus Plans
The Group operates a Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP), which is compensated annually  
in cash. These bonus entitlements in cash are recognized on an accrual basis as a liability and 
expense, if there is a contractual commitment or past business practice that constitutes a  
de facto commitment. The amount of the performance-based remuneration paid under the 
STIP is linked to the achievement of corporate, functional and individual targets. At the  
end of the one-year performance period it is determined whether the corporate, functional 
and individual goals have been achieved. The achievement scale for the corporate targets 
stretches from 0% to a maximum of 200%, for functional and individual targets from 0% 
to a maximum of 150%.

Taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred taxes. Current income taxes 
are calculated on the basis of the taxable result and the tax rate applicable locally. Provisions 
are made for deferred taxes on all temporary differences between amounts determined for 
tax purposes and those reported for Group accounting purposes at the actual local tax rates 
likely to be applied. Deferred tax assets arising from temporary timing differences and tax  
loss carryforwards are recognized if it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. Management analyzes on an annual 
basis the financial situation and the expected profits of the concerned companies. Changes 
in deferred taxes are recognized against net profit unless the tax relates to an item recog-
nized directly in equity. No provisions are made for deferred come taxes on potential future 
dividends out of retained earnings, as these sums are deemed permanently reinvested. 

Net Sales

Net sales represent amounts received and receivable for goods and services supplied to 
customers after deducting discounts and volume rebates and excluding sales and value- 
added taxes. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer. Raw materials supplied by the customer,  
or raw materials for which the customer carries the risk are not recognized as sales. Income 
from services is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the underlying service 
agreements.
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Cost of Goods Sold

The production costs of the goods and services sold include the direct production costs and 
the production overheads related to the goods sold and the services rendered.

Other Operating Income

Royalties are recognized in other operating income on an accrual basis in accordance with  
the terms of the underlying agreement. The remainder of the other operating income also 
includes gains on the sale of fixed assets and income from activities that are not part of the 
Siegfried Group’s core business.

Research and Development

Research and development costs include wages and salaries, development costs, costs of 
materials and overheads and are directly expensed.

Dividends

Dividends to shareholders are recorded as liabilities at the time the resolution to pay  
a dividend is made.

Government Grants

In connection with investment projects, some foreign companies of the Siegfried Group 
receive government grants, which are capitalized at their fair value only if there is a high 
probability that the conditions will be met. Government grants related to fixed assets are 
deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of the fixed asset. The grant is recognized  
as income over the life of a depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions with related parties are defined as a business relationship with shareholders  
of the Group, with companies which are fully consolidated and other related parties as 
defined under Swiss GAAP FER 15.

Risk Management

Siegfried’s business involves risks which should be identified by the risk management. By 
identifying risks at an early stage it is possible to take early action. The Board of Directors  
has delegated the responsibility for the organization and maintenance of a risk management 
system to the Management. 

A distinction is made between operating risks and risks on strategic projects as significant  
risk classes.



Consolidated Financial Statements 
Notes

110 Siegfried Annual Report 2015

The operating risks were determined separately for the different functional areas. Responsibility 
for documenting, communicating and managing the current operating risks lies with the 
Operational Leaders of the functional areas. The operating risks are evaluated and classified 
according to the probability that they will occur and the amount of damage. The most 
important risks per functional area are regularly reviewed.

Major projects of a strategic nature are subject within the Siegfried Group to project manage-
ment. Part of the project management is the ongoing recognition, monitoring and proactive 
investigation of risks. Responsibility for strategic projects and management of associated risks 
always lies with a member of the Executive Management.

Operating risks that are expected or have occurred are communicated in monthly reports to 
the Executive Management. Risks of greater consequence are also communicated in monthly 
reports to the Board of Directors. The progress of strategic projects is communicated monthly 
to the Executive Management and at least quarterly also to the Board of Directors. This 
reporting also includes an up-to-date risk assessment.

At its strategy meeting on June 15 and 16, 2015, the Board of Directors considered in depth 
the strategic projects and their inherent risks. When there were significant changes, it also 
called for information at other meetings about risks associated with strategic projects and 
took respective decisions. Operating risks were discussed and assessed by the Board of 
Directors at its regular meetings. The most important operational risks per area were defined 
on November 30, 2015. The Annual Report on the Internal Control System, including its 
assessment, was also approved at the meeting on November 30, 2015. The risk management 
and the ICS reports were also pre-discussed in the Audit Committee on November 23, 2015. 

Financial Risk Management

Financial risk management within the Group is governed by policies and guidelines approved 
by Management. These policies cover foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. Group policies also cover the investment of excess funds and the 
raising of debts. Both the investment of excess funds and the raising of current and non- 
current debts are centralized. Risk management strives to minimize the potential negative 
effects on the Group‘s financial position.
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Market Risks

Siegfried is exposed to market risks which consist mainly of foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk and market value risk. 

Foreign Exchange Risks
Siegfried operates across the world and is therefore exposed to movements in foreign  
curren cies affecting its reporting in Swiss francs. Foreign exchange risks arise on business  
transactions that are not conducted in the Group‘s functional currency. Siegfried continues  
to monitor its currency exposures. The Group seeks to reduce the foreign exchange risk  
with natural hedges. If necessary, the Group will also take forward contracts, swaps or 
currency options into consideration.

The Siegfried Group is exposed principally to currency risk in respect of the USD and EUR and 
to a lesser extent of the RMB. 

With the lifting of the cap on the EUR lower limit by the Swiss National Bank in January 2015 
the focus on this topic has become more intense. Already in past years Siegfried has assigned 
this risk a high priority. Siegfried is therefore very well positioned in this respect and both  
in EUR and USD has established a high Natural Hedge, so that the effects on the results are 
estimated to be marginal.

Interest Rate Risks
Interest rate risks arise from movements in interest rates, which could have adverse effects  
on the Group’s net profit or financial position. Interest rate movements can result in changes 
in interest income and expense on interest bearing assets and liabilities. In addition, they  
can also, as described under the market value risks below, impact specific assets, liabilities and 
financial instruments. Within the Siegfried Group, interest rate management is centralized. 

The Group may also employ financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge 
against movements in interest rates. 

Market Value Risks
Changes in the market value of financial assets and derivative financial instruments can affect 
the financial position and net profit of the Group. Non-current financial investments, such  
as investments in subsidiaries, are held for strategic reasons. The Siegfried Group holds no 
financial investments for speculative purposes. Risks of loss in value are minimized by thor-
ough analysis before purchase and by continuously monitoring the performance and risks of 
the investments. 
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Liquidity Risks

The Group companies need to have sufficient access to cash to meet their obligations.  
The treasury department manages the raising of current and non-current debt. Centrally  
cash flow forecasting is performed by the operating entities of the Group and aggregated  
and monitored by Group Treasury. 

Credit Risks / Counterparty Risks

Credit risks arise from the possibility that the counter-party to a transaction may be unable  
or unwilling to meet their obligations, causing a financial loss to Siegfried. Trade receivables 
are subject to active risk management focusing on the monitoring and controlling of risks.

The credit risks on other financial assets are limited by the policy of restricting them to 
institutional partners. Where possible, the latter are controlled by an ongoing review of the 
classification of their creditworthiness and the limitation of aggregated individual risks.  
It has also been laid down that no more than 30% of the liquid funds may be deposited 
with a single credit institute. 

Capital Risk

The capital of the Siegfried Group is managed with a view to ensuring the continuation  
of operations, to earning an adequate yield for the shareholders and to optimizing the capital 
structure in order to reduce the cost of capital.

The Siegfried Group monitors its capital structure by reference to the net debt ratio and  
the equity ratio. The net debt ratio is defined as net debt divided by EBITDA. The equity ratio 
is defined as equity divided by total assets.

Derivative Financial Instruments

To manage currency and interest rate exposure, Siegfried may use forward exchange contracts 
as well as interest rate and currency swaps or put options. Derivatives hedging changes in 
value of an existing underlying transaction are recognized applying the same valuation principles 
that are applied to the underlying hedged transaction. A derivative is derecognized as soon  
as it matures (or an early option is exercised) or as soon as, following a sale or default by the 
counterparty, no further claim on future payments exists. 
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Estimates, Assumptions and Accounting Judgments

The compilation of Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER 
requires estimates, assumptions and accounting judgments. The most important forward 
looking assumptions, from which a substantial risk may arise that could lead to a material 
adjustment to assets and liabilities within a year, are outlined on the following page.

Impairment Test of Non-Financial Non-Current Assets
In compliance with the above accounting principles the recoverability of the net assets  
is tested if there is any indication of impairment. The recoverable amount of the cash- 
generating units is calculated using the Discounted Cash Flow method, based on approved 
mid-range plans. These calculations require management to make forward looking 
 assumptions and estimates.

Deferred Tax Assets
At December 31, 2015, Siegfried had available unrecognized tax losses and tax credits of  
CHF 130.1 million. Any substantial change in the financial position of the subsidiaries would 
enable the use of these unrecognized tax assets and capitalization of the corresponding  
tax receivables. Management assesses the capitalization of tax losses and tax credits on  
an annual basis based on the taxable profits expected in the future (see also Note 6).

Environmental Provisions
Provisions relate to obligations to eliminate environmental pollution. Future decontamination 
costs depend on the regulatory status and management decisions on future construction 
projects. Depending on the nature and scope of the construction projects realized, the obliga-
tion to eliminate detrimental effects on the environment is increased or reduced. The 
environmental provision amounting to CHF 36.6 million would as a consequence be higher  
or lower (see also Note 13).
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1. Scope of Consolidation

The consolidation includes the following companies:

Group companies Share capital in LC

Operating

Siegfried AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 20 000 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried (USA), LLC, Pennsville, NJ (USA) 500 000 USD 100.00%

Siegfried International AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 2 000 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried Malta Ltd., Valletta (Malta) 100 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried GmbH, Munich (Germany) 25 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong (China) 1 000 HKD 100.00%

Alliance Medical Products Inc., Irvine, CA (USA) 116 521 USD 100.00%

Siegfried (Nantong) Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd. (China) 346 925 622 CNY 100.00%

Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH, Hameln (Germany) 750 000 EUR 100.00%

Hameln RDS GmbH, Hameln (Germany) 30 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried Evionnaz SA, Evionnaz (Switzerland) 1 000 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegried PharmaChemikalien Minden GmbH, Minden 
(Germany) 50 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried St. Vulbas SAS, Saint Vulbas (France) 15 200 000 EUR 100.00%

Finance and administration

Siegfried Holding AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 8 300 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried Finance AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 14 000 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried Deutschland Holding GmbH,  
Lörrach (Germany) 1 790 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried USA Holding Inc., Pennsville, NJ (USA) 3 000 USD 100.00%

Siegfried Deutschland Real Estate GmbH, Lörrach (Germany) 25 000 EUR 100.00%

Hameln Real Estate GmbH + Co. KG, Hameln (Germany) 25 000 EUR 100.00%

Joint venture

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd.,  
Huangyang, Gansu Province (China) 10 542 708 CNY 49.00%

In the first half of 2015 Penick Corporation was merged with Siegfried USA, LLC.

On September 30, 2015 Siegfried took over BASF’s pharmaceutical supply business with  
the sites Evionnaz (Switzerland), Minden (Germany), and St. Vulbas (France). Siegfried 
Evionnaz SA was newly incorporated and Siegfried PharmaChemikalien Minden GmbH  
and Siegfried St. Vulbas SAS were renamed.
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2. Property, Plant and Equipment

In 1000 CHF Land

Buildings 
and 

leasehold 
improve-

ments

Machinery 
and 

equipment Prepayments
Assets under  
construction Total

Acquisition costs

As of January 1, 2014 6 942 153 918 442 499 5 108 44 307 652 774

Translation differences – 8 3 703 8 819 194 6 418 19 126

Change in scope of consolidation 776 35 034 37 220 10 – 73 040

Additions – 85 2 545 2 88 647 91 279

Disposals – – 3 924 – 4 199 – – 245 – 8 368

Reclassifications – 3 084 22 103 – 3 840 – 21 347 –

As of December 31, 2014 7 710 191 900 508 987 1 474 117 780 827 851

Translation differences – 37 – 3 326 – 3 706 – 76 – 4 281 – 11 426

Change in scope of consolidation 15 796 100 022 468 967 – 12 132 596 917

Additions 337 609 12 915 – 7 74 589 88 443

Disposals – – 5 928 – 35 921 – – – 41 849

Reclassifications – 14 096 24 802 – 1 686 – 37 212 –

As of December 31, 2015 23 806 297 373 976 044 – 295 163 008 1 459 936

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairments

As of January 1, 2014 – 95 607 348 760 – – 444 367

Translation differences – 2 288 6 611 – – 8 899

Change in scope of consolidation – 15 658 28 037 – – 43 695

Depreciation charge – 3 010 20 633 – – 23 643

Disposals – – 3 604 – 4 076 – – – 7 680

As of December 31, 2014 – 112 959 399 965 – – 512 924

Translation differences – – 1 043 – 1 195 – – – 2 238

Change in scope of consolidation – 79 262 405 376 – – 484 638

Depreciation charge – 4 983 27 844 – – 32 827

Disposals – – 4 799 – 33 376 – – – 38 175

As of December 31, 2015 – 191 362 798 614 – – 989 976

Net book value 31.12.2015 23 805 106 011 177 430 – 295 163 008 469 959

Net book value 31.12.2014 7 710 78 941 109 021 1 474 117 780 314 927

Siegfried and the US-American pharmaceutical company Celgene have put their existing  
close cooperation on a firm long-term basis. The agreement, which replaces a cooperation 
agreement signed in 2006, includes the acquisition of a production building in the 
 Pharmapark Siegfried. The sale of property, buildings and fixed assets resulted in a profit  
of CHF 2.0 million, recognized in Other income.
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Additions amounting to CHF 112.3 million (net) recorded in changes in scope of consolidation 
derive solely from the BASF sites acquisition Evionnaz, St. Vulbas and Minden.

At December 31, 2015 Land included CHF 6.4 million (2014: CHF 6.4 million) undeveloped 
property.

As of December 31, 2015, commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment 
amounted to CHF 11.5 million (2014: CHF 13.4 million). 

Borrowing costs of CHF 0.8 million (2014: CHF 0.8 million) in connection with the financing 
of Nantong was capitalized. 

3. Intangible Assets

In 1000 CHF
Licenses, 
patents Client base Software

Land use  
rights Total

Acquisition costs

As of January 1, 2014 9 672 5 881 9 822 4 761 30 136

Translation differences 1 092 650 209 481 2 432

Change in scope of consolidation – 1 385 9 102 1 496

Additions – – 124 – 124

Disposals – – – 73 – – 73

As of December 31, 2014 10 764 7 916 10 091 5 344 34 115

Translation differences – 1 – 140 – 8 – 312 – 461

Change in scope of consolidation 1 588 97 2 258 – 3 943

Additions – – 283 13 296

Disposals – 495 – – 214 – – 709

As of December 31, 2015 11 856 7 873 12 410 5 045 37 184

Accumulated amortization  
and impairments

As of January 1, 2014 5 411 5 425 9 624 111 20 571

Translation differences 643 634 206 18 1 501

Change in scope of consolidation – 1 375 9 97 1 481

Amortization charge 399 434 215 97 1 145

Disposals – – – 72 – – 72

As of December 31, 2014 6 453 7 868 9 982 323 24 626

Translation differences 11 – 138 – 11 – 25 – 163

Change in scope of consolidation – – 1 761 – 1 761

Amortization charge 474 43 233 103 853

Disposals – – – 32 – – 32

As of December 31, 2015 6 938 7 773 11 933 401 27 045

Net book value December 31, 2015 4 918 100 477 4 644 10 139

Net book value December 31, 2014 4 311 48 109 5 021 9 489
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The Goodwill which arose upon the acquisition of Alliance Medical Products Inc. (AMP), 
the Hameln companies and the BASF sites Evionnaz, St. Vulbas and Minden was set off 
against the Consolidated Equity at the date of purchase. If the Goodwill had been capitalized, 
the effect on the financial statements would have been as follows:

In 1000 CHF (for the years ended December 31) 2015 2014

Theoretical Goodwill

As of January 1 98 325 67 846

Additions1 61 685 30 479

As of December 31 160 010 98 325

Accumulated amortization

As of January 1 11 853 7 161

Amortization 7 752 4 692

As of December 31 19 605 11 853

Theoretical Goodwill December 31 140 405 86 471

1  Includes subsequent purchase price adjustments relating to the acquisition Hameln 2014. 

The theoretical useful life applied for straight-line amortization is 15 years as it is regarded  
as a long-term investments for Siegfried. The Goodwill out of this acquisition is translated into 
Swiss francs at the rate prevailing at the date of acquisition. This procedure avoids foreign 
exchange adjustments to the theoretical Goodwill movements.

In 1000 CHF (for the years ended December 31) 2015 2014

Operating result according to Income Statement 43 401 34 005

Amortization of Goodwill – 7 752 – 4 692

Theoretical operating result incl. amortization  
of Goodwill 35 649 29 313

Net profit according to Income Statement 39 100 38 556

Amortization of Goodwill – 7 752 – 4 692

Theoretical net profit incl. amortization of Goodwill 31 348 33 864

4. Investment in Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd. was incorporated during 2007 as a joint venture with  
the Chinese company Gansu Medical Alkaloids, Inc. The impact on the Financial Statements 
is not material. There are no contingent liabilities or payment commitments in connection 
with this joint venture.

The investments in associated companies and joint ventures include no goodwill at the 
reporting date.



Consolidated Financial Statements 
Notes

118 Siegfried Annual Report 2015

5. Financial and Other Non-Current Assets 

Financial assets are classified in the following categories:

In 1000 CHF 2015 2014

Ohter non-current financial assets 80 –

Other non-current assets 3 344 116

Total financial and other non-current assets 3 424 116

The other non-current assets include CHF 3.1 million deposited as a security for bank 
guarantees issued in Germany and France in connection with the acquisition of the BASF 
companies.

6. Income Taxes

In 1000 CHF 2015 2014

Current tax expense 3 153 391

Deferred tax income – 5 202 – 7 161

Total income taxes – 2 049 – 6 770

The effective weighted tax rate 2015 is 29.6% (2014: 17.9%). This would lead to a tax 
expense of CHF 8.7 million (2014. CHF 5.8 million). In 2015 the tax income was CHF 2.0 mil-
lion (2014: 6.8 million) which would be equivalent to a positive tax rate of 5.5% (2014: 
21.3%). The difference between the effective and normalized tax result is based mainly on 
the capitalization of tax loss carry forwards not previously capitalized in the amount of 
CHF 3.3 million (2014: CHF 12.4 million), the use of non-capitalized tax loss carry forwards 
CHF 1.7 million (2014: CHF 3.0 million), the re-assessment of capitalized tax loss carry 
forwards CHF – 0.0 million (2014: CHF – 0.7 million), and the non-capitalization of newly 
incurred loss carry forwards of CHF – 2.4 million (2014: CHF – 2.2 million). The balance 
results from temporary differences between tax and Swiss GAAP values of CHF 8.2 million 
(2014: CHF 0.1 million).

In 1000 CHF December 31, 2014 Change December 31, 2015

Deferred tax assets 22 291 26 577 48 868

Deferred tax liabilities 4 305 1 435 5 740

In 2015 CHF 26.9 million deferred tax assets were recognized, of which CHF 21.1 million as a 
result of acquisitions, and CHF 0.3 million released. Deferred tax liabilities of CHF 4.0 million 
were created, of which CHF 2.2 million as a result of acquisitions, and CHF 2.6 million released.

The Group owns a large amount of tax loss carry forwards. Of these, CHF 62.1 million (2014: 
CHF 64.3 million) were recognized as of December 31, 2015. Siegfried also has tax losses 
available which are not recognized in the amount of CHF 130.1 million (2014: CHF 176.0 mil-
lion). About 41% of these relate to non-operating companies and with high probability  
will not be usable.
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The following unrecognized tax losses are available to Siegfried:

In 1000 CHF 2015 2014

Expiry of unrecognized tax losses and tax credits

Within one year 1 103 31 517

Between one and five years 62 436 52 430

More than five years 66 576 91 987

Total unrecognized tax losses and tax credits 130 115 175 934

7. Inventories

In 1000 CHF 2015 2014

Raw materials 74 233 31 817

Semi-finished goods 63 863 57 753

Finished goods and trading goods 118 827 33 589

Total inventories 256 923 123 159

The valuation allowances for inventory amount to CHF 20.9 million (2014: CHF 13.9 million) 
and are included in the figures above. The increase in inventories results from the acquisition 
of the BASF sites.

8. Trade Receivables

In 1000 CHF 2015 2014

Trade receivables 124 443 68 819

Allowances for doubtful accounts – 464 – 13

Total trade receivables 123 979 68 806

The allowances for doubtful accounts are calculated using the difference between the nominal 
amount of the receivables and the estimated net amount collectible. The net amount 
collectible is estimated on the basis of experience. The increase in trade receivables results 
from the acquisition of the BASF sites.

9. Derivative Financial Instruments

The guidelines on financial risk management are described in the accounting principles. 
Within the framework of these guidelines the Siegfried Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate risks. The contract value provides 
information about the volume of outstanding transactions. At the reporting date foreign 
exchange and interest hedging contracts were open. Foreign currency forward contracts were 
used to hedge net payment flows in the financial year 2015 aggregating USD 17.0 million  
and EUR 7.0 million (2014: USD 33.2 million, EUR 4.6 million and RMB 304.8 million). In order 
to hedge interest risks on loans drawn down interest swaps were concluded with several 
banks in the amount of USD 38.8 million and EUR 36.0 million (2014: USD 55.2 million and 
EUR 45.0 million). The changes in fair value of these foreign exchange contracts are recog-
nized in the financial result and in equity.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

Contract value Positive fair value Negative fair value

In 1000 CHF 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Foreign currency swaps 24 394 87 610 – – 211 158

Interest rate swaps 77 432 108 730 – – 218 195

Total 101 826 196 340 – – 429 353

10. Treasury Shares

Treasury shares are deducted at transaction value directly from equity. At December 31, 2015, 
the book value of the treasury shares was CHF 37.2 million (2014: CHF 19.3 million). The 
inventory of treasury shares increased significantly in 2015 as a result of the backing for the 
private hybrid-convertible bond. The average transaction prices of the purchased and sold 
treasury shares are disclosed in the Notes of the Financial Statements of Siegfried Holding AG 
on page 136.

Treasury shares December 31, 2014 Change December 31, 2015

Total treasury shares 134 239 85 701 219 940

Total Siegfried shares 4 150 000 – 4 150 000

Total outstanding shares 4 015 761 – 85 701 3 930 060

11. Share Capital – Hybrid Capital – Conditional Capital

The share capital of Siegfried Holding AG amounts to CHF 8.3 million (2014: CHF 8.3 million).  
It is divided into 4 150 000 registered shares each with a nominal value of CHF 2  
(2014: 4 150 000 registered shares).

In the financial year 2015 Siegfried Holding AG issued a non-transferable private hybrid 
convertible bond with a nominal amount of CHF 60 million. The hybrid convertible bonds 
are a subordinated bond with a perpetual duration, carrying interest at 2.5%. The hybrid 
convertible bond has a first call date after five years. If it is not exercised, the interest rate 
payable increases (step up). Additionally there exists an optional right of conversion at  
a conversion price mathematically fixed, which can be exercised during the duration. The 
conversion price can change in accordance with the terms of the convertible bond, in 
 particular if the company makes dividend payments. The conversion is assured by treasury 
shares, i.e. without capital increase. A large part is already covered, see Note 10. 

In addition in the financial year Siegfried Holding AG issued a public hybrid bond in the 
amount of CHF 100 million. It is a subordinated bond with a perpetual duration, carrying 
interest at 3.5%. The public hybrid bond has a first call date after five years. If it is not 
exercised, the interest rate payable increases (step up).
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Siegfried Holding AG has at its disposal conditional capital of CHF 420 000 for the creation  
of 210 000 shares to serve the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and other employee benefit 
plans. In 2015 no shares were allocated out of conditional capital.

Conditional capital (number of shares) December 31, 2014 Change December 31, 2015

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 210 000 – 210 000

Total 210 000 – 210 000

12. Financial Liabilities

In July 2015 the existing syndicated credit agreement was substituted early by a new syndi-
cated credit agreement with a credit line of CHF 400 million (old credit line CHF 250 million) 
with a duration of five years (2015–2020). After the successful placing of hybrid bonds the 
credit line decreased to CHF 241.4 million, which can be used to finance working capital. The 
interest is based on the Libor or Euribor rate, plus an interest margin, which is dependent on 
financial consolidated key figures of a maximum debt ratio. The second financial consolidated 
key figure includes a minimum equity financing ratio. The Siegfried Group fulfilled both 
covenants at the year-end. At December 31, 2015 the equivalent of CHF 225 million, including 
USD and EUR, was drawn down (2014: CHF 135.4 million, including USD and EUR).

13. Provisions

In 1000 CHF 
Environmental  

provisions
Other  

provisions Total

As of January 1, 2014 16 224 5 872 22 096

Costs incurred – 2 986 – 1 573 – 4 559

Additions, interest 2 186 792 2 978

Releases of unused provisions – 807 – 2 772 – 3 579

Currency translation 79 5 84

As of December 31, 2014 14 696 2 324 17 020

Thereof current 6 123 1 824 7 947

Thereof non-current 8 573 500 9 073

As of January 1, 2015 14 696 2 324 17 020

Costs incurred – 564 – 806 – 1 370

Additions, interest 431 9 440

Change in scope  
of consolidation 21 934 107 22 041

Releases of unused provisions – – 398 – 398

Currency translation 72 1 73

As of December 31, 2015 36 569 1 237 37 806

Thereof current 9 951 737 10 688

Thereof non-current 26 618 500 27 118
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Environmental provisions: The Siegfried Group produces chemicals at various locations.  
The production process is such that undesirable incidents may also arise, which result in an 
obligation to remedy pollutant effects on the environment. In connection with planned 
construction projects, environmental investi gations were performed. Possible remediation 
obligations of CHF 36.6 million have been provided for (2014: CHF 14.7 million). The 
addition from the change in the scope of consolidation of CHF 21.9 million derives from  
the acquisition of the BASF companies and in part has been deducted from the purchase  
price. The liabilities are recognized in the accounting period, in which the obligation becomes 
evident. A provision is recorded if it is expected that the obligation results in an outflow of 
economic resources in the medium term and if a reasonable estimate of that obligation can 
be made. By their nature the amounts and timing of any out flows are difficult to predict.  
In the reporting period costs for remediation in curred to CHF 0.6 million (2014: 3.0 million). 
The start of the planned construction projects is anticipated within the next 15 years. The 
 environmental provision was discounted with 2% (2014: 2%) to the present value of the 
expected expenditures. The discount amounted to CHF 0.3 million (2014: CHF 1.2 million). 
Management reviews the provisions annually, based on regulatory changes or changes in 
planned investments. 

The other provisions cover costs for extension and demolition work in the amount of 
CHF 0.5 million and for costs incurred in connection with the sale of floors in a building to 
Arena in the amount of CHF 0.6 million. The balance covers other operating liabilities. In  
the year under review in connection with extension and demolition work CHF 0.6 million 
was used as well as CHF 0.2 million for product warranties.

14. Other Non-Current Liabilities

In the prior year other long term non-current liabilities included the earn-out liability, which 
arose in connection with the acquisition of the Hameln companies. It falls due in 2016  
and has therefore been reclassified in 2015 to other current short term liabilities, see Note 16.

15. Accruals

The accrued expenses and deferred income include accruals for personnel costs and social 
security charges as well as various expense and income accruals.

16. Other Current Liabilities

The earn-out related to the acquisition of the Hameln companies due for payment in 2016 
has been reclassified from long term non-current to other current short term liabilities, see 
Note 14. The earn-out liability was reduced in 2015 by CHF 7.7 million.
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17. Employee Benefits and Personnel Expenses

In 1000 CHF 2015 2014

Wages and salaries 149 872 90 819

Share-based payments 2 337 1 683

Pension expense 6 149 6 248

Expenses for other long-term employee benefits 162 190

Social and other personnel expenses 32 660 14 410

Total personnel expenses 191 180 113 350

In the year under review, the average number of employees (in full-time positions) was  
2238 (2014: 1374). The increase is due to the acquisition of the BASF sites as of Septem-
ber 30, 2015.

Pension liabilities and economic benefits are as follows: 

Excess /
insufficient 

cover as  
per FER 26

Economic benefit/ 
obligation for the company

Change vs. 
prior year 

or taken to 
the Income 
Statement  

in the FY Contributions
Pension expenses in  
personnel expenses

In 1000 CHF 31.12.2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 2015 2015 2014

Pension institutions 
with surplus (CH) 36 191 – – 1 – 1 5 832 5 831 5 081

Pension costs (CH) – 273 – 273 – 252 21 2 23 – 127

Pension schemes 
with deficit (D) – 112 082 – 112 082 – – 972 1 093 – 1 185 –

Pension schemes 
with deficit (FR) – 1 795 – 1 795 – 64 0 44 –

Pension schemes 
with deficit (USA) – 494 – 494 – 450 44 1 393 1 436 1 294

Total – 78 453 – 114 644 – 703 – 844 8 320 6 149 6 248

The increase in pension liabilities results from the acquisition of the BASF sites, in particular 
from the pension plan of Siegfried PharmaChemikalien GmbH, Minden.

The employer contribution reserves are as follows: 

Nominal 
value

Waiver of 
usage

Other value 
adjustments

Balance Sheet 
asset

Result from ECR in  
personnel expenses

In 1000 CHF 31.12.2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 2015 2014

Pension schemes 
(CH) 8 763 – – 8 763 8 726 – 37 – 260

Total 8 763 – – 8 763 8 726 – 37 – 260
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18. Share-Based Payments

In 2014 Siegfried introduced a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for members of management. 
The plan participants receive at the beginning of a three-year vesting period a defined number 
of Performance Share Units (PSU). At the end of the three-year vesting period the plan 
participants are allocated, depending on the extent to which they have attained the targets,  
a certain number of shares per PSU acquired. Between 0 and 2 shares can be allocated per 
PSU. The plan defines a target amount for the growth in Total Shareholder Return, compound 
annual growth rate CAGR on total shareholder return (TSR weighting 70%) and two oper-
ating targets (EBITDA and ROCE weighting each 15%). After allocation, the shares are at the 
free disposal of the plan participants and are not subject to a restriction period.

The valuation of the PSU is undertaken at the beginning of the relevant vesting period  
by an external company, which is specialized in the valuation of option and equity plans.  
In 2015 for the LTIP Plan period 2015–2018 an expense of CHF 0.6 million was recognized, 
25 409 PSUs with a fair value of CHF 72.67 per PSU and for the plan period 2014–2017  
an expense of CHF 1.4 million was recognized, 25 076 PSUs with a fair value of CHF 162.99 
per PSU. 

In addition to the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) there exists an equity plan for employees, 
which can not participate to the LTIP (Employee Share Purchase Plan – ESPP). The total 
expense for the ESPP amounted in the reporting year to CHF 0.3 million (2014: CHF 0.3 mil-
lion). In the reporting year 5440 (2014: 2883) shares were acquired under the plan. The  
funds saved in the ESPP by the plan partici pants at December 31, 2015, entitle them to acquire 
1431 shares (2014: 544 shares). 

The employee share purchase plan existing under BASF for the employees of the sites 
Evionnaz, Minden and St. Vulbas was replaced by Siegfried with a share plan limited to ten 
years (2016–2025). In 2015, 2100 shares were allocated out of this share plan, which  
have been taken into account in the purchase price allocation.

19. Other Operating Income

Other operating income includes CHF 0.4 million for environmental damage compensation 
(2014: CHF 0.4 million), CHF 2.0 million gains on sales of fixed assets (2014: CHF 7.1 million), 
deduction of earn-out in connection with the acquisition of Hameln CHF 7.7 Mio. and various 
other income aggregating CHF 2.3 million (2014: CHF 1.0 million). 

20. Financial Result

The financial result comprises of CHF 5.7 million (2014: CHF 3.3 million) financial expenses, of 
which CHF 5.5 million (2014: CHF 2.2 million) for debt interest and fees, CHF 0.3 million  
for the compounding of the enviromental provision (2014: CHF 1.1 million), financial income 
of CHF 0.2 million (2014: CHF 0.2 million), and CHF −0.9 million (2014: CHF 0.9 million)  
from exchange differences. In addition, as a result of the cancellation of the syndicated credit 
in 2015, capitalized financing costs in the amount of CHF 0.7 million were charged against 
the financial result.
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21. Acquisitions

At the end of September 2015 Siegfried acquired BASF’s pharmaceutical supply business and 
the corresponding three sites in Evionnaz (Switzerland), Minden (Germany), and St. Vulbas 
(France). The three sites produce active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediate products 
and, therefore, ideally complement Siegfried Group. The provisional debt-free purchase  
price of approximately EUR 270 million was all paid in cash. The Goodwill resulting from the 
transaction of CHF 68.3 million, which also contains transaction costs in the amount of 
CHF 5.9 million, was set off against equity. As the transaction occurred only three months 
before year-end, the allocation of the purchase price may change in 2016. At the date of  
the takeover the three BASF sites carried the following major Consolidated Balance Sheet 
items (Fair Values):

In 1000 CHF September 30, 2015

Cash 23 021

Inventories 121 570

Other current assets 37 163

Non-current assets 137 745

Total assets 319 499

Current liabilities 51 216

Non-current liabilities 146 533

Equity 121 750

Total liabilities and equity 319 499

22. Earnings per Share

For the calculation of earnings per share, the number of shares has been reduced by the 
weighted average shares held by the Group.

2015 2014

Net profit attributable to Siegfried shareholders  
(in 1000 CHF) 39 100 38 556

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 3 953 505 3 868 382

Non-diluted earnings per share 9.89 9.97

Net profit attributable to Siegfried shareholders  
(in 1000 CHF) 39 100 38 556

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 3 953 505 3 868 382

Adjustment for assumed exercise of share-based payments, 
where dilutive 53 442 18 200

Diluted earnings per share 9.76 9.92

23. Distribution per Share

For the financial year 2015 the Board of Directors proposes the distribution of CHF 1.80 per 
share from the capital contribution reserves (2014: CHF 1.50 per share). If this is  approved by 
the Annual General Meeting on April 15, 2016, it will result in a total payment of CHF 7.0 mil-
lion to the shareholders. The number of shares entitled for distribution may change by the 
time of the Annual General Meeting on April 15, 2016 (see Proposal for the appropriation of 
retained earnings and the distribution from capital contribution reserves in financial state-
ments of Siegfried Holding AG).
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24. Commitments and Contingencies

The operations of the Group companies continue to be exposed to risks from political, legal, 
fiscal and regulatory developments, including those related to environmental protection.  
The nature and frequency of these developments and events, which are not covered by any 
insurance, are not predictable. Possible obligations that are dependent on future events  
are disclosed as contingent liabilities. To secure the liabilities in connection with the new syn- 
dicated credit there is a guarantee in the amount of CHF 265.6 million. On December 31, 
2015, Siegfried Holding AG gave guarantees to banks in the amount of CHF 5.5 million and 
EUR 1.5 million (2014: CHF 5.0 million, USD 4.0 million and EUR 1.5 million).

In 2015 a demand for claims for alleged unpaid work on the construction of the site in 
Nantong was submitted to the Chinese Arbitration Court CIETAC by a construction company. 
Siegfried contests these claims and has in turn submitted a claim on the construction  
firm. The procedure will start only in 2016. Therefore, the outcome is currently open and  
an accurate assessment impossible. 

25. Maturity of Rental and Lease Liabilities
Operating leases Operating leases

In 1000 CHF  2015  2014

Due under 1 year 4 824 4 655

Due between 1 and 5 years 24 256 15 273

Due after 5 years 42 850 14 058

Total lease liabilities 71 930 33 986

Of these liabilities CHF 48.0 million (2014: 17.2 million) relate to the new administration 
buldings in Zofingen, CHF 1.5 million (2014: CHF 2.2 million) to the production facility  
in Malta, CHF 13.5 million (2014: CHF 0.0 million) to the production facility in Minden and 
CHF 4.7 million (2014: CHF 5.6 million) to the production site in Irvine.

26. Transactions with Related Parties

The companies owned by Siegfried are listed in Note 1 “Scope of consolidation“. In 2015  
no transactions with related parties took place (2014: CHF 0 million) and at the reporting date 
there were no receivables from or payables to related parties (2014: CHF 0 million). All 
transactions between fully consolidated companies have been eliminated in the consolidation 
process and are not disclosed in this note.

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
is described and presented in detail in the Remuneration Report in sections 4 and 5.
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27. Net Sales

The Siegfried Group consists of one segment. The decision makers measure the performance 
of the Group using fully consolidated results of the reportable Segment Siegfried Group. 

Net Sales to Third Parties

In CHF million  2015  2014

Sales of products 472.6 307.4

Services 8.0 7.9

Total net sales 480.6 315.3

Net Sales by Product Group

In CHF million  2015  2014

Drug Substances 333.2 234.5

Drug Products 147.4 80.8

Total 480.6 315.3

Geographic Information 1

The most important markets are Western Europe and the USA. 

In CHF million  2015  2014

USA 153.7 138.6

Switzerland 94.5 48.0

Europe (without Switzerland) 214.7 121.7

Other regions 17.7 7.0

Total 480.6 315.3

1  by location of customers.

28. Segment Reporting

The Siegfried Group consists of one «reportable segment». Financial information is regularly 
reported to the Board of Directors at the level of the Siegfried Group as a whole. Based on 
this financial information the Siegfried Group is managed and their performance is measured.

The Siegfried Group provides its customers with comprehensive and integrated solutions  
for services in the development and production of active pharmaceutical ingredients, 
 intermediates, complex dosage forms and products from its own portfolio. In principle the 
companies in the Siegfried Group provide all the services mentioned above.

29. Events after the Reporting Period 

There are no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor 
to the General Meeting of Siegfried Holding AG, Zofingen

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Siegfried 
Holding AG, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, 
statement of changes in equity and notes (pages 97 to 127), for the year ended December 31, 
2015. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of  
Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an Internal 
Control System relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board 
of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies  
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts  
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement  
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers the Internal Control System relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s Internal Control System. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation  
of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.



129Siegfried Annual Report 2015

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 
give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows 
in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law.

Report on Other Legal Requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor 
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there 
are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890,  
we confirm that an Internal Control ystem exists which has been designed for the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Gerd Tritschler Andreas Kägi 
Audit expert Audit expert 
Auditor in charge

Basel, March 8, 2016
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In CHF (as of December 31) 2015 2014

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 911 482 17 218 437

Securities 10 006 –

Other current receivables due from third parties 6 269 5 641

Other current receivables due from Group companies 3 858 140 2 188 378

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 8 856 572 1 034 949

Total current assets 17 642 469 20 447 405

Non-current assets

Loans to Group companies 463 934 393 344 128 203

Investments 209 631 976 165 553 976

Property, plant and equipment 606 854

Intangible assets 1 544 2 574

Total non-current assets 673 568 519 509 685 607

Total assets 691 210 988 530 133 012

In CHF 2015 2014

Liabilities and shareholders‘ equity

Current liabilities

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities third parties – 11 864 000

Short-term liabilities due from Group companies 20 248 127 19 955 735

Other short-term liabilities due from third parties 289 283 393 057

Accrued expenses and deferred income 2 436 729 4 265 647

Total short-term liabilities 22 974 139 36 478 439

Non-current liabilities

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities third parties 69 487 000 38 559 700

Hybrid capital 160 000 000 –

Total long-term liabilities 229 487 000 38 559 700

Total liabilities 254 174 379 75 038 139

Shareholders' equity

Share capital 8 300 000 8 300 000

Legal reserves 2 800 000 2 800 000

Reserves from capital contribution 104 267 413 110 252 410

Free reserves 351 927 890 340 584 544

Treasury shares – 37 186 475 – 19 214 596

Statutory retained earnings 8 641 021 12 372 514

Total shareholders‘ equity 438 749 849 455 094 872

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 691 210 988 530 133 012

Balance Sheet  
of Siegfried Holding AG
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In CHF 2015 2014

Income

Financial income 34 857 046 14 845 099

Service income 9 610 169 8 385 709

Non-recurring income – 3 708 812

Total income 44 467 215 26 939 620

Expenses

Personnel expense 149 590 1 276 561

Administrative expense 8 392 450 2 192 780

Financial expense 27 207 570 11 029 788

Taxes 75 306 65 900

Depreciation on non-current assets 1 278 2 077

Total expenses 35 826 194 14 567 106

Net profit 8 641 021 12 372 514

Income Statement  
of Siegfried Holding AG
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General Information

Siegfried Holding AG holds directly or indirectly all subsidiaries of the Siegfried Group.  
The Financial Statements of Siegfried Holding AG are prepared in accordance with Swiss  
Code of Obligations. These financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with  
the provisions governing commercial accounting of the Swiss Code of Obligations 
(Art. 957– 963b OR, applicable from January 1, 2013). 

The number of full-time equivalent employees is not on average above ten.

Guarantees and Securities

As security for the liabilities in connection with the new syndicated loan there is a guaran-
tee in the amount of CHF 265.6 million. At December 31, 2015 further guarantees had  
been given by Siegfried Holding AG in favor of banks in the amount of CHF 5.5 million  
and EUR 1.5 million (2014: CHF 5.0 million., USD 4.0 million and EUR 1.5 million).

Notes to the Financial Statements  
of Siegfried Holding AG
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Balance Sheet

Investments

As of December 31, 2015, Siegfried Holding AG holds the following investments,  
direct or indirect:

Group companies in LC Participation
Share capital 

2015
Share capital 

2014

Operating

Siegfried AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) CHF 100.00% 20 000 000 20 000 000

Siegfried (USA), LLC, Pennsville, NJ (USA) USD 100.00% 500 000 500 000

Siegfried International AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) CHF 100.00% 2 000 000 2 000 000

Siegfried Malta Ltd., Valletta (Malta) EUR 100.00% 100 000 100 000

Siegfried GmbH, Munich (Germany) EUR 100.00% 25 000 25 000

Siegfried Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong (China) HKD 100.00% 1 000 1 000

Alliance Medical Products Inc., Irvine, CA (USA) USD 100.00% 116 521 116 521

Siegfried (Nantong) Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd. (China) CNY 100.00% 346 925 622 346 925 622

Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH, Hameln (Germany) EUR 100.00% 750 000 750 000

Hameln RDS GmbH, Hameln (Germany) EUR 100.00% 30 000 30 000

Siegfried Evionnaz SA, Evionnaz (Switzerland) CHF 100.00% 1 000 000 –

Siegried PharmaChemikalien Minden GmbH, Minden 
(Germany) EUR 100.00% 50 000 –

Siegfried St. Vulbas SAS, Saint Vulbas (France) EUR 100.00% 15 200 000 –

Finance and administration

Siegfried Finance AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) CHF 100.00% 14 000 000 14 000 000

Siegfried Deutschland Holding GmbH, Lörrach  
(Germany) EUR 100.00% 1 790 000 1 790 000

Siegfried USA Holding Inc., Pennsville, NJ (USA)  USD 100.00% 3 000 3 000

Siegfried Deutschland Real Estate GmbH, Lörrach 
(Germany) EUR 100.00% 25 000 25 000

Hameln Real Estate GmbH + Co. KG, Hameln (Germany) EUR 100.00% 25 000 25 000

Joint venture

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd.,  
Huangyang, Gansu Province (China) CNY 49.00% 10 542 708 10 542 708

Non-Current Assets

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates include those companies in which Siegfried Hold-
ing AG has an interest of more than 20%. The investments are valued at acquisition cost less 
valuation allowances. The long-term loans to affiliates are used for the financing of capital 
expenditures and other operational activities. The loans increased in 2015 by CHF 163.9 mil-
lion due to high acquisition – and investment activities. The intangible assets include capi-
talized software.
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Current Assets

Liquid funds are valued at the rate prevailing on the reporting date. Accrued income and 
prepaid expenses are recognized at nominal amount and include for the most part payments 
made for the following year and accruals of receipts, which will not be collected until the 
following year, and include mostly accruals for trademark royalties.

Shareholders’ Equity

The share capital is divided into 4 150 000 registered shares, with a nominal value of CHF 2 
each. The legal reserves are unchanged and amount to CHF 2.8 million In addition there is  
a reserve from capital contribution of CHF 104.3 million (2014: CHF 110.3 million). The treasury 
shares are shown as a negative balance in equity. 

Conditional Capital 

The conditional capital to serve the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and other management 
plans remains unchanged at CHF 420 000 for 210 000 shares. 

Treasury Shares

In the reporting year Siegfried Holding AG has made purchases and sales of Siegfried shares. 
On balance, the inventory fell by 85 701 shares. The inventory of treasury shares increased 
significantly as a result of the backing for the private hybrid-convertible bond. The shares are 
valued at the average rate.

CHF Number of shares Average prices

At January 1, 2014 262 249 127.4

Purchases Jan. –  Dec. 2014 145 185 156.5

Sales Jan. –  Dec. 2014 – 273 195 151.3

At December 31, 2014 134 239 143.3

Purchases Jan. –  Dec. 2015 255 355 150.3

Sales Jan. –  Dec. 2015 – 169 654 167.8

At December 31, 2015 219 940 169.1
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Liabilities

In July 2015 the existing syndicated credit agreement was prematurely superseded by a new 
syndicated credit agreement covering a credit line of CHF 400.0 million (old credit line 
CHF 250.0 million) with a duration of five years (2015−2020). The net proceeds from the issue 
of two hybrid bonds were repaid to the credit line and reduced it to CHF 241.4 million. At 
December 31, 2015 the syndicated loan was drawn down in the equivalent of CHF 225.0 mil-
lion, including USD and EUR. At the reporting date Siegfried Holding had drawn down  
loans in the amount of CHF 69.5 million, of which CHF 25.0 million and USD 45.0 million 
(2014: CHF 100.8 million, of which CHF 50.4 million and USD 51.0 million). 

The two hybrid bonds are a hybrid convertible bond in the amount of CHF 60 million privately 
placed on September 29, 2015, and a hybrid bond in the amount of CHF 100 million publicly 
placed on October 26, 2015. Both hybrid bonds are subordinated bonds with an indeterminate 
duration. The hybrid bonds have a first call date after five years. If this is not exercised, the 
result is a higher rate of interest payable (step up).

Accrued expenses and deferred income include the deferrals and accruals of various income 
and expense items mainly unrealized exchange profits.

Income Statement

In the reporting year and in the prior year no dividend distributions were received from 
subsidiary companies. Financial income includes interest income on receivables from  
group companies, exchange gains and income from securities. The proceeds of charging 
services to group companies are reported in service income. 

Financial expense includes interest on loans from third parties and Group companies as  
well as exchange losses.

Loans and Share Ownership of the Board of Directors  
and the Executive Management

Loans to Members of Executive Bodies

The members of the Board of Directors or of the Executive Management and persons  
closely related to them are, or were, in the current or preceding financial year not involved  
in transactions beyond the normal business activity of Siegfried Holding AG or of one  
of its Group companies or in other transactions that in form or substance were unusual,  
but important for Siegfried Holding AG.

At December 31, 2015, Siegfried Holding AG and its group companies have not granted  
any securities, loans, advances or credits to the members of the Board of Directors or the 
Executive Management or to persons closely related to them.
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Share Ownership of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management

In 2015, 3000 shares with a value of CHF 0.5 million were distributed to the members of the 
Board of Directors. On December 31, 2015, the non-executive members of the Board of 
Directors and persons closely related to them owned 38 269 (2014: 45 309) registered shares 
of Siegfried Holding AG. This represents 0.9% (2014: 1.1%) of the entire share capital of 
Siegfried Holding AG. The members of the Executive Management (including persons closely 
related to them) owned at the same date 156 899 (2014: 209 869) registered shares, i.e. 
3.8% (2014: 5.1%) of the share capital of Siegfried Holding AG.

December 31, 2015

Board of Directors Function
Number 

of shares
of which 
blocked

Andreas Casutt Chairman 16 500 7 975

Thomas Villiger Vice-Chairman 5 735 4 117

Colin Bond Member 1 500 1 500

Wolfram Carius Member 1 000 1 000

Reto Garzetti Member 13 534 5 642

Executive Management

Rudolf Hanko CEO 70 000 31 344

Michael Hüsler CFO 16 002 15 512

René Imwinkelried Head Research & Development 11 622 6 824

Walter Kittl Head Technical Operations 14 054 11 854

Arnoud Middel Head Human Resources 6 425 6 418

Marianne Späne Head Business Development & Sales 25 180 17 145

Wolfgang Wienand Head Strategy and M &A 13 616 12 905

December 31, 2014

Board of Directors Function
Number  

of shares
of which  
blocked

Andreas Casutt Chairman 15 500 12 450

Felix K. Meyer Vice-Chairman 10 040 10 040

Reto Garzetti Member 13 034 13 034

Colin Bond Member 1 000 1 000

Thomas Villiger Member 5 235 5 235

Wolfram Carius Member 500 500

Executive Management

Rudolf Hanko CEO 70 745 60 427

Michael Hüsler CFO 30 002 30 002

René Imwinkelried Head Research & Development 11 047 9 447

Walter Kittl Head Technical Operations 24 054 23 951

Arnoud Middel Head Human Resources 12 625 12 625

Marianne Späne Head Business Development & Sales 34 680 32 799

Wolfgang Wienand Head Strategy and M &A 26 716 24 816
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Major Shareholders

Shareholders representing more than 3.0% relating to the number of Siegfried shares at year 
end of 4 150 000 (2014: 4 150 000):

—  According to its own statement, Tweedy, Browne Company LLC, New York, USA, holds  
an interest of 9.0% of the shares of Siegfried Holding AG (2014: 9.0%).

—  Rainer-Marc Frey holds 8.7% (2014: 8.7%) of the shares in Siegfried Holding AG. 
—  According to their own statement, the Kreissparkasse Biberach, Biberach, Germany  

(Bayerninvest Kapitalgesellschaft mbH, München and LBBW Asset Management Invest-
ment GmbH, Stuttgart) holds 3.3% (2014: 3.3%) of the shares in Siegfried Holding AG.

—  EOP Participants (blocked until 2016) 4.8% (2014: 4.8%)

Events after the Reporting Period

There are no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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In CHF 2015

Profit for the year 8 641 021

Balance brought forward –

Statutory retained earnings 8 641 021

Appropriation of retained earnings to free reserves 8 641 021

Balance to be carried forward –

Reserves from capital contribution as of December 31, 2014 110 252 410

Distribution in 2015 – 5 984 997

Total reserves from capital contribution as of December 31, 2015 104 267 413

Distribution of CHF 1.80 per registered share  
on 3 886 667 distribution-entitled shares – 6 996 001

Resrves from capital contribution carried forward 97 271 412

The total amount of distribution mentioned in the proposal of the Board of Directors has 
been calculated on the basis of number of shares entitled for distribution on the day of the 
approval of the Board of Directors meeting. The number of shares entitled for distribution  
can still change up to the Annual General Meeting on April 15, 2016.

Proposal of the Board of Directors 
to the Annual General Meeting  
of April 15, 2016, regarding Appro-
priation of the Retained Earnings 
and the  Distri bution from Reserves 
from Capital  Contribution
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Siegfried Holding AG,  
which comprise the balance sheet, income statement and notes (pages 132 to 139),  
for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an Internal Control 
System relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material mis- 
 statement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible  
for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the Internal Control System relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,  
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s Internal 
Control System. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Report of the Statutory Auditor 
to the General Meeting of Siegfried Holding AG, Zofingen
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 comply  
with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

Report on Other Legal Requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor 
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there 
are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890,  
we confirm that an Internal Control System exists which has been designed for the preparation 
of financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings and capital 
contribution reserves comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.  
We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Gerd Tritschler Andreas Kägi 
Audit expert Audit expert 
Auditor in charge

Basel, March 8, 2016
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2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net sales CHF million 480.6 315.3 374.9 367.8 328.1

Growth in % 52.4 – 15.9 2.0 12.1 4.4

EBITDA CHF million 77.1 58.8 65.6 45.4 36.5

Growth in % 31.1 – 10.4 44.7 24.1 30.1

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 18.6 17.5 12.3 11.1

Operating profit (EBIT) CHF million 43.4 34.0 40.8 17.9 12.5

Growth in % 27.6 – 16.7 127.9 43.5 n/a

Operating margin in % 9.0 10.8 10.9 4.9 3.8

Annual result CHF million 39.1 38.6 53.9 20.9 9.7

Net profit margin in % 8.1 12.2 14.4 5.7 3.0

Net cash / (net debt) CHF million – 177.3 – 85.2 50.4 25.8 52.6

Net Working Capital1 CHF million 314.2 147.9 130.1 137.0 122.2

As % of net sales 40.5 41.6 34.7 37.3 37.2

Total assets CHF million 1 003.9 629.6 537.8 477.4 430.6

Equity CHF million 492.7 382.8 362.4 316.3 353.5

Equity ratio in % 49.1 60.8 67.4 66.3 82.1

Market capitalization2 769.0 650.0 572.0 435.0 329.0

Average capital employed3 CHF million 562.0 384.7 331.5 327.8 301.4

Return on capital employed (average) ROCE4 in % 13.7 15.3 19.8 13.8 12.1

Cash flow from operating activities CHF million 23.1 24.6 67.5 54.3 29.4

As % of net sales 4.8 7.8 18.0 14.8 8.9

Free cash flow CHF million – 66.3 – 57.3 23.5 38.4 27.7

As % of net sales – 13.8 – 18.2 6.3 10.5 8.4

Investments in PPE and intangible assets CHF million 95.0 82.0 51.9 22.8 13.5

As % of net sales 19.8 26.0 13.8 6.2 4.1

Depreciation and amortization/impairment CHF million 33.7 24.8 24.8 27.4 24.1

As % of net sales 7.0 7.9 6.6 7.5 7.3

Employees (number of FTEs)5 Number 2 238 1 374 917 832 715

Change vs. previous year in % 62.9 49.8 10.2 16.4 2.7

Sales per employee CHF 291 600 316 500 408 877 442 012 458 874

Change vs. previous year in % – 7.9 – 22.6 – 7.5 – 3.7 1.6

1  Calculation of net working capital: Trade Receivables + Inventories – Trade Payables – Customer Prepayments.
2  Calculated on the weighted average number of shares outstanding, deducting treasury shares.
3  Calculation of capital employed: PPE + Intangible Assets + Net Working Capital.
4  Calculation ROCE: EBITDA  in relation to average capital employed over twelve months.
5  Year-end values.

Key Figures Overview 2011– 2015
 Consolidated Figures
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Siegfried    

  

SPI

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
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2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Registered shares nom. CHF 2 4 150 000 4 150 000 3 800 000 3 800 000 3 800 000

Share capital CHF million 8.3 8.3 7.6 7.6 7.6

Gross dividend per registered share1 CHF 1.80 1.50 1.50 1.20 1.00

Total dividend paid CHF 7 470 000 6 225 000 5 700 000 4 560 000 3 800 000

Market prices registered share high CHF 206.2 171.0 163.5 122.0 110.0

low CHF 139.5 139.0 109.3 83.7 80.0

Year-end CHF 195.7 162.0 161.6 114.3 89.8

Dividend yield per registered share2 % 0.9 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.3

Earnings per share – EPS – non-diluted3 CHF 9.89 9.97 15.07 5.76 2.61

Earnings per share – EPS –  diluted4 9.76 9.92 13.73 5.55 2.55

Consolidated operating cash flow  
per registered share3 CHF 5.8 8.6 19.0 15.0 8.0

Consolidated equity and reserves  
per registered share3 CHF 124.6 99.0 101.5 87.3 96.3

P/E ratio (year-end)2 20 16 12 21 35

Market capitalization at year-end3 CHF million 769 650 572 435 329

1  For 2015 proposal to the General Meeting.
2  Calculated on the basis of year-end share price and diluted EPS.
3  Calculated on the weighted average number of shares outstanding, deducting treasury shares.
4  Adjustment for assumed exercise of share-based payments, where dilutive.

Siegfried shares are traded on the SIX Swiss stock exchange:

Valor 1 428 449

ISIN CH 0014 284 498

Stock symbols
Reuters 
Telekurs

SFFZn 
SFZN

Share price development from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2015

Stock Market Data
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As of December 31, 2015, 2738 shareholders were registered in the share registry of  
Siegfried Holding AG, representing a shareholding of 68.35% of the total share capital.  
The distribution of the shares among the shareholders was as follows:

Distribution of shares as of December 31, 2015 Shareholders
Shares per 

category %

1 – 10 342 1 926 0.05

11 – 100 1 201 63 509 1.53

101 – 1000 972 314 825 7.59

1 001 – 10 000 173 536 165 12.92

10 001 – 100 000 45 990 734 23.87

100 001 – 1 000 000 51 929 553 22.40

2 738 2 836 712 68.35

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a 1 313 288 31.65

Total shares 4 150 000 100.00

Shareholdings by segment as of December 31, 2015, was as follows:

Holdings by segment as of December 31, 2015 Shareholders
Shares per 

category %

Key shareholders (>3%) 32 711 945 17.16

Individuals 2 503 1 047 531 25.24

Institutional investors 232 1 077 236 25.96

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a. 1 313 288 31.65

n. a. 4 150 000 100.00

1  Including one custodian holding over 3% of the share capital for the account of third parties that has been registered as nominee. 
2 Without EOP participants and own shares.

Shareholder Base
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The Siegfried Group is committed to an open and consistent information policy.  
The media, financial analysts and other interest groups are continuously informed about 
important developments and events. 

Shareholders are informed semi-annually on the state of the business and receive the 
annual report and the semi-annual report upon request. The annual report, minutes  
of the previous General Meeting, media releases, important information and the current 
share price can be found at www.siegfried.ch. A news conference is held annually for  
the media and financial analysts.

Siegfried Holding strictly observes the mandatory disclosure policies of the SIX Swiss 
 Exchange (ad hoc notification) regarding events that could affect the stock price.

Publications

Calendar

In 2016, the company will inform  
about the course of business as follows:

March 22, 2016: 
Publication of results for the 2015 business  
year at a media and analyst conference in Zurich

April 15, 2016: 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

August 23, 2016: 
Publication of 2016 half-year financial results
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This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements identified by words such as 
“believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “projects”, “intends”, “should”, “seeks”, “estimates”, 
“future” or similar expressions or by discussion of, among other things, strategy, goals, plans 
or intentions. Various factors may cause actual results to differ materially in the future from 
those reflected in forwardlooking statements contained in this Annual Report, among others: 
(1) pricing and product initiatives of competitors; (2) legislative and regulatory developments 
and economic conditions; (3) delay or inability in obtaining regulatory approvals or bringing 
products to market; (4) fluctuations in currency exchange rates and general financial market 
conditions; (5) uncertainties in the discovery, development or marketing of new products or 
new uses of existing products, including without limitation negative results of clinical trials  
or research projects, unexpected side-effects of pipeline or marketed products; (6) increased 
government pricing pressures; (7) interruptions in production; (8) loss of or inability to  
obtain adequate protection for intellectual property rights; (9) litigation; (10) loss of key execu- 
tives or other employees; and (11) adverse publicity and news coverage.

The statement regarding earnings per share growth is not a profit forecast and should  
not be interpreted to mean that Siegfried’s earnings or earnings per share for 2016 or any 
subsequent period will necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings or 
earnings per share of Siegfried.

Cautionary Statement regarding 
 Forward-Looking Statements
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Pennsville
USA

Irvine
USA

Nantong

Zofingen

Saint-Vulbas

Evionnaz

Germany
Minden

France
China

Switzerland Switzerland

Hameln
Germany

Hal Far
Malta

Siegfried, headquartered in Zofingen (Switzerland), 
operates worldwide at nine locations in six countries 
on three  continents. The production facilities  
are located in Switzerland, the USA, Malta, China, 
Germany and France.

Siegfried Worldwide
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Contact 
Siegfried Worldwide

Siegfried AG Head Office 

Untere Bruehlstrasse 4
4800 Zofingen
Switzerland

Siegfried Evionnaz SA
Route du Simplon 1,36
1902 Evionnaz
Switzerland

Siegfried (Nantong) 
Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd.
No. 5, Tongshun Road, NETDA
Nantong City, Jiangsu Province
P.R.C (post code: 226017)
China

Siegfried Malta Ltd 
HHF070 Hal Far Industrial Estate 
Hal Far BBG 3000
Malta

Siegfried USA, LLC
33 Industrial Park Road
Pennsville, NJ 08070 
USA

Siegfried Irvine
9342 Jeronimo Road
Irvine, CA 92618
USA

Siegfried Hameln
Langes Feld 13
31789 Hameln
Germany

Siegfried PharmaChemikalien 
Minden GmbH
Karlstrasse 15 
32423 Minden
Germany

Siegfried St. Vulbas SAS
Parc Industriel de la Plaine de l‘Ain 
530 Allée de la Luye
01150 Saint Vulbas
France



neutral
Printed Matter

No. 01-16-807758 – www.myclimate.org
© myclimate – The Climate Protection Partnership

PERFORMANCE

Publisher’s Note

This Annual Report is also available  
in German, being the original version.

Annual General Meeting of Shareholder: 
Friday, April 15th, 2016, 10 a.m.,  
Stadtsaal, Zofingen

Editor:  
Peter A. Gehler, Christa Brügger, 
Nathalie Häfliger

Concept, layout, realization:  
Hej GmbH, Zurich

Photography: 
Raffael Waldner, Bern 
Portraits: Markus Senn, Horgen 

Lithography: 
Roger Bahcic, Zurich / Cernobbio

Publishing system: 
ns.publish by Multimedia Solutions AG

Realisation and Prepress:  
Neidhart + Schön AG, Zurich

Print: 
SuterKeller Druck AG, Zofingen

Siegfried Holding AG 
Untere Bruehlstrasse 4 
CH-4800 Zofingen 
Switzerland 
Phone + 41 62 746 11 11 
Fax + 41 62 746 11 02 
 
www.siegfried.ch



Mit besten Grüssen 
Best wishes 
Avec nos meilleures salutations 
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